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Financial performance B#&R

REVENUE AND PROFIT

REVENUE BY APPLICATION SCENARIOS

REVENUE BY PRODUCT CATEGORIES

RN R BRERZREZEMIA kbl Db NI N
Unit: RMB Million Unit: RMB Thousand Unit: RMB Thousand
By \R% B8R B AR¥ Fr B ARY Fr
FY 2021 FY 2022 . ek
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Core competence % OEE N

Data collection network EiRiREHE

Partnering Pharmacies and Participant Networks
BIERERSEERE

(FY 2021 vs FY 2022)

14.3%

1,072 —* 1,225

Number of Partnering Pharmacies
BIFRERE

37.2%

52,882 * 72,535
Number of Stores Covered by
Partnering Pharmacies
SEREESEFSHE

FERSICENERRANRERTAY (FA)

10.4%
173 - 191

35.5%

201,840 —* 273,533

Number of Pharmacy Consumers Managed by
Pharmacies through SIC (‘000)
REBBSICEENREHEEAM (FA)

Number of Pharmacy Staff Using
SIC Mobile App (‘000)

Data collection network covers more than 72,000 pharmacy stores spanning 299 cities in 29 provinces, of which 80% can assess data in real time and more than 80% of the order-related data can be obtained instantly
yrreesEERErEyea/ 2 BR, 56298929 Vs, ansenusrsstd0%, msaxrasssad0%

The storage capacity of the database has exceeded 30TB, representing an increase
of nearly 50% year-on-year as compared with 2021

sangrrsacea’0TB, AronFess50%

More than 4 billion pieces of data on aggregate were collected in 2022,
representing an increase of approximately 48% year-on-year as compared with 2021

2022 semenmeald 05s, wonsrwssnd 8%

Big data processing technology X5 B % #7

Ecological industrial platform £EUNEEXFE

Machine cleaning rate

HESE TR BiB97%

Data cleaning accuracy

s o o,
s RS 2iB99%

Based on data scale, data processing and analysis insight ability and artificial
intelligence analysis model, it was selected into the list of Big data artificial
intelligence Enterprise Database in Guangzhou and the most promising artificial
intelligence enterprises in Guangzhou.

ERYBERE, SBEESTERENRATIERZONRE, NEEMNDABBATLEE
¥E, BENREERENALSHEEREE

After being held for 15 years, CPEO had connected up to about 60,000 key industry
decision makers in a single conference.
ER5F, ALEERSSEEN0E SELRRRES

In various professional healthcare sectors connection platform: PHCF, MASC, the
Pharmaceutical Innovation Ecological Conference, the Healthcare Industry Capital
Summit, the Whole Life-cycle Health Security Roundtable Forum, the Healthcare
Industry New Marketing Summit, etc.

MOBXBRREETE: BRG, XVEG, BEANEEAS. RREXEAES, 246
BRERREERRE. RREXNEHESTEXEXTH,

The media platform we created has reached nearly a million practitioners in the
healthcare Industry.
wTs mzpREgaxsiEs.

Talent team and Data security

Professional talent reserve: 103 medical professionals, 96 pharmaceutical professionals
and 159 computer science professionals.

Research and development personnel: 248, accounting for 36%

A s BeexAr103s. Baex r96sptannaszir]594,
waAg: 2485, 15tt36%.

Obtain ISO certification for information technology, information security and Privacy information
BREREEN. EREEREAMERISORE

A number of information systems have passed the national information security level protection
(Level 3) assessment and record
ZECEERERBRERERRLSHRE (ZR) MAFNER



The following is a summary of the Group’s published results and assets and
liabilities for the past four financial years. The financial information for the year
ended 31 December 2022 is extracted from the consolidated financial statements
of this annual report, and the financial information for the years ended 31
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Financial Summary
HBRE

December 2019, 2020 and 2021 is extracted from the Prospectus.

UWTAAEEBENETREFENE AMEEREE
REBHE - HE202F12A3BILFENTHER
FERNERNERSTHKEE - BZ2019F + 20205 -
R2021F12 A3V A ILFENHBEM BB BRER

Year ended 31 December
HZ12A31HILEE

2022 2021 2020 2019
2022 20214 20204 20194F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETRT ARETT AR®ETT

Revenue WA 356,668 324,166 202,073 177,750
Cost of Sales 5 BCAR (197,560) (131,527) (71,867) (71,654)
Gross Profit EH 159,108 192,639 130,206 106,096
Profit for the Year FERER 54,213 71,978 65,329 54,379
Profit Attributable to Owners of SRR E ARG T

the Parent 55,758 78,813 67,926 56,089
Non-Current Assets ERBEE 94,285 16,609 35,046 17,389
Current Assets mEEE 702,188 500,414 507,161 423,462
Current Liabilities wREAE 97,789 96,138 55,282 37,596
Net Current Assets MEEEFE 604,399 404,276 451,879 385,866
Non-Current Liabilities ERBAE 5,448 4,974 22,300 7,329
Total Equity RSB 693,236 415,911 464,625 395,926
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Dear Shareholders:

In 2022, Sinohealth Holdings was successfully listed on the main board
of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, entering a new stage of capital-driven
development. In the past year, the healthcare industry was full of challenges
and opportunities. The Group builds on its past achievements to unremittingly
forge ahead, and devotes itself to the research and development of big data,
cloud computing and artificial intelligence adhering to the business philosophy
of “customer-oriented, technology-based and entrepreneurial spirit” to promote
the efficiency enhancement of the healthcare industry. So far, the Group’s
business has covered various fields such as the pharmaceutical industry, retail
pharmacies, physical examination and hospitals. Of the above segments, the
business lines involving pharmaceutical industry and retail pharmacies have
already established a leading position in China’s healthcare industry and are
under further development in terms of business scale; the profit model of the
physical examination business has been verified and has entered a stage of rapid
development; while the technical capabilities of the hospital business have been
validated and it has begun to enter a profitable trial operation stage. On behalf
of the Board and the Group, | would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to all
Shareholders and members of the community for their eager attention and strong
support to us.

In order to meet the people’s growing needs for a better life and realize the high-
quality development of the healthcare industry, China’s healthcare industry has
ushered in a key transformation era of digitalisation and intelligence. At CPEO
held in 2022, we put forward our study results on the industry titled “Creating
Common Interests for the Value of Patients — Dual Development Drives New
Growth of the Healthcare Industry”, emphasising that creating common interests
for the value of patients is an important foundation for the healthy development of
the healthcare industry. The dual organic combination of the standard market and
the non-standard market constitutes a closed-loop life-cycle health management
system. In the aspect of the supply of products and services, the system
integrates the elements of “prevention, treatment, maintenance, body and mind”,
S0 as to provide patients with multi-level health products and services. Only this
way can we create a new engine for industrial growth in the process of meeting
market demand.
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As a big data leader in China’s healthcare industry, we have reexamined our
roles and missions and upgraded our strategic business layout. Aiming to build a
first class cloud platform in China’s healthcare industry, we have established our
six vertical cloud business segments, namely Smart Retail Cloud, Smart Decision
Cloud, Smart Health Management Cloud, Smart Medical Cloud, Smart Clinic Cloud
and Smart Insurance Cloud, with a view to establishing a closed loop system of a
massive healthcare business focusing on patients. The Group will always adhere
to the corporate mission of “developing smart healthcare industry and promoting
smart healthy life”, with a focus on improving the three core competitiveness of
data collection system, big data processing technology and healthcare industry
ecology platform, striving to become the engine of the digital transformation of
the healthcare industry.

By the end of 2022, the number of our partnering pharmacies reached 1,225,
representing a year-on-year increase of 14.3% as compared with 2021. The
total number of stores covered by partnering pharmacies exceeded 72,000,
representing an increase of 37.2% as compared with 2021, which covered
299 cities in 29 provinces, accounting for approximately 12% of the total
number of pharmacy stores in China. After obtaining proper licences, hospitals
and physical examination institutions have implemented in-depth governance
of their accumulated physical examination data through the installation of our
Woodpecker AI-MDT clinical level health management platform. Besides, a
number of well-known tertiary hospitals in China can also implement in-depth
governance of their accumulated whole process medical data by installing our
Woodpecker Smart Medical Cloud. We have established 38 master databases
of healthcare industry covering data relating to industry regulation, medicine,
pharmacy and life sciences, thus building a comprehensive master data labeling
system and forming data mapping and knowledge graphs. As at 31 December
2022, the storage capacity of the Group’s own database has exceeded 30TB,
representing an increase of nearly 50% year-on-year as compared with 2021.
More than 4 billion pieces of data on aggregate were collected in 2022,
representing an increase of approximately 48% year-on-year as compared with
2021. As the medical data and physical examination data authorised to be
managed by the Group have begun to take shape, it has laid a solid foundation
for the establishment of a closed-loop governance technology for the whole
healthcare industry with high threshold, high standards and wide coverage in
the future. The data governance capability of our healthcare data middleware
“Tiangong No. 1” has been further improved. Through our self-developed artificial
intelligence technology and data governance technology, the data cleansing rate
by the middleware exceeds 97%, with a data accuracy rate of over 99%, thus
attaining a leading position in the industry in terms of accuracy, response time,
delivery time, structured level and category granularity. In 2022, the Sinohealth-
Al open platform self-developed by the Group topped the Chinese Medical
Information Processing Challenge List 2.0, demonstrating its high recognition in
the industry.

ERTERFEXABERLE  RMENERAL
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The Healthcare Industry Ecological Platform is not only an important arena for
the Group to help the healthcare industry to achieve efficient connection, but
also a “traffic monetisation platform” whereby the market scale can continue
to grow. After being held for 15 years, CPEO has become a forward-looking
industry conference with leading position in China’s healthcare industry in terms
of specifications, scale and influence. A single conference can connect up to
about 60,000 key industry decision makers. At the same time, the Group has
also held professional industry events such as PHCF, MASC, the Pharmaceutical
Innovation Ecological Conference, the Healthcare Industry Capital Summit, the
Whole Life-cycle Health Security Roundtable Forum, the Healthcare Industry New
Marketing Summit, etc., thus building a more efficient connection platform for
healthcare industry players in various professional healthcare sectors. The media
platform we created has reached nearly a million practitioners in the healthcare
industry, including pharmaceutical retailers, pharmaceutical and medical device
manufacturers, physicians, medical experts and industry investors.

We have actively promoted the industry development for 16 years. Capitalising
on our industry-leading database, artificial intelligence algorithms and analysis
models, as well as our extensive industry experience and cutting-edge insight
capabilities, we ensure that our products and services accurately meet industry
needs and help customers solve their core difficulties and knotty problems to
establish a win-win long-term cooperative relationship with shared advantages
and benefit. Since the beginning of this year, we have continued to invest in
technology development to promote product iterations based on the real needs
and feedback of customers. As such, the applicability, accuracy, matching degree
and content portfolio of products in each business segment have been effectively
improved. For example, our three SaaS products, namely CHIS, LinkedSee and
Pharmacy Connect, have solved the problems of intelligent data collection and
analysis in the three scenarios of “people”, “products” and “venue”, and provide
pharmaceutical and medical device manufacturers with a decision-making basis
with wide coverage, fine granularity and in-depth analysis of categories. Besides,
the Think Cloud data platform, the Group’s key product which benchmarks Veeva
Systems, can help pharmaceutical companies connect internal and external data,
improve their data governance capabilities, accurately understand brand market
performance and tap the retail market potential, as well as assist their channel
management and implement development strategies efficiently.
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In the medical sector, the Group uses Beijing Sinohealth, the Group’s subsidiary,
as a platform to integrate six main functions, namely medical services,
pharmaceutical services, psychological support, remote intelligent testing,
financial assistance and home care, into a comprehensive and innovative patient
care service model, hence effectively solving common problems in new drug
therapy process for patients, and helping customers and medical institutions
improve their patient management process. By virtue of providing patient
management services for pharmaceutical companies, Beijing Sinohealth has
served nearly 200,000 patients, effectively improving the continuity, convenience
and autonomy of patients in the treatment process. Not only its services have
been recognized by pharmaceutical companies, but its related model has also
been recorded in the magazine “General Practice Nursing”.

In the health management sector, thanks to big data and artificial intelligence
technology, the Group’s AI-MDT has greatly reduced its operating costs compared
with traditional MDT physical examination services, and ensure that a larger
population can enjoy cost-effective expert consultation and physical examination
services, thus satisfying people’s in-depth demand for physical examination.
The Health Management Cloud business with AI-MDT as the core has achieved
profitability and is serving domestic top-class physical examination institutions
and various hospitals. Through establishing cooperative relationships with more
hospitals and physical examination institutions, the business has entered a stage
of rapid development.

With the innovative practice of providing digital intelligence solutions for efficiency
enhancement in the field of life sciences, we were successfully shortlisted on the
award categories of, among others, “Business Intelligence”, “Marketing Artificial
Intelligence”, “Data Technology Company”, “Data Analysis Tools”, “Market
Research” and “Vertical Media” of the China Digital Marketing Landscape (Version
2022), reflecting that the quality and coverage of our products and services have
been highly recognised by the industry, thus becoming an important benchmark
in the digital marketing industry..

In order to fully leverage the value of data and create an industry benchmark,
we released “China’s Pharmaceutical Terminal Market Bluebook (2021-2022),
“China’s Innovative Drugs Bluebook” and the “Report on Consumer Health in
2021", as well as the “Report on Online Medication Trends in 2022” jointly with
Ali Health Research Institute and “Healthy China and Happiness Era Bluebook”
jointly with Caring for Men Charity Fund and Viatris, providing the industry with
standard reports on insight data and professional interpretation.

24
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In the future, we will accelerate the exploration process of our strategic
development in the era of data-driven economy, seize industrial opportunities,
and insist on improving the coverage, scale and quality of data authorised in
scenarios such as pharmaceutical and medical device retailing, pharmaceutical
and medical device innovation, health management and disease treatment,
supplemented by leading data governance technology and artificial intelligence
analysis model, in order to build an industry-leading, forward-looking and
orientative product matrix. Looking to the future, as the Company is authorised
to manage and analyse more data and connect with more industrial partners, our
business model will trigger stronger network effect and economies of scale and
make a break-through in the present market landscape. As such, our business
model can be more widely used in various scenarios such as marketing, drug
research and development, hospitals, clinics, physical examinations, commercial
insurance, industrial research and policy research, thus helping customers to
create higher commercial value and industrial value in a more effective way so
as to achieve each other’s objectives. We are currently building up forecasting
capabilities in terms of category demand, consumption habits, supply and
demand and industry trends, in order to provide forward-looking support for the
business decision of enterprises and guiding advice for the healthcare industry,
S0 as to create new sources of profit growth.

The Group will put more efforts on its independent innovation and the protection
of intellectual property rights, continue to invest in the research and development
in big data technology, artificial intelligence and cloud computing, and strengthen
technological innovation capabilities and transformation capabilities of scientific
and technological achievements. Based on our insights into the healthcare
industry, market demand and customer feedback, we will continue to optimize
iterative products and develop new products. For instance, our Yilingtong Supply
Chain Management Empowering System developed on the basis of real data and
artificial intelligence algorithms can help pharmaceutical and medical device
manufacturers and retail pharmacies remotely monitor data such as inventory,
supply and distribution in real time, eliminate manual statistical discrepancies,
strengthen regional coordination and management capability and improve the
timeliness and precision of management. We have aimed at the fast-growing
Chinese medicine industry to establish a big data center for Chinese medicine,
build a supply chain management and traceability system and hold industry
events, with a view to achieving digital empowerment for the Chinese medicine
industry.
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We will continue to focus on health management, medical treatment, clinical
research and other scenarios, and provide enterprises with personalized solutions
for the research and development of digital products through artificial intelligence
and innovation capabilities. AI-MDT has covered more than 160 hospitals and 7
private physical examination centers and entered the stage of rapid expansion
as planned. In the fields of diagnosis, treatment and clinical research, we are
expanding the cooperation scope and scale of projects relating to end-to-
end course management, patient management and MDT, and accelerating the
commercialisation of real-world research and digital medical services driven by
intelligent data analysis. At the 2022 Medical Technology World Summit, the
Group’s AI-MDT and digital therapy method for chronic diseases were listed in
the TOP100 Most Innovative Medical Technology Products (Solutions) in 2022,
fully highlighting the recognition and affirmation by third-party authoritative
organisations. The Group has accumulated extensive capabilities in various areas
such as medical research, data technology, service personnel and ecological
resources, which can help innovative pharmaceutical and medical device
companies effectively connect patients, doctors and experts in the three aspects
of project design, intelligent systems and operational services. Serving as an
“accelerator for the commercialisation of innovative pharmaceutical and medical
devices”, our solution can explore the value of innovative pharmaceutical and
medical device companies in the commercialisation process in a fast, accurate
and low-cost way, and assist customers to make accurate and efficient decisions.

In the aspect of industry ecological platform, we will create a leading high-quality
content with a higher benchmark for industry development through enhancing
conference specifications, improving conference types, upgrading conference
content, innovating conference formats and optimizing media matrix, with a view
to creating a massive and trend-setting healthcare industry ecology with full-
coverage and efficient connection, as well as providing more opportunities for
more precise and higher value connection in the industry. For example, CPEQ
will introduce more leading multinational pharmaceutical companies, provide
more connection opportunities in the industry, discuss the industry prospects
and strive to build an international leading platform for the healthcare industry.
As an important platform for the Group to connect with the field of innovative
pharmaceutical and medical devices, the Pharmaceutical Innovation Ecology
Conference will be held in Zhangjiang, Shanghai in April this year. The conference
will bring together 2000+ upstream and downstream innovative pharmaceutical
enterprises and innovative pharmaceutical ecological groups to facilitate the
innovation and development of the biomedical industry.
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There is an old saying: “Reaching a spring mountain at the end of the grassy
plain, after forging ahead unremittingly against the headwind under the
moonlight”. Bearing this spirit in mind, the Group will continue to promote the
extensive application of big data, artificial intelligence, cloud computing and
other technologies in the field of healthcare technology. Through R&D innovation
and upgrades on its technology and database, the Group will grow together with
industry partners in the digital transformation and long-term development of the
healthcare industry and promote the new development of the digitalisation of the
healthcare industry. Besides, the Group will empower the healthy development of
the industry by virtue of its digital technology capabilities and in-depth industry
insights, so as to jointly build a multiple, direct and interactive service chain
comprising medicine, pharmaceutical, patients, inspection and insurance. As
such, we can establish a digital life-cycle management system to create a better
future for the field of life science and establish ourselves as a world-leading
digital technology company in such field.

While continuing to develop our business, we will also seek to enhance the
Company's value by establishing valuable relationships with investors. Sharing
the Group's achievement with Shareholders is the keynote of our management,
and the Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK$3.98
cents per Share for the year. We believe that this will ultimately maximize our
corporate value and strengthen our business structure.

Wu Yushu
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
29 March 2023
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BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2022, due to the impact of COVID-19, static management was implemented
in a number of regions in China, hence, various business segments of the Group
faced greater challenges. In the face of market changes, the Group has always
adhered to its strategic goals and achieved remarkable results in technological
progress, product iteration and optimisation and market development. In order
to meet the increasing needs of digitalisation in the healthcare industry, the
Group has continued to enrich the types of products and services, optimise
and explore innovative SaaS products based on market demand, as well as
provide customers with professional services relating to marketing, retailing,
category decision, supply chain management, physical inspection servicing and
whole course medical management which are data-driven. As at the end of the
Reporting Period, the Group’s business covered major industrial enterprises
such as pharmaceutical and medical device manufacturers, pharmaceutical and
medical device retailers, physical examination institutions, medical institutions,
and innovative pharmaceutical and medical device manufacturers, serving more
than 2,000 customers in total. During the Reporting Period, the Group’s revenue
reached approximately RMB356.7 million, representing a year-on-year increase of
approximately 10.0%, with its gross profit amounting to approximately RMB159.1
million, representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 17.4%. The
decline in gross profit was mainly due to the travel restrictions across the cities
as imposed by the PRC government, thereby reducing the customer traffic, and
the difficulty in market development under the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic
and the Group’s increased investment in market development and research and
development. In order to effectively respond to market competition, the Group
has further strengthened its refined and standardised management, improved
operational management efficiency and market development efficiency and
enhanced its risk prevention and control capabilities and profitability. Such efforts
have proved efficient in the second half of the financial year, resulting in a gross
profit of approximately RMB102.5 million from July to December, representing a
sequential increase of approximately 80.9% as compared to the first half of the
year. The Group has also paid close attention to market conditions and adjusted
its business strategies, as well as carried out a series of optimisation reforms on
business and management to ensure the operating advantages of the Group and
continuously maintaining its strong competitiveness.
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We have actively promoted big data development in the healthcare industry for
16 years, and have established a mature business model and a solid market
foundation. Our “SaaS+professional services” business model driven by big data
has been recognised by the industry. In the areas such as digital transformation,
market development, R&D of drugs, customer management, decision-making
and operation, we have helped customers to achieve efficient empowerment and
establish capabilities of efficient decision-making and precise accessing, thus
facilitating customers to improve their efficiency and achieve performance growth.
Focusing on the health management in the whole life-cycle of patients, we have
built an ecological platform in the healthcare industry, and held professional
activities relating to industry foresight, resources matching, commodity
circulation, R&D and innovation for healthcare industry participants, with a view
to promoting high-quality development of the industry. After China adjusted its
COVID-19 control measures in December 2022, the Group has continued to
maintain its strong competitiveness leveraging on its data insight capabilities,
product quality and service ability, and is able to effectively meet the medical
product supplier customers’ urgent needs for efficiency enhancement and cost
reduction in the future. Leveraging on its resilience forged during the COVID-19
pandemic and boosted by a group of high calibre young managers that we have
cultivated, the Group is confident to achieve stable growth in its performance in
2023.

DUAL DEVELOPMENT TREND OCCURS IN THE HEALTHCARE
INDUSTRY

With the increasing importance and growing concern to the health of the people,
the needs of patients have been growing in three directions. First is the elevation
of accessibility, including the improvement of affordability and the availability of
medical products and resources. As a result, the supply side needs to provide
better solutions and products for medical treatment. Second is better treatment
effect, including shortening the course of treatment and improving efficacy. Third
is the need for treatment in a friendly manner, including the convenience and
kindness of medical treatment and the reduction of pain. The growing needs of
patients have created new market value and led to an industry trend that focuses
on health management over the whole life-cycle. The scope of main medical
treatment of patients has been expanded from standard market to “standard
market + non-standard market”, which entails multi-level products and services
for healthcare. Under this trend, industry participants must focus on the growing
needs of patients, providing patients with a series of products and services
for life-cycle health management. Besides, higher standards and requirements
are also imposed on the market participants on areas such as marketing,
patient management, supply chain management, industry insights and digital
transformation.
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Non-standard market attaches greater importance on the needs of preventative
self-care, illness rehabilitation management and personalised medical treatment.
It focuses on high-end medical treatment, post-operative rehabilitation, chronic
disease management and inspection and testing. The related fees are mainly
paid by ways of commercial insurance and personal payment. The products in
non-standard market include various subcategories of medicines and services
that meet diversified health needs, which are conducive to the improvement of
the daily healthy lifestyles of residents and also represent the main development
direction of the healthcare industry in the future. The non-standard market
will create more market opportunities for the Group in areas such as digital
transformation and upgrading, precision marketing, innovative drug services,
enhancement of smart health management, supply chain management and
professional research.

TR - BREE -
NEEFEENERARE
HATFENHEDE

An important undertaker of high-end
medical care, postoperative
rehabiltation, chronic disease
management, inspection and
testing, and a promoter of residents’

juawabeuew yyeay ajako-aj ajoym

EXBIEPTHEER

RIS
Non-standard market
BRAMEAL

ey gt

Covered by cdommercial
insurance and personal BESTLRESROES
payment REREAEHOEES

Subdivided categories that

ol meet diverse health needs
T combined with personal
payment

BRAEEY - RREEERAERNE
HERE

Preventive self-care, recovery after illness
Meeting customised administration and
medical nesds

Precise marketing

BFEE
Digital management

BRI BB
Drug innovation and senvice upgrade

BINTIEE S TN A RRBED - RRREEEMN
%ﬂ BECRRERR  UBnEE  RRE 18
WRERE  REBERASHIAAT  IBINFRABE

==$ﬂ AAXN  ERBREBRZTIREFERNS
BANmBNERNRY  RERTERBRELE
TRANESE  BREETRARNIZRRTMA
HRAKEMS  BHODHERFLEEAR K
B2 AHMERY  REEETHAR  HEREE
B EXPREITAREEESOTIHRE -



mmwmwmwummW%?Mﬁmﬂj
Annual Report 2022 =% =~ —F FF i

Management Discussion and Analysis
EEERNR®RDN

The standard market is targeted for diagnosis and treatment. Focusing on
outpatient and inpatient services, the market supplies non-patent pharmaceutical
and medical devices with stable quality and lower prices, ensuring the public
can enjoy affordable basic treatment with wide coverage. As for the Group,
the opportunities in standard market lie in the Internet clinics, Internet hospital
construction, online medical services and academic exchange platforms brought
about by the enhancement of hospital digital management and the distribution of
medical resources.

We hope that by expanding the dual market, we will eventually establish a
closed loop system for data circulation between the standard market and the
non-standard market, and provide standardised, structured and systematic data
support for the healthcare industry as a whole. The data can be used in key
aspects such as physical examination, prevention, diagnosis and treatment,
medication, chronic disease management and insurance, so as to build a
comprehensive life-cycle health management system for patients and effectively
improve the level of health management.

THE ERA OF DIGITAL ECONOMY USHERING IN NEW
DEVELOPMENT MOMENTUM

With the rapid development of the newly emerged information technology
represented by big data, cloud computing and artificial intelligence, the digital
economy is undergoing a transformation from quantitative expansion to qualitative
improvement, and has affected every aspect of production activities and people’s
life with unprecedented depth and breadth. According to statistics, since 2012,
the average annual growth rate of the digital economy in the country has reached
15.9%, which is significantly higher than the average GDP growth rate of the
same period. In 2021, the scale of the digital economy in the country reached
RMB45.5 trillion, representing a nominal increase of 16.2% year-on-year, with
16 provinces each exceeding RMB1 trillion in the scale of the digital economy.
According to the goal of China’s digital economy in the “14th Five-Year Plan”, by
2025, the added value of the core industries of the digital economy will account
for 10% of GDP, then the level of intelligence will be significantly enhanced and
the integration of digital technology and the real economy will achieve remarkable
results. The digital economy brings opportunities for the rapid development
of data elements transactions and industrial digitalisation, and the Group will
continue to enhance its economies of scale of data. By applying its advanced data
processing capabilities, artificial intelligence, analysis models and algorithms,
the Group will actively participate in the construction of the digital economy, and
collaborate with data transaction institutions to set up a data trading mechanism
in the healthcare industry to provide digital services for healthcare industry
participants, with a view to growing with healthcare industry participants in the
era of digital economy.
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DRIVEN BY DATA ELEMENTS, COVERING STANDARD AND
NON-STANDARD MARKETS

In order to better grasp the historical opportunities brought by the dual
development of the healthcare industry and the digital economy, the Group has
followed the industry logic of full life-cycle health management and expanded
its target market from out-of-hospital market to standard and non-standard
markets, so as to establish the strategic positioning of vertical cloud platform for
healthcare industry. In order to better align with the development trend of the
healthcare industry, promote the implementation of strategies and reflect the
Group’s operating philosophy and positioning in @ more comprehensive manner,
the Group's existing products under the three business segments, namely Data
Insight Solutions, Data-driven Publications and Events and SaaS products, are
reorganised according to the application scenarios, such that they are specifically
classified into four business segments, namely Smart Retail Cloud, Smart
Decision Cloud, Smart Health Management Cloud and Smart Medical Cloud, thus
creating a data-driven product portfolio in the vertical sector that matches the
whole life-cycle health management. As a result, (i) data insight solutions and
data insight reports which provide decision support for customers are integrated
into Smart Decision Cloud, and data-driven marketing solutions which carry out
marketing activities for customers are mainly integrated into Smart Retail Cloud;
and (ii) Data-driven Publications and Events and SaaS products are integrated
into the four business segments, namely Smart Retail cloud, Smart Decision
Cloud, Smart Health Management Cloud and Smart Medical Cloud according
to the application scenarios. In the future, the Group will also develop two new
business segments, namely Smart Clinic Cloud and Smart Insurance Cloud, with
a view to finally realising the strategic layout covering the whole life-cycle health
management. We always adhere to the patient-oriented approach, and implement
a multi-level and multi-segment vertical cloud layout covering the whole business
chain with a focus on the industry trend. We will provide SaaS products and
professional operation services for various healthcare industry participants, and
build an ecological platform that connects the participants in the healthcare
industry, aiming to establish a closed-loop system of health management of
the whole life-cycle integrating prevention, treatment, maintenance, body and
mind, and build a world-leading digital technology enterprise in the field of life
sciences.
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BUSINESS MODEL OF THE GROUP

The following chart illustrates our vertical cloud business model for the healthcare
industry, which represents the interconnection between our core technology
on the “PasS” layer, business segments (SaaS+professional services) and our
industrial ecological platform:
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The following table sets out the performance of our four business segments,
Smart Retail Cloud, Smart Decision Cloud, Smart Health Management Cloud and

Smart Medical Cloud, by application scenarios:

TREJNRMEEAERAINEZTEE  EBR
RE BERFEEET EZBRZDEZRHRREE

BRERMT

Year ended 31 December
BE12A31BLEEFEE

Year-on-year

2022 2021 change
20224 20214 @] L #4t

RMB’000 RMB’000

Business segments HEERHR AR¥TR AR®TT
Smart Decision Cloud BERKE 182,696 202,742 -9.9%
Smart Retail Cloud BETESE 126,542 95,581 32.4%
Smart Health Management Cloud RERRERE 10,457 371 2,718.6%
Smart Medical Cloud BEEEE 36,973 25,472 45.2%
Total A% 356,668 324,166 10.0%
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Smart Retail Cloud stays ahead

Smart Retail Cloud focuses on the scenarios of pharmacies, and SaaS products
mainly include SIC and the newly launched Yilingtong. SIC is the core component
of Smart Retail Cloud. SIC can provide pharmacies with comprehensive
services such as operation management, membership management, category
management, smart marketing, chronic disease management and pharmaceutical
services. It is also an important source for the Group to collect pharmaceutical
retail data. As at 31 December 2022, SIC covered more than 58,000 retail
stores, representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 33.5%, maintaining
a rapid growth rate and the leading position in the market. Through SIC, we can
effectively help chain pharmacies to strengthen their operational capabilities,
including the control on operational data, improving the service for members,
professional training for shop assistants, in-depth product analysis and supply
chain management, thus helping chain pharmacies improve efficiency, reduce
costs, generate income source and comprehensively enhance profitability and
comprehensiveness. As such, the cooperative relationship between the Group and
the pharmacies can also be enhanced. At the same time, based on the in-depth
cooperation between the Group and chain pharmacies, we provide pharmaceutical
and medical device manufacturers with professional services such as data-driven
marketing solutions based on pharmacies, specific training on medicine and
advertising to help them efficiently connect with pharmacies and improve sales
performance of products. In 2022, we developed Lingtong which can provide
customers with integrated contents, including customised data-driven marketing
solutions, implementation efficiency enhancement, tracking marketing effects in
real time and receiving feed-back on decision-making. Lingtong can effectively
extend the business chain of Smart Retail Cloud and enhance its revenue and
profitability. In terms of industrial ecology, PHCH, MASC and other industrial
activities are committed to facilitating commodity transactions in the healthcare
industry and promoting high-quality development of the industry through full-
scenario data analysis, interpretation of policy trends, interpretation of new trends
in health consumption and product presentation.

In 2022, Smart Retail Cloud achieved an operating revenue of approximately
RMB126.5 million, representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 32.4%
as compared to 2021, mainly attributable to the steady growth of the average
recognised amount per contract in 2022, which increased by approximately
112.6% from approximately RMB79,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021
to approximately RMB168,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022. Besides,
although the COVID-19 pandemic has affected the normal operation and the
execution of many projects of the Group and other customers, the Group’s
Smart Retail Cloud can effectively meet the needs of customers for increasing
efficiency and reducing costs, thus the total number of orders from customers for
the Group’s professional services have increased. On the other hand, due to the
impact of the COVID-19, the number of customers in PHCF decreased and MASC
was cancelled, thus the total operating revenue from the above businesses was
affected to a certain extent. With the alleviation of the impact of the COVID-19
pandemic and industrial events returning to normal, the aforesaid businesses are
expected to usher in a period of rapid recovery.
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Continuous optimisation of Smart Decision Cloud

The products of Smart Decision Cloud are mainly for medical product suppliers,
and such product line is a relatively mature business segment of the Group.
The SaaS products of Smart Decision Cloud include CHIS, LinkedSee, Pharmacy
Connect and Think Cloud: CHIS provides customers with functions such as
industry information enquiry, retail data enquiry and drug database; LinkedSee
provides customers with functions such as industry insight analysis, category
analysis, brand analysis and data report collection; Pharmacy Connect provides
customers with functions such as identification of potential in cities/markets,
selection of business partners, hierarchical management of selection of
pharmacies; and Think Cloud can help pharmaceutical companies combine their
internal data with external data such as the Group’s master data and market
data, and provide a basis for their decision making on scenarios such as channel
management and sales forecast, thus enhancing their efficiency on exploring
potential pharmacy products, price control on brand market and the monitoring
on gross profit margin of the whole business chain. In terms of professional
services, we provide customers with a variety of insight products and customised
services, including insight research on pharmaceutical retail market, consumer
insight research, product research reports, services relating to business growth,
market development and marketing services and professional training. Such
products and services are integrated into a comprehensive solution to help
customers enhance decision-making efficiency and achieve their business
goals. In terms of industrial ecology, events such as CPEO, the Pharmaceutical
Innovation Ecological Conference, the Healthcare Industry Capital Summit
and the Healthcare Industry Think Tank have complemented with each other
organically, providing customers with an industrial ecology platform comprising
various functions including industry foresight, capital cooperation, pharmaceutical
innovation and market connection. The ecological platform further improves
the efficiency of inter-industry connection, promotes the optimal allocation of
resources and also provides strong support for the business expansion of the
Group.
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In 2022, the operating revenue of Smart Decision Cloud amounted to
approximately RMB182.7 million, representing a year-on-year decrease of
approximately 9.9% as compared to 2021. Such decrease was mainly attributable
to the travel restrictions across the cities under the static management in a
number of regions due to the COVID-19 pandemic, which has suppressed the
demand for offline communication. As a result, the number of participants
in CPEO has decreased as compared to last year and the offline marketing
activities of SaaS products and professional services were significantly restricted.
Nevertheless, the number of corporate customers in this segment still managed
to increase by approximately 26.0% as compared to the year ended 31 December
2021 to 576 for the year ended 31 December 2022, mainly attributable to the
fact that SaaS products have been recognised by the market and have entered
a stage of rapid development. For example, in 2022, a total of 123 customers
purchased the Group’s CHIS products, representing a year-on-year increase
of approximately 53.8% as compared to 80 customers who used the products
to make their decisions in 2021. After it was officially launched in October
2022, Linkhe has been highly recognised by customers and the number of new
customers signed up has been continuously increasing, showing a trend of rapid
growth. Besides, we have continuously enriching our insight research content,
and have carried out detailed research on the three major scenarios of “people”,
“products” and “venue”, thus satisfying various insight needs of customers in an
effective way. Moreover, our customer base has been extended to customers who
are not pharmaceutical and medical device manufacturers, including research
institutions, securities dealers and service providers. Capitalising on our data
insight capabilities, product quality and service ability, our insight research
business still managed to maintain a growth trend, in spite of the pressure on the
overall market under the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. In 2022, a total of
277 customers purchased the Group’s insight research services, representing a
year-on-year increase of approximately 18.4% as compared to 234 customers in
2021. It is worth noting that with the efforts of all staff, CPEO was successfully
held, which fully demonstrated the Group’s execution ability and the industry’s
recognition of CPEO. With the continuous improvement of our product portfolio,
enhancement of our service ability, optimisation of the industrial layout, external
business environment returning to normal and the growing demand for industrial
digitalisation, the Smart Decision Cloud business is expected to regain its growth
momentum rapidly.
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Accelerated market expansion of Smart Health Management Cloud
The Group has cooperated with physical examination institutions and hospitals
to build an AI-MDT (artificial intelligence multi-disciplinary treatment) system to
provide physical examination users with physical examination reports on Al-MDT.
Different from traditional physical examination reports, AI-MDT is committed
to providing physical examination users with more systematic, detailed and
comprehensive multi-disciplinary physical examination reports. Its lower cost is
more affordable to the general public and it has higher market potential. We have
established a relatively comprehensive health management system in the post-
examination stage focusing on the needs of patients, which can meet the health
management requirements of patients for the whole process after examination
through early warning and monitoring, chronic disease management, drug
purchasing, re-examination and continuous evaluation. As such, the system can
further improve health management capabilities and facilitate relevant institutions
improving their capabilities on disease treatment and drug research and
development.

In 2022, the operating revenue of our Smart Health Management Cloud business
increased exponentially to approximately RMB10.5 million from RMB371,000
for 2021, representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 2,718.6%.
Benefited from its mature technology and differentiated advantages, Al-MDT
has been unanimously recognised by cooperative customers and physical
examination users. On the basis of the usage of AI-MDT by physical examination
users, we charge our cooperative customers certain service fees. Therefore, the
greater the demand and frequency of the usage of Al-MDT services by physical
examination users, the more service fees we could charge. Consequently, the
number of cooperative customers, the number of physical examination users
using AlI-MDT and the average recognised amount per contract grew steadily
in 2022. At present, its market scale has begun to take shape and has made
contact with approximately 160 hospitals and 7 private physical examination
centers in Guangdong, Hubei, Sichuan, Anhui and other regions, and the average
recognised amount per contract for the purchase of the Group’s Smart Health
Management Cloud increased 1,478.1% as well from approximately RMB26,000
for the year ended 31 December 2021 to approximately RMB418,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2022. With the release of the demographic advantage
of physical examination, the growing demand for health management and the
continuous growth of the market as well as the increasing popularity of AI-MDT
due to its sound reputation, our Smart Health Management Cloud business may
enter a stage of rapid growth.
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Smart Medical Cloud gaining momentum

The main business of this sector covers smart medical SaaS, research and
consulting, data and marketing services for innovative drugs, real-world study
and patient management services. As at the end of 2022, we had served nearly
200,000 patients by providing patient management services for pharmaceutical
companies, effectively improving the continuity, convenience and autonomy
of patients in the treatment process, and have been highly recognised by
customers. Our Smart Medical Cloud business achieved an operating revenue of
approximately RMB37.0 million in the financial year, representing a year-on-year
increase of approximately 45.2% as compared to 2021. As a result, the average
recognised amount per contract for the purchase of the Group’s smart medical
services increased by approximately 30.9% from approximately RMB553,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2021 to approximately RMB724,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2022, laying a solid foundation for the Company to serve as
an “accelerator for the commercialisation of innovative drugs”.

The Group has accumulated extensive resources and capabilities in medical
research, data technology, service personnel and ecological resources, which
can help innovative pharmaceutical and device companies effectively connect the
three cornerstones in the commercialisation process in terms of program design,
intelligent system, and operational service. The three cornerstones are patients,
doctors and hospitals. Firstly, at the patient level, we provide individual patient
care service throughout the entire treatment process, and provide pharmaceutical
companies with customised and one-stop patient services, as well as cooperate
with medical service institutions to provide more diverse medical services. We
can reach more patients with the provision of digital therapy in the whole medical
management process combining with operation solutions for patients in private
domain. Secondly, at the doctor and hospital level, we have provided hospital
experts with one-stop personalised dynamic management services through our
Al technology team, medical research team, expert think tank, medical database
and digital tools. We have also developed a doctor-patient platform equipped with
case managers, in order to reach patents in all scenarios online and offline, in-
hospital and out-of-hospital, providing convenient tools and paths for long-term
interaction between doctors and patients.
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The following table sets out the performance of our three business segments,
Data Insight Solutions, Data-driven Publications and Events and SaaS products,
by product categories:

M NREF R MEERERE D OEBRERRT
R ABEBEHEMLEY  SaSER=EXRBRAE
BRERMT

BZ12A31BLEEE

Year ended 31 December
Year-on-year

2022 2021 change
20225 20214 [RIEL &1L
RMB’000 RMB'000

Business segments HE R AR TR AR®TT

Data Insight Solutions” IR R BRT RO 225,262 161,367 39.6%

Data-driven Publications and Events® IR M RORE 90,932 134,613 -32.4%

SaaS Products® SaaSEE 40,474 28,186 43.6%

Total Bt 356,668 324,166 10.0%

Notes: Kiat -

1) The revenue from the Data Insight Solutions segment in 2022 was approximately ) B T EE R P 0 A BRI 2022 4F BE (Y Wit A £ s N ST
RMB225.3 million, representing an increase of approximately 39.6% as compared to 225.3H BT > 1820214 [A] 48R 4939.6% o {8
the same period in 2021. Although the COVID-19 has affected the normal operation COVID-19% 1% B A £ B R b & F ¥ ARG S
and the execution of many projects of the Group and other customers, the Data Insight THHBAT » AL B REM R T ZRIENEER
Solutions can effectively meet the needs of customers for increasing efficiency and SRR A TSR TR T % P S0E & P A SR B TR
reducing costs, thus both the number of customers and the total number of orders from B BT AR S HR T &AL
customers for the Group’s Data Insight Solutions have grown steadily, resulting in an i e
increase in the revenue of this business segment.

2) The revenue from the Data-driven Publications and Events segment in 2022 was ¥ B EEE B M 5 B2 P 2022 4F BE B A K0 B N R
approximately RMB90.9 million, representing a decrease of approximately 32.4% as 90,9 & > 2021 4F [Al H T P4 4932.4% » F 8 E
compared to the same period in 2021, mainly due to the fact that under the tightening SR COVID-19 B B M Ik BHE M T > 7O € R 76
measures against the outbreak of the COVID-19, the number of participants in the BTGB 2 B\ B SRR R B o b AR RIS
activities of PHCF and CPEQ declined substantially. In addition, the Group has also EEOE T EEa U LEAMLS T IEE o il iR
canceled MASC and other offline activities. All of the above factors have affected the BB S S B A o
revenue of the Data-driven Publications and Events segment.

3) The revenue from the SaaS segment in 2022 was approximately RMB40.5 million, 3 SaaS K H I 20204 B M MCA K 13 AR 140,571

representing an increase of approximately 43.6% as compared to the same period
in 2021. The increase was mainly attributable to the Group’s mature technology and
differentiated advantages, the growing public demand for health management and the
continuous growth of the market, as well as the increasing popularity of Al-MDT due
to its sound reputation, and the steadily increasing number of health management
institution customers using the Group’s AlI-MDT products and the average recognised
amount per contract in 2022, thus resulting in an increase in the segment’s revenue.

6 > WE2021 4F [F] 148 R 47 43.6% o EH BRI AE A
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CONSOLIDATING OUR THREE CORE ADVANTAGES

As a pioneer in the digitalisation of the healthcare industry, the Group possesses
cutting-edge innovative technologies and profound insights. Leveraging on its
industry-leading data network, technical capabilities and industrial insight ability,
the Group continues to improve its product quality and professional service
capabilities, as well as increase its market share, enhance the cooperation
with its key customers and expand its product portfolio and business scale, so
as to contribute to the long-term sustainable development of the healthcare
industry. We have established three core competitiveness in terms of extensive
data collection network, leading big data processing technology and ecological
industrial platform.

1)

Data collection network. We focus on data such as pharmaceutical
retail, physical examination, clinical diagnosis and treatment scenarios,
and have established an extensive data collection network. The scale and
quality of the data we possess are at a leading level in the market. As at
31 December 2022, our data network covers more than 72,000 pharmacy
stores spanning 299 cities in 29 provinces, of which 80% can assess data
in real time and more than 80% of the order-related data can be obtained
instantly. Due to the continuous elevation of business dimensions and
breadth, the Group has stored and analysed data of more than 30TB, an
increase of nearly 50% compared with the same period in 2021, so that
the advantage of the scale of data has been further enhanced.

The following table sets out the Group’s partnering pharmacies and
participant networks

FE=ABRVES
ERAREEXBTLNETE  AREEENRNE
HEMERARR - BRETEALNERBE - &l
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B RERL %ﬁﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁ ERNM5E
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As at As at
31 December 31 December Year-on-year
2022 2021 change
BE2022%F  HZE2021%F .
12831 H 12H31H R &%)
Number of Partnering Pharmacies AEEEE SR 1,225 1,072 14.3%
Number of Stores Covered AEEEEENMEHE
by Partnering Pharmacies 72,535 52,882 37.2%
Number of Pharmacy Staff Using 5 FASICH B flE A2 Fr /Y %5 )5
SIC Mobile App ('000) BITAZ(TA) 191 173 10.4%
Number of Pharmacy Consumers Managed 25 3838 SICE 12 1) %5 5
by Pharmacies through SIC ('000) HEEAB(TA) 273,533 201,840 35.5%




Sinohealth Holdings Limited A 2B AR A &)
Annual Report 2022 =5 = —FE[F#HE

Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEN®RDN

29

Big data processing technology. Sinohealth-Engine is our core platform
for data processing. Its data processing and analysis capabilities allow us to
discover correlations and patterns from raw data in the healthcare industry,
thereby cultivating insights and knowledge. Through data governance
analysis, interpretation and prediction, we provide industry participants with
Saa$S products and professional services. Our core technical capabilities are
fully demonstrated from three aspects. The first aspect is our data scale
and data processing capabilities. The original and scattered data collected
from retail pharmacies and medical institutions can be transformed into
structured, standardised and systematically analysable data through a
high-speed and precise data governance process. According to statistics
from iResearch Consulting, our data governance is at an industry-leading
level in terms of project response time, data size, data cleansing rate and
granularity. The second aspect consists of our professional knowledge,
insight capabilities and artificial intelligence analysis model. Such
capabilities are continuously optimised and expanded during the application
process, driving us to provide customers with better solutions. For example,
our newly developed Yilingtong, which is positioned to represent a digital
OTC, can help pharmaceutical manufacturers and retail pharmacies improve
their supply chain management. The third aspect is that we aim at various
operational scenarios and service capabilities to help customers better
achieve their business goals and connect with the industrial ecosphere. For
example, our SaaS product “Linghe” for the empowerment of marketing
decision-making developed by us integrates the in-depth opinions of
the industry leaders who are supervisors of the strategy department,
marketing department and sales department from more than 100 top
enterprises in the industry. Combining with the study results of more than
400 in-depth market research and typical consulting cases which are
unique to Sinohealth, Linghe can consolidate standardised information
relating to “people” (profile of consumers), “goods” (pharmaceutical
sales performance) and “venue” (the characteristics and distribution of
pharmacies) to satisfy the requirements of decision-making in the first
place and solving core problems
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The Group’s efforts in data technology and data governance have been
recognised by the relevant authorities. Zhongkang Technology, a subsidiary
of the Company, successfully obtained a Certificate of Guangzhou Big Data
Artificial Intelligence Enterprise Database Registration (J&/)NH A &%
ATEREEEZERLEE) issued by Guangzhou Artificial Intelligence
Industry Development Promotion Association (&M A %5 AEZE 2
LT ) in February 2022, and was accredited as a High and New
Technology Enterprise and admitted into the Top List of the Most Promising
Artificial Intelligence Enterprises in Guangzhou respectively in December
2022. Sinohealth Information has received a series of the ISO certifications
on information technology, information security and private information,
indicating the Group’s strong capability and high standard to provide
customers with big data processing, privacy information management and
system operation services.

Ecological industrial platform. We have built a leading portfolio of
healthcare industry conferences/exhibition events and media services to
create a valuable ecological chain for industry participants. Meanwhile,
we have set up product marketing and “traffic monetisation” scenarios
for the Group, effectively reducing marketing costs and improving
marketing efficiency. For example, CPEQ has become a forward-looking
industry conference with leading position in China’s healthcare industry
in terms of specifications, scale and influence, providing forward-looking
and systematic exchanges of ideas and information for the industry and
realising the strategic integration, cooperation and interaction of diversified
resources.
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BUSINESS OUTLOOK

At present, a new round of scientific and technological revolution and industrial
transformation is underway intensively, and the digital transformation of various
industries has become the main trend. “Opinions of the Central Committee of
the Communist Party of China and the State Council on Building a Basic System
for Data to Fully Utilise Data as the Core Element” proposed to fully capitalise
the value of data elements to empower the development of the real economy.
After years of rapid development, the healthcare industry has gradually entered
the stage of structural optimisation and inventory competition with the elevation
of patients’ needs. Against this background, participants in the healthcare
industry need faster, more comprehensive and more precise digital empowerment
systems to support their business decisions and marketing activities, and to
achieve more efficient connections with upstream and downstream enterprises,
which will brought more market opportunities for the Group. Standing at the
forefront of the wave of digital transformation of healthcare industry participants
empowered by the application of big data technology, artificial intelligence and
cloud computing, the Group will uphold the corporate mission of “developing
smart healthcare industry and promoting smart healthy life”, and focus on helping
industry participants establish the core capabilities of efficient decision-making
and precise connection through the means of technological innovation, so that we
can grow in tandem with our customers.

Jointly establishing digital economy in the healthcare industry

The “14th Five-Year Plan” period is a critical period for the digital transformation
of industries in the country. The “14th Five-Year Plan for Digital Economy
Development” proposes to fully utilise data as the core element and “cultivate
transformation to support the service of ecology”, therefore the digital
transformation should be realised starting from the three aspects of enterprises,
key industries, and industrial parks and industrial clusters. As an important
partner in the digital transformation of the healthcare industry, the Group will
actively respond to the digital planning guidelines, ensure the supply of high-
quality data elements, carry out data collection in accordance with laws and
regulations, and focus on different steps such as data labeling, data cleansing,
desensitisation, decryption, aggregation and analysis in order to improve its data
resources processing capabilities. It will also promote the construction of standard
systems of data resources in the healthcare industry, improve data management
levels and data quality, and is committed to helping customers deeply integrate
digital application technologies. Besides, it will promote digital transformation in
the development and design, production and processing, operation management
and sales services of enterprises in the healthcare industry, in order to help the
industry speed up the remedy for the shortcomings of digital transformation and
empower the industry to transform and upgrade, thus realising the enhancement
of the digital level of the entire industry chain and creating an industrial structure
of high-quality development.

RERE

B H-BRRESNELRERARR ST
REMFCERDERARERE (P REBE
ARBRABAREE HRERERRERNER)
REBRIHPDEBEREE BRESLERR -
RBZFNRERR  HEZERREREAN  #F
EXEHTENGBEL BEBEFNOER - REEN
ERT REEXZ2EEZFEEIR T2E - ERE
MBFLRERAXBFRERENMHEHLD - I
BITHERESUNBRER  BREARETR
TEZHMSHE - FEEVERBARERM - A
THEiE  EEHERFERSEEHFLEURY
Wane - BREIESREER  SERFELEING
(@6 BAMBAF TR  TIREPEXZ2AE
BYSBARNBEEEEMBROE S  BHEREPK
Ko

HEREEXBZLR

[TRA | BRARREEXB A B OBERENY - &
B(+OA]BFREERAZDREERDEEH
BREER EIRFBUIERELE] #0%-
ERER EXERMEXRSH-EEEERZF(L
B AEEEARFEERRTFIEUNERRH
BEGEEHFIREES RESEEHBEER
s REAGRRRBERE  BEEBNEI F
K BE BE - BRE - 2MERE RABEER
RERS  HDRFEFBEERGERZRZR &
HEBEERKENHRERE  BAREPEPRER
BERFRARM  EBEMERT - £ENT - £2
BE  HERBEITANRFCEL  EPREEX
REER T BRRREE  BEEXELAE
ER2BRAFKENRA  TEREERRNE
EL 5



32

Sinohealth Holdings Limited QJF??HQEBE/RT
Annual Report 2022 =% =~ —F FF i

Management Discussion and Analysis
EEERNR®RDN

Maximising the value of data element

Data element is the core engine for the in-depth development of the digital
economy. It is not only increasingly important in multiplying the production
efficiency of the healthcare industry prominent, but also is the core asset on
which the Group relies for its development. In order to further consolidate our
leading position in the industry and play a leading role in the development of
data elements, we will (i) expand the depth and breadth of data collection,
consolidate the core value of data and connect more pharmaceutical and medical
device retail markets, medical institutions and physical examination centers to
enhance our data scale; (i) strengthen data governance, artificial intelligence
and cloud computing capabilities, maintain our industry-leading data governance
capabilities, create structured and standardised data benchmarks, enhance the
applicability and authority of data, and continuously enrich and deepen insights
into the market as well as the understanding and application of various disease
areas; (i) adhere to market orientation and continuously realise the iteration
and optimisation of products and services to meet the high-quality development
needs of the industry; (iv) use industrial data to empower the industrial ecology
and fully utilise the function of connection to establish an efficient communication
and cooperation platform for the industry participants, meanwhile using the
platform to efficiently connect with customers to improve the conversion rate and
penetration rate of our various businesses; and (v) further expand our database,
create a new and extensive product matrix and open up new market segments
through strategic cooperation, project investment and equity mergers and
acquisitions.

Expanding the advantage of market leadership

At the aspect of market strategy, the Group has established a
“Top30+KA100+Long Tail” customer classification and hierarchical management
system, based on customers’ annual income level of more than 20 million, 5
million to 20 million and less than 5 million. The system relies on our resources
to develop key customers and key markets and focuses on the needs of major
customers to establish a more effective operating mechanism, customisation
capabilities and marketing capabilities. Focusing on deepening cooperative
relations, the Group ensures the continuous growth of the number of industry-
leading customers and enterprise-level customers, the increase of unit price
of customer and the number of products per customer, and develops the long-
tail market relying chiefly on its standard products, so as to realise the rapid
development of its business scale in an all-round way. At the same time, we will
promptly follow up the needs of new customer groups such as securities dealers,
funds and business research institutions, and provide customised SaaS products
and business insight reports. While expanding new customer groups, we will
enhance the influence of the Group’s data on the industry and its benchmarking
attributes, with a view to establishing its market leadership in a multi-dimension.

RERBERBAER
HEZZRUFEERBEROZLIIE  HRRER
KF%E?&Tmiﬁﬁﬁfﬁ&@ tRAKER
NERNZLEE - RE—SEERMNTRER
s - %E%ngmﬁﬁaﬁﬁﬁ H A ) EA
BERENAENEE  SEROEEBER  BRE
SNERTEMS  BEEENBRTLO  BASE
REE () MRBBRE - ATRRMEANER S R
ROTRERNBBAEES - TEERNEEL
%%%ﬁ*kﬂ@ﬁ%ﬂ%&ﬂ%ﬁﬁ*ﬁ$“ﬁﬁ
MRAL B T95 0OR B AL A R SR R A BB
A (iNBRmigEn  FEEREMRMRENER
MBI RETESEERRFR  (WHNREXEE
M EXAR ROBEERER  REX2HEY
ERBMBBNAEYR  ABNATERNERE
P RERAMASEEBOELCEMNEEE : ky)RBB
BEAE BREEMBEHES A E—FES
BEE  TENEEENEME - RAHAI TS -

BATEELED

EMSEEIE AEENFRA2,0008 ) E -
moﬁga(moa%mooauTﬁﬂfﬁ ByT
[Top30+KAI00+RE IMEFP RN EEERE - BR
ERAMERELPMENMS %w%t@ﬁ%%i
BUBAEMMALERY - TR hMEHEEn &
NINFREEERE  BREEESBEPNCEREFR
UERFER RARBENZTHERE - WINEE
ERATRAAREMS  2HFNERELRRBEORE
BRE AR RMSRBRESD £ BEWR
BESHEPEENE I RETHLSaaSERUR
EERRRE  TEANZFFHENRE  #AFE
BHBENTEZENNERBY  SHEITETHE
SEHBATL o



Sinohealth Holdings Limited & B2 A% B BR 2 &)
Annual Report 2022 —E ~ —EEFRE

Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENRRDN

33

In order to consolidate its position in the industry and further increase its
market recognition, the Group is carrying out a comprehensive brand upgrade
campaign to create a brand image representing “data + technology + ecology”
in the healthcare industry, so as to comprehensively enhance the value of
its brand assets and its reputation in the industry and increase the influence
and competitiveness of Sinohealth brand for the empowerment of its market
development.

Outlook on main businesses

In order to maximise the efficiency of resource allocation, optimise its strategic
development layout and achieve high-quality sustainable development, the
Group has formulated its business development plans in “short-, medium — and
long-term”. We will maintain our leading edge in Smart Retail Cloud and Smart
Decision Cloud segments to gain a larger market share, and will continue to
optimise the products under Smart Medical Cloud and Smart Health Management
Cloud segments, accelerate market expansion, expand its business scale, thus
forming new drivers for its profit growth. In the future, the Group will build a
closed-loop database of “patients, pharmacies, hospitals, physical examinations
and pharmaceutical and medical device production”, so as to establish the
advantage of large-scale and standardised data covering the whole industry,
thereby rapidly penetrating into the field of commercial insurance and life
sciences to maximise the value of data element.
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1) Smart Decision Cloud. Combining industry trends, customer needs and 1) HBEREXE - #ATTEBY  EEEINE5E
its own operating experience, the Group will continue to optimise existing Mi@%ﬁ AEEEHERBIERERNBENE
products and develop new products to achieve more efficient ecological M BREFSMMEREE  URTEECEE
links in order to meet the diverse needs of pharmaceutical manufacturers Fﬁfﬂﬁfﬂ@?‘ﬁ’]ymﬁﬂi o —HE - AREE
and other customers. On the one hand, the Group will continue to enhance SERAYBAE EEER  WHRE A%
its competitive advantages in multiple dimensions such as data scale, TR EFNESZELENHETED  BE
industrial ecology, market insight, decision support and industry foresight, IR AERRE N  TEZECNERRF
especially to accelerate the establishment of forward-looking insight 7 BREPREBEERNSIOARNERRE
capabilities, create differentiated product competitiveness, and provide ,%E/c.\ CBIREAEN - BEE SN TIHEE -/
customers with a portfolio of products and services featured with precise AEEBR IR ERREENEERE
connection and efficient decision-making, so as to reduce costs, enhance km?%.ﬁ B BHREBYNEEREER
efficiency and create higher market value. Meanwhile, the Group will be BeZ—7H AEEEERSAZTSHRIEN
committed to creating data standards for the healthcare industry, improving %ET% BRIEHEREEXNERIEN B
the influence of the industry and enabling Sinohealth’s data to contribute BIFERAND  TERRENBREEESH -
to the high-quality development of the industry. On the other hand, the SERTEREZRMERRE  LEDBEH
Group is improving the specifications and scale of CPEO and optimising the MEMEIEDS  BEMSNERBENEE
innovative contents of the conference through empowering the forward- HEETR o
looking insight of the healthcare industry by its data, with a view to
organising an international healthcare industry conference. The Group is
also organising the Pharmaceutical Innovation Ecological Conference, which
will be our key effort and an important ecological platform for us to develop
the innovative drug market and the medical market.

2)  Smart Retail Cloud. We will further expand SIC’s pharmacy coverage and ~ 2) HEZEZ - ZfBE S BASICHEEEE

the cooperation depth, optimise the function types of SIC, improve the
empowerment level of pharmacy management, further help pharmacies
improve quality and efficiency, increase pharmacies’ dependence on the
SIC system and promote a more stable relationship between the Group and
chain pharmacies, so as to ensure that the Group maintains its leading
position in aspects such as data scale, granularity, coverage and timeliness.
The Group will step up its efforts to promote its two main products,
Lingtong and Yilingtong, and make full use of the Group’s data advantages
and insight capabilities to help customers solve their core problems
and difficulties in scenarios of digital marketing and digital supply chain
management, and provide various professional services such as dynamic
sales, targeted sales activities, brand promotion, to help customers realise
digital transformation in their pharmacy retail sales and improve operating
efficiency.
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Smart Health Management Cloud. According to public available statistics,
the number of physical examinations in China has exceeded 500 million per
year. With the improvement of national health awareness and the trend of
aging population, the number of physical examinations and the demand for
health management will continue to grow, which will create a larger market
space for AI-MDT and supporting health management services. We will
continue to utilise our advantages in data, knowledge and expert network
to provide more in-depth and effective AI-MDT physical examination reports
for the physical examination population. We will also further optimise and
expand product functions, and enter into more cooperation content with
hospitals and physical examination institutions, such as providing product
packages for post-examination service, optimising post-examination
management services and chronic disease management services, S0 as
to meet the needs for post-examination health management of multi-level
population. At the same time, we will accelerate market expansion and
build diversified customer acquisition channels, so that more people can
access Al-MDT to enjoy better health management services.

Smart Medical Cloud. We will continue to expand our business layout,
enhance our data scale and explore more commercial models. The
Group has been operating in the medical sector for many years, and has
established and operated a full-range care service system for patients,
multiple tumor MDT academic platforms and full-course management and
evaluation systems for hospitals. We will integrate existing resources and,
focusing on the goal of “serving as an accelerator for the commercialisation
of innovative pharmaceutical and medical devices”, help innovative
pharmaceutical and medical device companies to effectively connect
patients, doctors and experts in the aspects of program design, intelligent
systems and operational services. Based on the core competence of
Sinohealth-Engine and the network of hospitals and experts accumulated
in the big data platform and the solution sector, and focusing on the full
life-cycle of pharmaceutical and medical devices from clinical development
to post-launch marketing, we provide enterprises with personalised digital
products, including products for IP scientific research collaboration, artificial
intelligence and medical inter-disciplinary research and the R&D of Al
technology-based patient management products, thereby rapidly achieving
the best commercialisation solutions.
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5)  Smart Clinic Cloud. The “Opinions on Further Deepening Reform and

Promoting the Healthy Development of the Rural Medical and Health
System” issued by the State Council of China proposes to support the
construction of county-level hospital facilities and service capabilities,
in order to achieve significant improvement in infrastructure conditions
and gradually popularise intelligent and digital applications for the
prevention and treatment of diseases and the significant improvement in
health management capabilities. With the support of this policy, county-
level outpatient clinics will accelerate their digital transformation and
Woodpecker outpatient clinics may usher in a larger room for growth.

Smart Insurance Cloud. With the continuous expansion of smart health
management, smart medical care, smart clinics and other businesses, it is
expected that the scale of the Group’s medical data, physical examination
data and innovative pharmaceutical and medical device data will achieve
a rapid growth, thus forming a closed-loop healthcare industry database
together with the already leading retail market data, so that the effects of
scale and network can be fully leveraged. As such, the Group is enabled
to develop products and services that can meet the needs of big data
intelligent application for commercial insurance, and provide commercial
insurance institutions with professional SaaS products and supporting
professional services at various aspects such as product design, sales
channels, customer profile and business strategies, thus finally achieving a
closed-loop in the Group’s business of full life-cycle health management at
the insurance service sector.

Under the long-term trend of the dualisation of the healthcare industry and
the rapid development of the digital industry, the Group has ushered in an
unprecedented opportunity to achieve a leapfrog development. We will continue
to explore and practice in the field of healthcare industry services, improve
product quality and professional service capabilities, and provide customers with
multi-level and diversified digital applications and solutions. We are aiming to
establish industry benchmarks and leading capabilities and create a one-stop
service system integrating various scenarios such as “market insight, operation

management, marketing decision-making and marketing activities”,

S0 as to

promote high-quality development of the industry.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

In 2022, the Group’s revenue increased by approximately 10.0% from
approximately RMB324.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 to
approximately RMB356.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2022. In terms
of application scenarios, the revenue growth was mainly due to the increase in
revenue from Smart Retail Cloud and Smart Medical Cloud segments. In terms
of product categories, the revenue growth was mainly due to increased revenue
from Data Insight Solutions.

Cost of Sales

The Group’s cost of sales primarily consisted of (i) staff costs related to our
employee benefits for our employees in relation to the daily operation and
maintenance of our solutions and products; (ii) promotion costs mainly in relation
to our direct sales efforts, marketing campaigns and advertising production
and services for our clients; and (i) event costs mainly relating to venue and
equipment rentals, event planning and organisation services fees, accommodation
and catering costs. The Group’s cost of sales increased by approximately 50.2%
from approximately RMB131.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 to
approximately RMB197.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2022, mainly
due to an increase of cost of sales driven by the growth of the Group’s business.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Due to the increase in cost of sales driven by the business growth of the
Group, the gross profit of the Group decreased by approximately 17.4% from
approximately RMB192.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 to
approximately RMB159.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2022.The
rapidly rising cost of sales led to a decline in gross profit despite of a rising
revenue. As a result, the Group’s gross margin decreased to approximately
44.6% for the year ended 31 December 2022 from approximately 59.4% for the
year ended 31 December 2021.
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Other Income and Gains

Other income and gains primarily consisted of (i) government grants; (i) foreign
exchange gains; (iii) investment income from financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss; and (iv) bank interest income. The Group recorded other
income and gains of approximately RMB37.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2022, representing an increase of approximately 27.7% as compared
to approximately RMB29.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. Such
increase was mainly attributable to (i) the increase in foreign exchange gains
and (i) the increase in interest income, especially due to the proceeds from the
Global Offering.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses mainly consist of (i) employee benefit expenses
for employees responsible for sales and marketing functions; (i) travel and
transportation expenses related to offline marketing campaigns, the development
and maintenance of customer relationship and production of advertising
materials; and (i) general office expenses. Selling and distribution expenses
increased approximately 27.7% to approximately RMB31.7 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022 from approximately RMB24.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2021, mainly attributable to the increase in our sales and
marketing employee numbers.

Administrative Expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses primarily consisted of (i) employee
benefits expenses; (ii) listing expenses and (iii) professional fees. The Group’s
administrative expenses increased by approximately 4.4% from approximately
RMB44.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 to approximately
RMB46.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2022, primarily due to (i) an
increase in employee benefits expenses and (ii) an increase in professional fees
payable to intermediaries such as auditors, legal advisers, compliance adviser
and company secretarial service provider after the Company’s listing, partially
offset by a decrease in listing expenses.

Research and Development Costs

The Group’s research and development costs primarily consisted of (i) employee
benefits expenses; (ii) depreciation of right-of-use assets and (iii) technology
services fees and general office expenses. The Group’s research and development
costs increased by approximately 12.5% from approximately RMB53.7 million for
the year ended 31 December 2021 to approximately RMB60.4 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022, primarily due to an increase in employee benefits
expenses.
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Profit before Tax

With the lower gross profit and the higher expenses, the Group’s profit before
tax declined by approximately 43.0% from approximately RMB95.5 million for the
year ended 31 December 2021 to approximately RMB54.5 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

Income Tax Expense

The Group’s income tax expense decreased by approximately 98.9% from
approximately RMB23.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 to
approximately RMBO0.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2022, primarily
due to (i) a decrease in our profit before tax and (ii) a lower effective tax rate as
the Group enjoyed a reduced tax rate resulted from the successful application
for the recognition as a high and new technology enterprise by Zhongkang
Technology in 2022.

Profit for the Year

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s profit for the year decreased by
approximately 24.7% from approximately RMB72.0 million for the year ended
31 December 2021 to approximately RMB54.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2022.

Non-HKFRS Measure

To supplement the Group’s consolidated financial statements which are
presented in accordance with HKFRS, the Group also presents adjusted net profit
as an additional financial measure, which is not required by, nor presented in
accordance with, HKFRS. The Group presents this additional financial measure as
it is used by the management to evaluate the Group’s financial performance. The
management of the Group also believes that this non-HKFRS measure provides
useful information to investors and others in understanding and evaluating
the Group’s consolidated results of operations in the same manner as the
management and in comparing financial results across accounting years and to
those of the Group’s peer companies.

However, the Group’s presentation of adjusted net profit may not be comparable
to similarly titled measures presented by other companies. The use of this non-
HKFRS measure has limitations as an analytical tool, and one should not consider
it in isolation from, or as a substitute for analysis of, the Group’s results of
operations or financial condition as reported under HKFRS.
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The following table sets forth the reconciliation of the Group’s non-HKFRS
financial measure for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December
2021 presented to the most directly comparable financial measure calculated and
presented in accordance with HKFRS:

TREFMEFNASEEHZE2022F12 5318 %2021
F12A31 BILFERNFES BT SRS LR B K52 H
RESBYBREENFEREN O REZE LK
HEZEEK

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEEFE

2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AR¥ETT
Profit for the Year F &M 54,213 71,978
Add: o
Listing Expenses® FmRAXY 12,056 20,648
Adjusted Net Profit (Non-HKFRS measure) KB L A
GEBEBNBHRELEAGE) 66,269 92,626
Adjusted Net Profit Margin SRR R R
(Non-HKFRS measure) (%) (FEEMBREEAE) (%) 18.6% 28.6%
Note: Wit
(1) Listing expenses were not included in non-HKFRS financial measure. Q) FATE AR AE R MR R R R A .

Liquidity and Capital Resources

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group financed its operations
mainly through cash generated from the Group’s operating activities and the net
proceeds from the Global Offering. The Group intends to continue to finance its
expansion and business operations using a combination of cash generated from
operating activities and the net proceeds from the Global Offering.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Group maintains a strong cash position. For the year ended 31 December
2022, the Group’s total cash and cash equivalents amounted to approximately
RMB409.3 million, representing an increase of approximately 1,105.5% from
31 December 2021. Such increase was mainly due to the net proceeds of the
Company from the Global Offering. As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s cash
and cash equivalents were mainly denominated in RMB.

RBEERERER
BEWRFNANBLEFE  F&ETERBAEE
REEDMERENEREEMGRETFEESLE
B¢  AEEREEFBLEIDMBHEMEIE
EMBREFEARRNERECRHEES -

BEeRBEEZEY
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Borrowings

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any short-
term or long-term bank borrowings and had no outstanding bank and other
borrowings and other indebtedness apart from lease liabilities for the relevant
lease terms amounting to approximately RMB7.1 million in aggregate.

Gearing Ratio

The gearing ratio, which is calculated by dividing total liabilities by total equity,
was 14.9% as at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: approximately
24.3%).

Foreign Currency Risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures and are subject to foreign
currency risk arising from fluctuations in exchange rates between RMB and US$.
As at 31 December 2022, the Group had transactional currency exposures.
Such exposures arose from its cash and cash equivalents in US$. The Group
is currently not engaged in hedging activities that are designed or intended to
manage foreign exchange rate risk. The Group will continue to monitor foreign
exchange activities and make its best efforts to protect the cash value of the
Group.

Charge on Assets
As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not pledge any of its assets.

Cash Flow and Capital Expenditure

In 2022, the Group’s capital expenditures were mainly incurred for the acquisition
of equipment and software and renovation of leased properties, which remained
at a limited level of approximately RMB4.2 million, representing an increase of
approximately 37.0% as compared to the year ended 31 December 2021.

The Group intends to fund future capital expenditures from cash balance, cash
generated from operating activities and proceeds from the Global Offering. The
Group will continue to incur capital expenditures to meet the expected growth of
the business, and may reallocate funds for capital expenditures and long-term
investments based on the Group’s ongoing business needs.

Contingent Liabilities and Guarantees
As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any significant contingent
liabilities, guarantees or any material litigation against the Group.
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Significant Acquisitions or Disposals and Future Plans for
Significant Investments

The Group did not have any significant acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures as at 31 December 2022,

As at 31 December 2022, none of each individual investment held by the Group
constituted 5% or more of the total assets of the Group, and there is no future
plan for any material investment or capital assets.

Employees and Staff Costs

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had a total of 680 (31 December 2021:
624) full time employees, all of whom were located in Mainland China. For
the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recognised staff costs of
approximately RMB145.9 million, representing an increase of approximately
12.8% as compared to the year ended 31 December 2021.

The increase in the number of employees of the Group in 2022 was primarily
due to the Group’s expansion of the solutions and products team and research
and development team in response to the Group’s business needs. As at 31
December 2022, 103, 96 and 159 of the Group’s employees possessed medical
expertise, medicine expertise and computer science expertise, respectively. The
Group’s specialised talents have more than six years’ industrial experience on
average.

The following table sets forth the number of employees by function, and the
percentage of each function to the Group’s total number of employees as at 31
December 2022.
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Function B g A B9 Lt 451
Solutions and Products fRR T RN E MR 249 37%
Research and Development ifrEx 248 36%
Sales and Marketing SHE A& 8 117 17%
General and Administrative TS BT TIR 66 10%
Total BET 680 100%




Sinohealth Holdings Limited A =B A PR A &)
Annual Report 2022 =5 = —FE[F#HE

Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEN®RDN

43

The Group embraces diversity and focuses on equal opportunity during its
recruitment process. The Group also highly values employees and places an
emphasis on the development of employees. In order to advance the skills
and knowledge of employees as well as to explore new potential from within
the Group’s workforce, the Group invests in continuing education and training
programs for the management and other staff members to update their skills and
knowledge periodically. Generally, the Group’s training focuses on operations,
technical knowledge, intellectual property protection and work safety standards.
The Group has also established various internal professional committees working
on a variety of areas such as pharmacy and medicine, data and technology, and
industry development, to promote employees’ professional development and
encourage exchange of information.

The remuneration package of the Group’s employees includes basic salary,
performance bonuses and allowances. The Group determines employee
remuneration based on factors such as competency, performance, qualifications,
expertise and years of experience. The Group typically enters into employment
contracts and confidentiality agreements with its employees.

The Group participates in and makes contributions to housing funds and social
insurance contribution plans organised by the relevant local municipal and
provincial governments, including pension, medical insurance, unemployment
insurance, work-related injury insurance, maternity insurance, and housing fund
plans.

In addition, to provide incentive or reward to eligible persons for their contribution
to, and continuing efforts to promote the interests of the Group, the Company has
adopted the Share Option Scheme and the Share Award Scheme.
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Executive Directors

Mr. Wu Yushu (also known as Wu Han), aged 47, is the founder of the Group.
He is the chairman of the Company (the “Chairman”), the chief executive officer
of the Group (the “Chief Executive Officer”’) and an executive Director. He
was appointed as a Director on 4 March 2019. He currently holds directorship
in each of the subsidiaries of the Group except Guangzhou Kangzhi. He is also
the chairman of the Nomination Committee. Mr. Wu is in charge of the overall
strategic planning and general management and daily operation of the Group.

Mr. Wu has over 20 years of experience in healthcare information and data
analysis industries. Prior to founding Sinohealth Information, the principal
operating subsidiary of the Group, in December 2007, from July 1997 to
December 2007, Mr. Wu served as the general manager of information center
of NMPA Southern Medicine Economic Research Institute (“SMERI”). During his
service period in SMERI, he was also designated as the general manager of the
operating company of Medical and Pharmaceutical Economic Newspaper hosted
by SMERI. Mr. Wu obtained a bachelor's degree in international trade from
Guangdong University of Finance & Economics (formerly known as Guangdong
College of Commerce) in the PRC in June 1997.

Mr. Wu is the spouse of Ms. Wang, the Company’s chief operating officer and
executive Director.

Ms. Wang Lifang, aged 48, is an executive Director and the chief operating
officer of the Group. She was appointed as a Director on 3 June 2021. She
currently holds directorship in Sinohealth Information. She is also a member
of the Remuneration Committee. Ms. Wang is responsible for overseeing the
Group’s daily operation and management.

Ms. Wang has over 20 years of experience in healthcare information and data
analysis industry. From July 1997 to December 2007, Ms. Wang held several
positions, including vice general manager of the operating company of Medical
and Pharmaceutical Economic Newspaper hosted by SMERI and a journalist of the
said newspaper. In December 2008, she joined Sinohealth Information to assist
Mr. Wu in the business development of the Group and has since engaged as the
director and executive general manager responsible for overseeing the Group’s
daily operation management.

Ms. Wang obtained a bachelor’s degree in international economics from Harbin
Institute of Technology in the PRC in July 1997.

Ms. Wang is the spouse of Mr. Wu, the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and
an executive Director.
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Non-Executive Director
Mr. Fu Haitao, aged 42, is a non-executive Director. He was appointed as a
Director on 3 June 2021.

From January 2006 to August 2009, Mr. Fu worked as an officer of the
government affairs department of Sun International Engineering Consulting Co.,
Ltd. (formerly known as Guangzhou Sun Engineering Consulting Co., Ltd), a
company principally engaged in road and piping engineering. Since September
2009, Mr. Fu has been the head of president office of Daxiongfeng Venture
Capital Co., Ltd, which is controlled by Ms. Wu Meirong and her spouse, Mr. Li
Hanxiong.

Mr. Fu obtained a diploma in economics and management from Jinan Army
Academy, an internal military training institute, which was then supervised by the
Jinan Military Region of the Chinese People’s Liberation Army in the PRC in June
2004. Mr. Fu further obtained a diploma in human resource management through
attending long-distance courses from Xidian University in the PRC in January
2019.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wei Bin, aged 53, was appointed as our independent non-executive Director
on 27 April 2022. Mr. Wei is responsible for supervising the management of the
Group and providing independent judgment to the Board. He is also the chairman
of the Audit Committee.

Mr. Wei has over 25 years’ operation and management experience in the
finance and accounting sector in Hong Kong and the PRC as well as in complex
transaction, mergers and acquisitions and business development. In the past
three years, Mr. Wei has been a non-executive director of two companies listed
on the Stock Exchange. From August 2008 to January 2018, he was a non-
executive director of China Resources Cement Holdings Limited (stock code:
1313) and from November 2008 to January 2018, a non-executive director of
China Resources Gas Group Limited (stock code: 1193). Mr. Wei is currently (i)
a non-executive director of Hao Tian International Construction Investment Group
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1341); (ii) an
independent non-executive director of Honghua Group Limited, a company listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 196); (i) an independent director of Huize
Holding Limited, a NASDAQ-listed company (NASDAQ: HUIZ); and (iv) an executive
director and authorized representative of OCI International Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 329).
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Mr. Wei obtained a bachelor’s degree in auditing from Zhongnan University of
Economics and Law (formerly known as Zhongnan University of Finance and
Economics) in the PRC in July 1992. He also obtained a master’s degree in
finance from Jinan University in the PRC in June 2001. Mr. Wei is currently a
senior accountant and a senior auditor in the PRC.

Ms. Wang Danzhou, aged 59, was appointed as our independent non-
executive Director on 27 April 2022. She was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Sinohealth Information from December 2017 to June 2021.
Ms. Wang is responsible for supervising the management of the Group and
providing independent judgment to the Board. She is also the chairperson of the
Remuneration Committee, and a member of the Audit Committee and Nomination
Committee.

Ms. Wang has around 35 years of experience in accounting education. Since
January 1989, Ms. Wang has worked in the department of accounting of Jinan
University, and is currently a professor in the department of accounting of Jinan
University. From July 2009 to July 2021, Ms. Wang served as an independent
non-executive director of Bluedon Information Security Technology Co., Ltd (stock
code: 300297), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. From June
2016 to September 2022, Ms. Wang served as an independent non-executive
director of Guangdong Brandmax Marketing Co., Ltd (stock code: 300805), a
company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. From March 2016 to December
2020, Ms. Wang served as an independent non-executive director of Guangzhou
LBP Medicine Science & Technology Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 688393). Since May 2020, Ms. Wang has served
as an independent non-executive director of Kennede Electronics MFG. Co., Ltd
(stock code: 002723), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

Ms. Wang obtained a bachelor’s degree in accounting and a master’s degree
in administration from Jinan University in the PRC in July 1986 and January
2000, respectively, and a doctor's degree in financial management from the
Southwestern University of Finance and Economics in the PRC in June 2008.

Ms. Du Yilin, aged 38, was appointed as our independent non-executive Director
on 27 April 2022. Ms. Du is responsible for supervising the management of the
Group and providing independent judgment to the Board. She is also a member of
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee.
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From September 2007 to May 2014, Ms. Du worked as a senior auditor at
PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian LLP Guangzhou office. From May 2014 to
April 2016, Ms. Du served as the chief financial officer of Kangze Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd (stock code: 831397), a company listed on the National Equities
Exchange and Quotations. From October 2017 to January 2019, Ms. Du worked
as a project director for healthcare mergers and acquisitions department at
Fosun United Health Insurance Co., Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Fosun
International Limited (stock code: 0656), which is a company listed on the Stock
Exchange. Since January 2019, Ms. Du has served as the chief financial officer
of Guangdong Hemai Hospital Management Co., Ltd.

Ms. Du obtained a bachelor’s degree in accounting from Sun Yat-sen University in
the PRC in June 2007. Ms. Du obtained a master’s degree in health economics
from the University of Queensland in Australia in July 2017. Ms. Du was
admitted as a non-practicing member of The Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants in September 2009 and a certified accountant from the Australian
Society of Certified Practising Accountants in December 2018.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Senior management is comprised of the executive Directors of the Company
(whose biographies are set out above) and the following members:

Ms. Yi Xuhui, aged 51, is the chief financial officer of the Group, the joint
company secretary of the Company and the board secretary of Sinohealth
Information. She joined the Group in March 2020 and is responsible for
overseeing financial and accounting management, internal control and securities
and compliance matters of the Group.
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Ms. Yi has over 20 years of experience in accounting and finance. From October
1998 to September 2001, Ms. Yi served as an auditor at Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu Shanghai Certified Public Accountants Ltd Guangzhou Branch.
From September 2001 to February 2004, Ms. Yi served as a senior auditor at
PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian (Guangzhou office). From February 2004 to
March 2006, Ms. Yi served as accounting manager of SDL Atlas Ltd., which is
principally engaged in provision of testing equipment and solutions. From March
2006 to August 2008, Ms. Yi served as the accounting manager at Danone Yili
Trading (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. From November 2008 to July 2009, she worked
as the chief finance officer of Guangzhou G2 Star Commercial Information
Consulting Company Limited. From July 2009 to September 2013, she served
as the financial manager of the PRC of Intertek Testing Services Shenzhen Ltd.
Guangzhou GDD Branch, which is a subsidiary of Intertek Group Plc, a company
listed on the London Stock Exchange (stock code: iktsy). From June 2014 to
September 2019, Ms. Yi served as a director, chief financial officer and board
secretary of Guangdong Insight Brand Marketing Group Co., Ltd., a company
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 300781).

Ms. Yi obtained a bachelor’s degree in statistics from Jinan University in the PRC
in June 1994. Ms. Yi was admitted as a non-practicing member of The Chinese
Institute of Certified Public Accountants in December 2010.

Mr. Tang Keke, aged 36, is the chief technology officer of the Group. Mr.
Tang joined the Group in April 2017 and is responsible for artificial intelligence
research, data platform development and operation of medical intelligence
department of the Group. Mr. Tang currently holds directorship in Guangzhou
Kangzhi.

From August 2012 to February 2014, Mr. Tang worked as clinical researcher at
SurExam Bio-Tech Co., Ltd, a company listed on the National Equities Exchange
and Quotations (stock code: 430620). From April 2014 to March 2017, he held
positions in two wholly-owned subsidiaries of Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Ltd.,
a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0950), including as an
employee in medical statistics department of Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Hefei) Co.,
Ltd. Guangzhou Branch and the senior manager of clinical data management and
calculation department of Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Guangzhou) Co., Ltd.
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Mr. Tang obtained a bachelor’s degree in prophylaxis from Guangxi Medical
University in the PRC in June 2010 and a master’s degree in public health from
Sun Yat-Sen University in the PRC in June 2012. He is currently in the study for
a PhD in computer application technology from Shenyang Computer Technology
Research Institute of the University of Chinese Academy of Sciences.

Mr. Su Caihua, aged 48, is the chief data officer of the Group and the vice
president of the Group. Mr. Su joined the Group in January 2008 and is
responsible for development of big data and data insight solutions business of
the Group.

From May 2002 to March 2003 and from March 2005 to April 2007, Mr. Su
served as the research director of Guangzhou Shipu Medical and Pharmaceutical
Information Co., Ltd, a company principally engaged in provision of marketing
information consulting service, which was then managed by SMERI prior to its
deregistration in November 2011.

Mr. Su obtained the bachelor’s degree in prophylaxis from Zhejiang University in
the PRC in September 1999.

Mr. Li Junguo, aged 48, is a vice president of the Group. Mr. Li joined the
Group in April 2009 and is responsible for overseeing the sales and marketing
business, industrial resources analysis, exhibition planning and operation, public
relationship and advertisement design of the Group.

From March 2003 to December 2005, Mr. Li served as director of the special
issue department and manager of operating department of the operating company
of the Medical and Pharmaceutical Economic Newspaper hosted by SMERI. Since
September 2020, Mr. Li has served as the independent director of Ruirentang
Medical and Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd, a company principally engaged in the
operation of retail pharmacies.

Mr. Li obtained the bachelor’s degree in history from Beijing Normal University in
the PRC in July 1996.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Yi Xuhui, was appointed as the joint company secretary of the Company on
3 June 2021. Ms. Yi is also the chief financial officer of the Group and the board
secretary of Sinohealth Information. For details of Ms. Yi’s biography, see “Senior
Management” in this section.
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Ms. Zhang Xiao, aged 35, was appointed as the joint company secretary of the
Company on 3 June 2021. Ms. Zhang is an assistant vice president of SWCS
Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited, a professional services provider
specializing in corporate services, and has over ten years of experience in the
corporate secretarial field. Ms. Zhang has been admitted as an associate member
of both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered
Governance Institute in the United Kingdom in 2019. Ms. Zhang obtained a
bachelor’s degree in Computer Science from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong in 2010 and a master’s degree in Corporate Governance from Hong Kong
Metropolitan University in 2018.
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The Board is pleased to present the Group’s annual report and audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted limited
company on 4 March 2019. The Company’s shares were listed on the Stock
Exchange on 12 July 2022 under the stock code 2361.

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS

In the past sixteen years, the Group has successfully grown into the largest
healthcare insight solution provider for the medical products and channels
segment in China. With big data, Al and cloud computing as the core big data
processing technology capabilities and the healthcare industry ecological platform
as the engine for resource consolidation and market transformation, the Group
provides digital and intelligent solutions for the development of out-of-hospital
market of the healthcare industry through Smart Retail Cloud, Smart Decision
Cloud, Smart Health Management Cloud and Smart Medical Cloud.

A list of the principal subsidiaries of the Company together with details of their
incorporation and place of operation, principal activities and issued shares/
registered share capital are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in the
consolidated income statement and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income in this annual report.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s revenue and business review for the year ended 31 December
2022, as well as the discussion and analysis on the Group’s future business
development and the main financial and operating indicators used by the
directors to measure the Group’s performance are set out in the sections headed
“Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” and note
5 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report. The aforesaid
discussion forms part of this Directors’ Report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s business operations and results may be affected by various factors,
some of which are external factors while others are inherent in the Group's
business. The Board is aware that the Group faces various risks, and the major
risks and uncertainties are summarized as follows:

1) A substantial portion of the Group’s revenue was generated from medical
product manufacturer clients. Any slowdown in the growth or significant
reduction in these clients’ demand for healthcare insight solutions may
materially and adversely affect the Group’s business, results of operations
and prospects.

2)  The Group relies on partnering pharmacies to a certain extent to provide
retail and other data. The raw data may be inaccurately recorded,
categorized or synchronized before it is provided to the Group, which may
in turn compromise the quality of the data analysis results.

3) Failure to maintain and expand the Group’s network of partnering
pharmacies could materially and adversely affect the Group’s business,
financial condition and results of operations.

4) If the Group fails to innovate and adapt to rapid developments in big
data, Al and other technologies, the Group’s business may become less
competitive and the future success of the Group may be adversely affected.

5)  Potential design or performance defects in the Group’s big data and
technology infrastructure as well as its solutions and products could
materially and adversely affect the Group’s business, results of operations
and financial performance.
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6) The integrity and reliability of the Group’s technology and information
infrastructure may be subject to interruption and damage and may not
perform as anticipated.

7) If the Group’s data processing programs are or become flawed or
ineffective, the Group’s reputation and business operations may be
materially and adversely affected.

8)  Failure to comply with or adapt to changes in data protection, privacy
and similar laws or introduction of data tax in China may materially and
adversely affect the Group’s business and financial conditions.

However, the above list is not exhaustive. Investors are advised to make their own
judgement or consult their investment advisors before investing in the Shares.

The Company believes that risk management is essential to the Group’s efficient
and effective operation. The Company’s management assists the Board in
evaluating the major risks arising internally and externally from the Group’s
business, including operational risks, financial risks, regulatory risks, etc.
and proactively setting up appropriate risk management and internal control
mechanism which is embedded in daily operation management.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS

Use of Net Proceeds from the Listing

The Company has been listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange since
12 July 2022. The Group received net proceeds (including the partial exercise of
the over-allotment option and after deduction of underwriting commissions and
related costs and expenses) from the Global Offering of approximately HK$339.6
million (the “Net Proceeds”). The Group will continue to utilise the Net Proceeds
as set out in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the
Prospectus.
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The intended application of the Net Proceeds as stated in the Prospectus and
the actual utilisation of the Net Proceeds since the Listing Date and up to 31
December 2022 is set out below:

BETESHEZR2022F12A318 - BRERMAME
HEFERTARRGREFENERS B RN
T

Utilised Net Unutilised Net
Approximate Actual Proceeds as at Proceeds as at  Expected timeling for
percentage of Allocation of 31 December 31 December  the use of the
the Net Proceeds  the Net Proceeds 2022 2022 unutilised Net Proceeds
Ll EIES H2ANE
FRN BREIR 128318 12R318 RHBA
BHEM  FEHETE BEATE HADANRE SENNE
(HKS million) (HKS million) (HKS million)
Planned Use of Net Proceeds FEREREHERE (AE%R) (BE%R) (BB#ER)
Ungrade and enhance SeaS products FEREASER 50.8% 1725 45 168.0° By 31 December 2025
200512331 AL
Conduct further research and development of HEAEENHTR 49.2% 167.1 30 164.1 By 31 December 2025
the Group's technology and data warehouse PEREEE- IS 025512 A31 A
Totel aif 100% 3056 75 kAl

From the listing date until 31 December 2022, the net proceeds have been and
will be used in accordance with the purposes set out in the Prospectus, and there
has been no material change or delay in the use of the net proceeds.

DIVIDEND

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK$3.98 cents
per Share to Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of
the Company at the close of business on Wednesday, 28 June 2023. Subject
to the approval of Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company, it is expected that the final dividend will be payable on or around
Tuesday, 25 July 2023. No shareholder has waived or agreed to waive any
dividend for the financial year ended 31 December 2022.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the changes in reserves of the Group and the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and note 36 to the consolidated financial statements in this
annual report. As at 31 December 2022, the Company’s distributable reserves
calculated in accordance with the Cayman Companies Act include share premium
accounts and other reserves, totaling approximately RMB506.0 million (2021:
approximately RMB181.3 million).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the changes in property, plant and equipment of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the changes in share capital of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2022 are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements in
this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and to the
best knowledge the Directors, the public float of the Company has satisfied the
percentage prescribed in the Listing Rules as at the date of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Board is aware, the Group has complied in all material aspects with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group,
and has obtained all important licenses, approvals and permits from relevant
regulatory authorities for the Group’s operations in the PRC. For the year ended
31 December 2022, there was no material breach of, or non-compliance with,
applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

LITIGATION
No litigation or claim of material importance is pending or threatened against any
member of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.

SUBSIDIARIES
Details of the subsidiaries of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022
are set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

LOANS AND BORROWINGS
For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any outstanding
bank loans and other borrowings.

OUTLOOK

A description of the future business development of the Group is set out in the
sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association and
the relevant laws of Cayman Islands where the Company was incorporated, and
there is no restriction against such rights which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing Shareholders.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION
The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

DEBENTURES IN ISSUE
For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group did not issue any debentures.

SIGNIFICANT RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS
Employees

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group had a total number of 680
employees. During the Reporting Period, relationship between the Company and
the employees remained stable. The Company did not experience any strikes
or other labor disputes which would have material impact on the business
activities of the Company. The Group embraces its employees as the most
valuable assets of the Group. The objective of the Group’s human resources
management is to reward and recognize outstanding employees by providing
competitive remuneration packages and implementing a sound performance
appraisal system with appropriate incentives, and to promote career development
and progression within the Group by providing robust internal training and
opportunities. In particular, to strengthen and sustain its technology innovation,
the Group will continue to attract, train and retain more talent in technology,
research and development. New talent will continue to support its technology and
will be offered advancement through on-the-job training programs and promotion
opportunities.

Major Suppliers

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 58.2% of the Group’s total purchases, and the
Group’s largest supplier accounted for approximately 44.8% of the Group’s total
purchases.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, none of the Directors or any of their
close associates or any Shareholders (who or which, to the knowledge of the
Directors, held more than 5% of the number of issued Shares of the Company)
had any interest in the Group’s five largest suppliers.

Major Customers

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for approximately 22.8% of the Group’s total revenue and the Group’s
largest customer accounted for approximately 5.7% of the Group’s total revenue.

HERR
EEL OB EARERREADT
HES -

CRITHNERESR
HE202F12A3BILEE -
BEE o

EEEEIRE L)

AEEYRBTENE

HFBZEEENEERRZR
3=
BZE202F12A30BILEE  AEEAFTEEHFC80A

BT - RBEHN ARARETNHRBERIERE -
ARAYELEEAHAANEBZDENEATE
BIHMSE TS AREREEERAKER
BENEBE - AREANEREEMNARARBRHN
ABEFNNFMEERERRRORRFGER (HF
BERE) RBRAAGELES - BRRHTENAE
BIIRBERERERRRAEEAMER - Eﬁ
E o RNBRESEMAE  AREREERS
LD %E%HW&W%AT°%AAT%%%§%
HEM S RatERRRE RETHENRGES -

il

TEMER

BE02F12ANBIUTFE  ASEAREEFGEA
EERBAELN58.2%  AEERAREHEAEER
BBABREA44.8% o

BE02F1ANAULFE  EZREHAMNETHE
ASEARE (REZHA - BERABEBITROE
BiBBE5%) BENASEE R ARERHHES TMER -

FEEF
EZ2022F128318 58 - KEERAARFPHAE
Bl AK228%  MAEBZARFHAERRKA
#15.7% °



Sinohealth Holdings Limited A 2B AR A &)
Annual Report 2022 =5 = —FE[F#HE

Directors’ Report
EZERE

57

For the year ended 31 December 2022, none of the Directors, their close
associates or any Shareholders of the Company (who or which, to the knowledge
of the Directors, held more than 5% of the number of issued Shares of the
Company) had any interest in any of the Group’s top five customers suppliers.

Shareholders

The Group recognizes the importance of protecting the interests of Shareholders
and of having effective communication with them. The Group believes that
the communication with Shareholders is a two-way process and have thrived
to ensure the quality and effectiveness of information disclosure, maintain
regular dialogue with Shareholders and listen carefully to the views and
feedback from Shareholders. The above aim has been achieved through general
meetings, corporate communications, interim and annual reports and results
announcements.

DIRECTOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee for reviewing the
Group’s remuneration policy and structure for the remuneration of Directors
and senior management of the Group. The remuneration is recommended or
determined based on each Director’s and senior management personnel’s
qualification, position and seniority. As for the non-executive Directors, their
remuneration is determined by the Board upon recommendation from the
Remuneration Committee. Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the
five highest paid individuals are set out in note 8 and note 9 to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, none of the Directors has waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration, and no remuneration was paid by the Group
to any of the Directors as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office.

SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEMES
The Company has also adopted a Share Option Scheme and a restricted Share
Award Scheme.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme by way of a written resolution
passed by all the then Shareholders on 27 April 2022, a summary of its key
terms is as follows:

Purpose of the Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide incentive or reward to
eligible persons for their contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote the
interests of, the Group and for such other purposes as the Board may approve
from time to time.

Participants of the Scheme

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, offer eligible persons (being any
director or employee (whether full time or part time), consultant or advisor of
the Group who in the sole discretion of the Board has contributed to and/or will
contribute to the Group) to subscribe for such number of Shares in accordance
with the terms of the Share Option Scheme.

Maximum number of Shares

Unless approved by the Shareholders, the maximum number of the Shares
issuable upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme, new Scheme and all other schemes of the Company then existing must
not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue as at the
Listing Date i.e. 45,000,000 Shares, accounting for 9.96% of the total number of
issued Shares as at the date of this annual report. Subject to the Shareholders’
approval at the general meeting from time to time, the Scheme Mandate Limited
may be refreshed, but the Scheme Mandate Limited so refreshed shall not
exceed 10% of the total number of issued Shares as at the date of Shareholders’
approval of the refreshment at the general meeting. The maximum aggregate
number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any other schemes, must
not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the total number of Shares in issue from time
to time. Notwithstanding any breach of the terms of the Scheme, no option may
be granted under the Scheme or any other schemes if the grant of any option
would result in the above 30% limit being exceeded.
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Maximum entitlement of a grantee

Unless approved by the Shareholders, no option may be granted to any Eligible
Participant which, if exercised in full, would result in the total number of Shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options already granted or to be
granted to such Eligible Participant under the Scheme (including exercised,
cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month period up to and including
the date of such grant exceeding 1% in aggregate of the Shares in issue as at
the date of such grant.

Price of Shares

The subscription price for a Share in respect of any particular option granted
under the Share Option Scheme (which shall be payable upon exercise of the
option) shall be a price solely determined by the Board and notified to all eligible
person and shall be at least the highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of offer to grant
option (the “Offer Date”), which must be a business day; (ii) the average of the
closing prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet for the five business days immediately preceding the date of offer to grant
option (provided that the new issue price shall be used as the closing price for
any business day falling within the period before the listing Shares where our
Company has been listed for less than five business days as at the Offer Date);
and (iii) the nominal value of the Share. A consideration of RMB1.00 is payable
on acceptance of the offer of an option or options.

Rights are personal to grantee

An option is personal to the grantee and shall not be assignable nor transferable,
and no grantee shall in any way sell, transfer, charge, mortgage, encumber
or create any interest (legal or beneficial) in favor of any third party over or in
relation to any option.

Time of exercise of option

Subject to the provisions of the Listing Rules and other applicable laws and
regulations, the Board may in its absolute discretion when offering the grant of
an option impose any conditions, restrictions or limitations in relation thereto in
addition to those set forth in the Share Option Scheme as the Board may think
fit (to be stated in the offer letter) including (without prejudice to the generality
of the foregoing) qualifying and/or continuing eligibility criteria, conditions,
restrictions or limitations relating to the achievement of performance, operating
or financial targets by our Company and/or the grantee, the satisfactory
performance or maintenance by the grantee of certain conditions or obligations
or the time or period before the right to exercise the option in respect of all or
any of the Shares shall vest provided that such terms or conditions shall not be
inconsistent with any other terms or conditions of the Share Option Scheme. For
the avoidance of doubt, subject to such terms and conditions as the Board may
determine as aforesaid (including such terms and conditions in relation to their
vesting, exercise or otherwise) there is no minimum period for which an option
must be held before it can be exercised and no performance target which need
to be achieved by the grantee before the option can be exercised.
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The date of grant of any particular option is the date on which the offer relating
to such option is duly accepted by the grantee in accordance with the Share
Option Scheme. An option may be exercised according to the terms of the Share
Option Scheme and the offer in whole or in part by the grantee (or his personal
representatives) before its expiry by giving notice in writing to our Company
stating that the option is to be exercised and the number of Shares in respect
of which it is exercised provided that the number of Shares shall be equal to the
size of a board lot for dealing in Shares on the Stock Exchange or an integral
multiple thereof. Such notice must be accompanied by a remittance for the full
amount of the subscription price for the Shares in respect of which the notice is
given. The period during which an option may be exercised will be determined by
the Board at its absolute discretion, save that no option may be exercised more
than ten years from the date of grant. No option may be granted more than ten
years after the date of approval of the Share Option Scheme. Subject to earlier
termination by the Company in general meeting, the Share Option Scheme shall
be valid and effective for a period of ten years from the date of adoption of
the Share Option Scheme by Shareholders by resolution at a general meeting.
Therefore, as at 31 December 2022, the remaining term of the Share Option
Scheme is approximately nine years.

From the Listing Date to 31 December 2022, no options were granted by the
Company, nor any options were exercised, canceled or lapsed under the Share
Option Scheme, and there were no outstanding options under the Share Option
Scheme as at the above date. Therefore, as at the Listing Date and 31 December
2022, the total number of Shares that may be issued pursuant to the share
options granted or to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and all other
share incentive schemes was 45,000,000 Shares, accounting for approximately
10% and approximately 9.96% of the issued share capital as at the Listing Date
and 31 December 2022, respectively.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted the Share Award Scheme on 5 December 2022. The
principal terms of the Share Award Scheme are set out as follows:

Purposes and objectives of the Share Aware Scheme

(i) To recognise the contributions by certain Eligible Participants and to provide
them with incentives in order to retain them for the continual operation and
development of the Group; and (ii) to attract suitable personnel for further
development of the Group.
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Eligible Participants

Eligible Participants include: (i) any employees of the Group; (i) any employees
of the holding companies, fellow subsidiaries or associated companies of the
Company; and (i) any persons who provide services to any members of the
Group on a continuing or recurring basis in its ordinary and usual course of
business which are in the interests of the long-term growth of the Group,
provided any such Eligible Participant is not a connected person of the Group.
Although the Share Award Scheme allows the granting of awards to non-
employees, the Company currently has no intention to grant any award to non-
employee participants.

Duration

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the Board, the Share
Aware Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term of ten years commencing
on the adoption date, after which no further awards will be granted. Therefore,
as at 31 December 2022, the remaining term of the Share Award Scheme is
approximately 10 years.

Administration
The Share Award Scheme is subject to the administration of the Board and the
Trustee in accordance with the Scheme Rules and the Trust Deed.

To the extent permissible under the Listing Rules and other applicable laws
and regulations, the Board may resolve to delegate to another committee of the
Board or to one or more officers of the Company any or all of the authority and
responsibility of the Board under the Scheme Rules and the Trust Deed.

The Board may from time to time cause to be paid a contributed amount to the
Trust which shall constitute part of the trust fund, for the purchase of Shares and
other purposes set out in the Scheme Rules and the Trust Deed. The grant of
awards would not cause any dilution of shareholding to any Shareholders.

Scheme Limit and Individual Sublimit

The Board shall not make any further grant of award such that the total number
of Shares granted under the Share Award Scheme will exceed 10% of the total
number of issued Shares as of the adoption date. On the basis that the total
number of issued Shares as of the adoption date is 451,770,000 Shares, the
aforesaid 10% limit represents a total of 45,177,000 Shares.
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The maximum number of options or awards to a selected participant under the
Share Award Scheme and any other share option schemes and share award
schemes of the Company, which would result in the Shares issued and to be
issued in respect of all options and awards granted to such person (excluding
any options and awards lapsed in accordance with the terms of the respective
scheme(s)), shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company in
any twelve-month period.

The aforesaid limits shall always be subject to the compliance with the
Listing Rules that are in force from time to time, including the requirement on
maintaining a minimum public float.

Vesting

Subject to the terms and conditions of the Scheme Rules and the fulfillment of
all vesting conditions to the vesting of the awarded Shares on such selected
participant as specified in the Share Award Scheme and the relevant grant
instrument, the awarded Shares held by the Trustee on behalf of the selected
participant shall vest in such selected participant in accordance with the
applicable vesting schedule, and the Trustee shall cause the awarded Shares
to be transferred to such selected participant in accordance with the terms of
Scheme Rules. Where a selected participant subsequently becomes a connected
person of the Company prior to vesting of the award, vesting of the award will be
subject to compliance by the Company of requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules, where applicable, and the Remuneration Committee of the Board
shall have absolute discretion to alter the vesting of or terminate such award
where such requirements would, in the opinion of the Remuneration Committee
of the Board, be burdensome on the Company.

Voting rights

No instructions shall be given by a selected participant (including, without
limitation, voting rights) to the Trustee in respect of the awarded Shares that
have not been vested, and such other properties of the Trust Fund managed by
the Trustee. The Trustee shall abstain from exercising the voting rights in respect
of any Shares held directly or indirectly by it under the Trust (if any) (including but
not limited to the awarded Shares, any bonus Shares and scrip Shares derived
therefrom).

Purchasing Shares pursuant to the Restricted Share Award Scheme
Since 5 December 2022 and up to 31 December 2022, the Trustee, as
instructed by the Board, purchased a total of 20,585,500 Shares on the market,
representing approximately 4.6% of the total number of Shares of the Company
in issue. The Trustee holds these Shares in accordance with to the Scheme Rules
and the Trust Deed.
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On 5 December 2022, the Company appointed Futu Trustee Limited as the
Trustee for the Share Award Scheme. Futu Trustee Limited is a trust company
registered under section 78(1) of the Trustee Ordinance (Chapter 29 of the Laws
of Hong Kong). It is a third party independent of and not connected with the
Company and/or any of its connected persons.

From 5 December 2022 to 31 December 2022, no award was granted by the
Company, nor any award was exercised, canceled or lapsed under the Share
Award Scheme, and there was no award outstanding under the Share Award
Scheme as at the above date. Therefore, as at 5 December 2022 and 31
December 2022, the total number of Shares that may be issued pursuant to the
share awards to be granted under the Share Award Scheme was 45,177,000
Shares, accounting for approximately 10% of the issued share capital as at 31
December 2022.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

Due to the nature of the Group’s business, the Group is not subject to any health,
safety or environmental risks that could have any material impact on the Group’s
financial condition or business operations under the relevant environmental laws
and regulations applicable to the Group’s business and operations. The Group
is committed to fulfilling social responsibility, promoting employee benefits and
development, protecting the environment and giving back to community and
achieving sustainable growth. For details, please refer to the section headed “ESG
Report” in this annual report.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report
were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Wu Yushu (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Wang Lifang (Chief Operating Officer)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Fu Haitao

Independent Non-executive Directors
Ms. Wang Danzhou

Ms. Du Yilin

Mr. Wei Bin

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management members are
set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” in this annual
report.

SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT OF
DIRECTORS

Each of the Company’s executive Directors entered into a service contract
with the Company, and each of the Company’s non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors have signed letters of appointment with
the Company. The service contracts with each of the executive Directors and
the letters of appointment with each of the non-executive Directors and the
independent non-executive directors are for an initial fixed term of three years
commencing from 27 April 2022 in the case of the executive Directors and from
the Listing Date in the case of the non-executive Directors and the independent
non-executive Directors. The service contracts and letters of appointment may be
terminated in accordance with the respective terms thereof. The service contracts
may be renewed in accordance with the Articles of Association and the Listing
Rules.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a
service contract or a letter of appointment with the Company or any member of
the Group which is not determinable by the employer within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

In accordance with article 108 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Wu Yushu and
Mr. Fu Haitao shall retire by rotation at the AGM and they being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the AGM.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors
an annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules, and considers all of the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent in accordance with the guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Changes in information of the Directors and senior management during the
Reporting Period are as follows:

Due to work arrangements, Mr. Zhuang Weijin resigned from the position of vice
president of the Company with effect from 1 October 2022, and will continue to
hold other positions in the Group after resignation.

Pursuant to the disclosure requirement under Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules,
the changes in information of Directors are as follows:

Ms. Wang Danzhou, an independent non-executive Director, ceased to serve as
an independent non-executive director of Guangdong Brandmax Marketing Co.,
Ltd., a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 300805), in
September 2022.

Save as disclosed above, since the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual
report, there was no other information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had a total of 680 employees, including 248
research and development personnel, accounting for more than 36% of the total
number of employees. The Directors believe that effective talent management
is the foundation for the sustainable and successful development of the Group.
The Group greatly values its employees and will continue to attract, cultivate
and retain talents. The Group has a comprehensive remuneration and welfare
system as required by laws and an effective performance appraisal system,
and determines salary increases, bonuses and promotions of employees based
on their positions and performance. The Group’s remuneration policies seek to
provide fair market remuneration in form and value to attract, retain and motivate
high quality staff. Remuneration packages are set at comparable and competitive
levels with other companies in the industry and the market to compete for
a similar talent pool. In addition, the Company has adopted share incentive
schemes including the Share Option Scheme and the Share Award Scheme to
incentivize employees and senior management and to align their interests with
that of the Company, details of which are set out in this sections headed “Share
Option Scheme” and “Share Award Scheme” in this annual report.

Employees of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are required to participate in a
defined contribution retirement scheme administered and operated by the local
municipal government. The Group’s PRC subsidiaries contributes funds which
are calculated on certain percentages of the average employee salary as agreed
by the local municipal government to the scheme to fund the retirement benefits
of the employees. The Group has no other material obligation for the payment of
retirement benefits associated with the scheme beyond the annual contributions
described above. All contributions to the defined contribution retirement scheme
are recognised as an expense in profit or loss when the employees’ services
are rendered and become due according to related regulations. With respect to
the defined contribution retirement scheme, employers may not use forfeited
contributions to reduce existing contribution levels.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directors and
chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO), which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFQ), or recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, or notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
under the Model Code, were as follows:

EERBETBRAESRKS - HE
RO REER 2 ERERE

BE202F12A31H  EERARBRETRAER
ERRHEREEE (FEREHFLAEHEHIENVE)
KRG - HERNY REEBFEENRERSFLEE
GEHIEXVEETRESDBNMG AR KB R AT E R
kAR (BEREES MBS EISHECEEESIER
BENERRAR)  IBEEHFLIERAEL2HE
ARAGFENELMATCHENERE AR @ REE
ETAHNEARARBIAMZERIARINT

Long Positions of Shares BAEE
Approximate
percentage of
Number of interest in
Name of Director or chief executive Capacity/Nature of interest Shares Total the Company®
N ERRTH
BEERES a5 EHEEN
THAEHR ERtE gvi == st ERag4t
Mr. Wu Yushu® Interest of controlled corporation
REF LD REEEE R 248,737,500
Interest of spouse
[ EE X 20,250,000
268,987,500 59.54%
Ms. Wang Lifang® Interest of controlled corporation
FHRIF @ R EE R 87,750,000
Interest of spouse
[ EE X 181,237,500
268,987,500 59.54%
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Notes:

1. The calculation is based on the total number of 451,770,000 Shares in issue as at 31
December 2022.

2. Mr. Wu and Ms. Wang are the spouse of each other, and are deemed to be interested in the
Shares beneficially owned by each other. Mr. Wu wholly owns Wellmark Link Limited and is
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Wellmark Link Limited. Ms. Wang wholly owns
WLF Investment Holdings Limited and is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by WLF
Investment Holdings Limited. Wellmark Link Limited is the general partner of Rikan Industry
Investment Limited Partnership and Ms. Wang, through WLF Investment Holdings Limited,
holds approximately 62.8866% interests in Rikan Industry Investment Limited Partnership.
They are deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Rikan Industry Investment Limited
Partnership.

Save as disclosed above, so far as the Directors are aware, as at the date of
this annual report, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company had
any interest or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures
of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which were required to be (i) notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFQO), or (ii) entered in the register kept by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or (iii) notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange under the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2022, the following persons (other than the Directors and
chief executive of the Company) had an interest or short position in the Shares
and underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company, pursuant to section
336 of the SFO:

Bt

1. #HZE2022912 A31 B2 #1715 £ $451,770,000 4%
n“‘;— °©
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Holdings Limited * ##4% &K WLF Investment Holdings
LimitedFEMBRGO TR HEE T - REBRAAA
Rikan Industry Investment Limited PartnershipyZ @& #
A v i EZEFEBWLF Investment Holdings Limited+5 45
Rikan Industry Investment Limited Partnership#762.8866%
TS o EW 8 AR Rikan Industry Investment Limited
Partnership$§ 8 R IR () P HEE fE e ©
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Long Position in the Shares BRGHR
Approximate
percentage of
Number of interest in
Name Capacity/Nature of interest Shares Total the Company®
RSN
RN
wE S EB B EmME ROEE et BoEO
Wellmark Link Limited @ Beneficial owner
BERRAFC BEEERA 181,237,500
Interest of controlled corporation
R LB 67,500,000
248,737,500 55.06%
WLF Investment Holdings Limited® Beneficial owner
BEEEBA 20,250,000
Interest of controlled corporation
R LB 67,500,000
87,750,000 19.42%
Rikan Industry Investment
Limited Partnership® Beneficial owner
BEREAA 67,500,000 14.94%
Montesy Capital Holding Ltd® Beneficial owner
EnEAA 68,512,500 15.17%
Ms. Wu Meirong® Interest of spouse
REBRLLO [T 68,512,500 15.17%
Mr. Li Hanxiong® Interest of controlled corporation
FRERED REEEER 68,512,500 15.17%
Mr. Yu Rong® Interest of controlled corporation
AVE A REEEER 35,735,250 7.91%
Shanghai Tianyi Assets
Management Co., Ltd® Interest of controlled corporation
FBREEEERARAR XL 35,735,250 7.91%
Shanghai Xuanyu Enterprise
Management Co., Ltd® Interest of controlled corporation
EESHREXERFR AR e SE 29,117,625 6.45%
Tianyi (BVI) Limited® Beneficial owner

BEmEA A 29,117,625 6.45%
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Notes:

1.

The calculation is based on the total number of 451,770,000 Shares in issue as at 31
December 2022.

Mr. Wu and Ms. Wang are the spouse of each other, and are deemed to be interested in the
Shares beneficially owned by each other. Mr. Wu wholly owns Wellmark Link Limited and is
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Wellmark Link Limited. Ms. Wang wholly owns
WLF Investment Holdings Limited and is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by WLF
Investment Holdings Limited. Wellmark Link Limited is the general partner of Rikan Industry
Investment Limited Partnership and Ms. Wang, through WLF Investment Holdings Limited,
holds approximately 62.8866% interests in Rikan Industry Investment Limited Partnership.
They are deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Rikan Industry Investment Limited
Partnership.

Montesy Capital Holding Ltd is owned by Mr. Li Hanxiong and Ms. Wu Meirong as to 70%
and 30%, respectively. Mr. Li Hanxiong and Ms. Wu Meirong are the spouse of each other,
and are therefore deemed to be interested in any Shares in which one another is interested.
Therefore, both Mr. Li Hanxiong and Ms. Wu Meirong are deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by Montesy Capital Holding Ltd.

Tianyi (BVI) Limited and Jiequan Zhongwei Tengyun Limited are controlled by Shanghai
Tianyi Assets Management Co., Ltd as explained below. Therefore, Shanghai Tianyi Assets
Management Co., Ltd is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Tianyi (BVI) Limited
and Jiequan Zhongwei Tengyun Limited. Shanghai Tianyi Assets Management Co., Ltd is
in turn owned as to 70% by Mr. Yu Rong (B74&). Therefore, Mr. Yu Rong is deemed to be
interested in the Shares in which Shanghai Tianyi Assets Management Co., Ltd is deemed
to be interested. Tianyi (BVI) Limited is wholly owned by Shanghai Xuanyu Enterprise
Management Co., Ltd. (/& BE%ERBRAF), which is in turn wholly owned
by Shanghai Tianyi Assets Management Co., Ltd. Therefore, each of Shanghai Xuanyu
Enterprise Management Co., Ltd. (E/8#E%¥ZEIEHRR/AR)) and Shanghai Tianyi
Assets Management Co., Ltd is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Tianyi (BVI)
Limited. Jiequan Zhongwei Tengyun Limited is wholly owned by Shanghai Hongyi Enterprise
Management Center (Limited Partnership) (L /&8 EMEE R P O(BRA E)), the sole
general partner of which is Jiangsu Zhongwei Tengyun Chuangye Investment Management
Co., Ltd (TR & Z el %% & B IR AR A F)) holding 8.7% interests, which is in turn
controlled by Shanghai Tianyi Assets Management Co., Ltd as to 80%, and the remaining
limited partner of which is Jiangsu Jiequan Zhongwei Tengyun Pharmaceutical Industrial
Investment Fund (LLP) (IHERTHREBERFEXRELS(BARER))
holding 91.3% interests. The sole general partner of Jiangsu Jiequan Zhongwei Tengyun
Pharmaceutical Industrial Investment Fund (LLP) (T#FE R R AT E B B2 FEEIRE
& (HRA ) is Jiangsu Zhongwei Tengyun Chuangye Investment Management Co., Ltd
(L& T AT A 218 & B2 AR A 7)) holding 1% interests, which is in turn controlled
by Shanghai Tianyi Assets Management Co., Ltd. Therefore, since Jiequan Zhongwei
Tengyun Limited is controlled as to 80% by Shanghai Tianyi Assets Management Co., Ltd,
Shanghai Tianyi Assets Management Co., Ltd is deemed to be interested in the Shares held
by Jiequan Zhongwei Tengyun Limited as at 31 December 2022.

Save as disclosed above, to the knowledge of the Directors, as at 31 December
2022, there is no other person (excluding the Directors and chief executives of
the Company) has interests or short positions as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO in the Shares and
underlying Shares.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Since the Listing Date and up to 31 December 2022, none of the Directors or
their respective associates had engaged in or had any interest in any business
which competes or may compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business
of the Group under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE
Since the Listing Date and up to 31 December 2022, none of the Directors or
entities connected to the Directors was materially interested, whether directly or
indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the applicable laws and
regulations, every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of
the Company against all losses or legal liabilities incurred or sustained by him/her
as a Director in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which
judgement is given in his/her favour, or in which he/she is acquitted.

The above permitted indemnity provisions have come to force during the
Reporting Period. The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for the
Directors in connection with the discharge of their responsibilities.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had not entered into any contract with
any individual, firm or body corporate to manage or administer the whole or any
substantial part of any business of the Group.

CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed in the sections relating to Contractual Arrangements in this
annual report, no contract of significance or contract of significance for the
provision of services has been entered into among the Company or any of its
subsidiaries and the Controlling Shareholders or any of their subsidiaries during
the period from the Listing Date and up to 31 December 2022.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group has entered into the following connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions as at 31 December 2022:

Connected Transactions
As at 31 December 2022, the Company had no one-off connected transactions
which were required to be disclosed under the Listing Rules.
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Continuing Connected Transactions
The following transactions of the Group constituted continuing connected
transactions for the Company as at 31 December 2022,

The Group provides four types of business solutions to meet the different needs
of health industry platform participants. The solutions are Smart Retail Cloud,
Smart Decision Cloud, Smart Health Management Cloud and Smart Medical Cloud.
The subsidiaries of the Group are engaged in (i) the production and publication
of videos; (i) the provision of internet information services; (i) the provision of
internet data center services (including internet resources cooperation services);
and (iv) foreign-related market research business in the course of their business
operations, which must comply with foreign investment restrictions (collectively
the “Restricted Business”), as well as other businesses other than Restricted
Businesses, including precision marketing solutions under the business segments
of Smart Retail Cloud and Smart Decision Cloud and consulting and marketing
services under the business segment of Smart Medical Cloud, which do not
include the provision of internet information services that require a value-added
telecommunications business license or other Restricted Businesses that are not
subject to any restrictions under foreign investment restrictions (the “Non-restricted
Businesses”).

Sinohealth Information currently holds the relevant licenses required to provide
the aforesaid services and operate the aforesaid businesses, including the Radio
and Television Program Production and Business Operation License, Value-added
Telecommunications and Information Service Business Operation License (“ICP
License”), Internet Data Center Services License (covering internet resources
cooperation services) (‘IDC License”) and Foreign-related Research License
(“Foreign-related Research License”). Guangzhou Jiasi Information Technology
Company Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Sinohealth Information, holds the
Value-added Telecommunications and ICP License required for the development
of internet information services subject to foreign investment restrictions.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the revenue contributed by all of the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the Group accounted for approximately 4.3% of
the total revenue of the Group, and the total assets of the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities in aggregate represented approximately 27.9% of the total assets of the
Group.

The Board and the Audit Committee have reviewed the remaining Non-restricted
Businesses of all Consolidated Affiliated Entities of the Group and confirmed that:

1) Zhongkang Technology has entered into new contracts with the Group’s
customers for Non-restricted Business; and

2)  For the year ended 31 December 2022, the proportion of the revenue
from the remaining Non-restricted Businesses of all Consolidated Affiliated
Entities to the Group’s revenue was less than 5%.

The Company will continue to evaluate and update the completion status of the
remaining Non-restricted Businesses of all Consolidated Affiliated Entities of the
Group in order to meet the expectations of stakeholders and comply with the
applicable regulatory requirements.
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As the businesses carried out by the Consolidated Affiliated Entities are subject
to foreign investment restrictions and/or prohibitions, the Company does not
directly own any equity interests in the Consolidated Affiliated Entities. Sinohealth
Information is held as to 89.95% by Mr. Wu Yushu and 10.05% by Ms. Wang
Lifang. Guangzhou Jiasi Information Technology Company Limited is wholly
owned by Sinohealth Information. In order to comply with the relevant PRC laws
and regulations and to be in line with common practice in the PRC for industries
subject to foreign investment restrictions, while availing the Group of international
capital markets and maintaining effective control over all of the Group’s
operations, on 8 June 2021 and 6 May 2022, the Company, through Zhongkang
Technology, entered into a series of Contractual Arrangements with Sinohealth
Information and its subsidiaries, the VIE Shareholders and/or the Other VIE
Shareholders, as applicable, whereby Zhongkang Technology acquired effective
control over the financial and operational policies of the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities and has become entitled to all the economic benefits derived from
their operations, which the Group is entitled to by virtue of the equity interests
it holds. As a result, the Company does not directly own any equity interest in
the Consolidated Affiliated Entities. The Contractual Arrangements include the
following agreements (all of which are defined below): (i) Business Cooperation
Agreements, (i) Exclusive Option Agreements, (iii) Equity Pledge Agreements, and
(iv) Voting Rights Proxy Agreements.

The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of all economic benefits
which the Group is entitled to by virtue of the equity interests it holds from the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the Group stipulated under the Contractual
Arrangements:
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Zhongkang Technology controls the VIE Shareholders through:

R ERERIEE B IAT 77 S I A 2 7 25 B B AR

(1) powers of attorney of the VIE Shareholders and Sinohealth Information to exercise
all the shareholders’ rights in Sinohealth Information and its subsidiaries, respectively;
DRRITTREREEAREMBRRMERRENNAIZMNREBRR LT EEMNRES,
(2) exclusive options to acquire and equity entrustment on all or part of
the equity interest in and/or assets of Sinohealth Information and its subsidiaries; and
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(8) equity pledges over the entire equity interest in Sinohealth Information
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(1) As at 31 December 2022, the VIE Shareholders were Mr. Wu Yushu and Ms. Wang Lifang,
who held 89.95% and 10.05% interests in Sinohealth Information, respectively.

(2) The Other VIE Shareholders have also entered into the Contractual Arrangements to facilitate
the performance of the obligations of the subsidiaries of Sinohealth Information under certain
agreements underlying the Contractual Arrangements.

Mr. Wu Yushu and Ms. Wang Lifang are the Controlling Shareholders and
executive Directors of the Company, so they are both connected persons of
the Company according to Rule 14A.07(1) of the Listing Rules. Since Mr. Wu
Yushu and Ms. Wang Lifang hold 89.95% and 10.05% of the equity interests in
Sinohealth Information, respectively, according to Rule 14A.07(4) of the Listing
Rules, Sinohealth Information and its subsidiaries are related parties of Mr. Wu
Yushu and Ms. Wang Lifang and the Company’s connected persons. Therefore,
the transactions under the Contractual Arrangements constitute continuing
connected transactions of the Company under the Listing Rules.

A description of each of the specific agreements comprising the Contractual
Arrangements is set out below.

Business Cooperation Agreements

Pursuant to the business cooperation agreements dated 8 June 2021 and
6 May 2022 entered into by Zhongkang Technology, Sinohealth Information
and its subsidiaries, and the VIE Shareholders (the “Business Cooperation
Agreements”), Sinohealth Information and its subsidiaries agreed to engage
Zhongkang Technology as its exclusive provider of technical support,
consultation, intellectual property licensing and other services, including (1) asset
and business management consultation; (2) human resources consultation; (3)
marketing consultation and development; (4) business advertising support; (5)
technical services and network support; (6) solutions relating to value-added
telecommunication and radio and television program production businesses;
(7) service quality control support; (8) system integration; (9) material contracts
consultation; (10) mergers and acquisitions consultation; and (11) other relevant
services requested by Sinohealth Information and its subsidiaries from time to
time to the extent permitted under PRC laws.

Pursuant to the Business Cooperation Agreements, Zhongkang Technology has
the ownership of any and all intellectual property rights developed or created
by Sinohealth Information and its subsidiaries during the performance of the
Business Cooperation Agreements.
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Pursuant to the Business Cooperation Agreements, the technical support and
consultation service fee and the intellectual property licensing fee payable by
Sinohealth Information and its subsidiaries to Zhongkang Technology shall be
equivalent to the total combined profit of Sinohealth Information and the portion
of combined profits of its subsidiaries that Sinohealth Information is entitled
to in aggregate for the year (excluding the portion as entitled by the Other
VIE Shareholders as they hold the relevant interests in certain subsidiaries of
Sinohealth Information), after offsetting the prior-year loss (if any), operating
costs, expenses, taxes and other statutory contributions. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, Zhongkang Technology shall have the right to adjust the level of the
service fee and the intellectual properties licensing fee based on the actual
service scope and with reference to the operating conditions of Sinohealth
Information and its subsidiaries.

The Business Cooperation Agreements have a term of three years commencing
from the respective dates of the agreements and shall be automatically renewed
for another three years upon the expiration of each term, unless being terminated
in accordance with the terms therein. According to the Business Cooperation
Agreements, unless otherwise required by applicable PRC laws and regulations,
none of the parties to the agreement (except Zhongkang Technology) is entitled
to unilaterally terminate it.

Zhongkang Technology has the right to terminate the Business Cooperation
Agreements with one month’s prior written notice in the event that (i) Sinohealth
Information and/or its subsidiaries, as applicable, breaches any terms under the
Business Cooperation Agreements and fails to rectify within 20 business days
upon receipt of written notice from Zhongkang Technology; or (ii) Sinohealth
Information and/or its subsidiaries, as applicable, ceases to operate any
business, become insolvent, bankrupt or to be subject of liquidation or dissolution
procedures, be unable to repay debts due or to be dissolved.

Exclusive Option Agreements

Zhongkang Technology, Sinohealth Information and its subsidiaries, the VIE
Shareholders and the Other VIE Shareholders entered into the exclusive option
agreements (the “Exclusive Option Agreements”) on 8 June 2021 and 6 May
2022, pursuant to which each of the VIE Shareholders and Sinohealth Information
agreed to grant Zhongkang Technology or its designated third party an exclusive
option to transfer their respective equity interests and/or assets in Sinohealth
Information and its subsidiaries, respectively, to Zhongkang Technology and/or
a third party designated by it, in whole or in part at any time and from time to
time, at the consideration of RMB1 or a minimum purchase price permitted under
PRC laws and regulations. The VIE Shareholders and Sinohealth Information have
also undertaken that, subject to the relevant PRC laws and regulations, they will
compensate to Zhongkang Technology any difference in consideration in such
way required by Zhongkang Technology they receive in the event that Zhongkang
Technology exercises the options under the Exclusive Option Agreements to
acquire the equity interests and/or assets in Sinohealth Information and/or its
subsidiaries, as applicable, that exceeds RMB1.
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The Exclusive Option Agreements have an indefinite term commencing on the
respective dates of the agreements, until it is terminated: (1) by Zhongkang
Technology unilaterally by giving Sinohealth Information and its subsidiaries,
and/or the VIE Shareholders one-month prior written notice of termination, as
applicable; or (2) upon the exercise of the option by Zhongkang Technology
to acquire the respective equity interests of Sinohealth Information and/or its
subsidiaries held by the VIE Shareholders and Sinohealth Information and/
or the assets of Sinohealth Information and its subsidiaries to Zhongkang
Technology, and the completion of the relevant registration; or (3) when
the continued performance of the obligations of the agreement will result in
violation of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations. None of
Sinohealth Information and its subsidiaries, the VIE Shareholders and the Other
VIE Shareholders are contractually entitled to terminate the Exclusive Option
Agreements with Zhongkang Technology.

Equity Pledge Agreements
Zhongkang Technology, Sinohealth Information and the VIE Shareholders entered
into the equity pledge agreement and its supplemental agreement (collectively,
e “Equity Pledge Agreements”) on 8 June 2021 and 6 May 2022,
respectively, pursuant to which each of the VIE Shareholders agreed to pledge
all of their respective equity interests in Sinohealth Information to Zhongkang
Technology as a first priority security interest to guarantee the performance
of the contractual obligations and the payment of outstanding debts under the
Contractual Arrangements. Meanwhile, the Other VIE Shareholders and Sinohealth
Information retain their respective equity interests in those subsidiaries instead of
pledging them to Zhongkang Technology.

If Sinohealth Information declares any dividend during the term of the pledge,
Zhongkang Technology is entitled to receive all such dividends, bonus issue
or other income arising from the pledged equity interests, if any. If any of the
VIE Shareholders or Sinohealth Information (including its subsidiaries) breaches
or fails to fulfill the obligations under any of the aforementioned agreements,
Zhongkang Technology, as the pledgee, upon issuing a written notice to the
pledgors, will be entitled to all remedies available under PRC laws and the
Contractual Arrangements, including but not limited to disposing of the pledged
equity interests, entirely or partially.

In addition, pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreements, each of the VIE
Shareholders has undertaken to Zhongkang Technology, among other things,
not to transfer their equity interests in Sinohealth Information (including its
subsidiaries) and not to create or allow any pledge thereon without its prior
written consent. The pledges in respect of Sinohealth Information take effect
upon the completion of registration with the relevant PRC authority and shall
remain valid until after all the contractual obligations of the VIE Shareholders and
Sinohealth Information (including its subsidiaries) under the relevant Contractual
Arrangements have been fully performed and all the outstanding debts of the VIE
Shareholders and Sinohealth Information (including its subsidiaries) under the
relevant Contractual Arrangements have been fully repaid.
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The Equity Pledge Agreements have an indefinite term commencing on the
respective dates of the agreements and shall remain valid until (1) each of the
VIE Shareholders has transferred all of his or her equity interests and/or assets in
Sinohealth Information in accordance with the Exclusive Option Agreements and
completed the relevant registration; (2) the Equity Pledge Agreements have been
unilaterally terminated by Zhongkang Technology by giving Sinohealth Information
and the VIE Shareholders one-month prior written notice.

The registration of the equity interest pledge under the Equity Pledge Agreements
as required by the relevant laws and regulations was completed in accordance
with the terms of the Equity Pledge Agreements and PRC laws and regulations on
9 June 2021.

Voting Rights Proxy Agreements

Sinohealth Information and its subsidiaries, the VIE Shareholders, the Other VIE
Shareholders and Zhongkang Technology entered into the voting rights proxy
agreements (the “Voting Rights Proxy Agreements”) on 8 June 2021 and
6 May 2022, pursuant to which each of the VIE Shareholders and Sinohealth
Information irrevocably appoint Zhongkang Technology or its designated directors
and their successors (including a liquidator replacing the Directors) but excluding
those non-independent Directors or the appointment of whom may give rise to
conflict of interests, as his attorney-in-fact to exercise such shareholder’s rights
in Sinohealth Information and its subsidiaries,

Sinohealth Information and its subsidiaries, and the VIE Shareholders undertake
that they shall not take or omit to take any action which may lead to a conflict
of interest with Zhongkang Technology or its subsidiaries. If there is any conflict
of interest, Zhongkang Technology shall have the right to decide in its sole
discretion on how to deal with such conflict of interest in accordance with the
applicable PRC laws. Sinohealth Information and its subsidiaries, and the VIE
Shareholders will unconditionally follow the instructions of Zhongkang Technology
to take any action to eliminate such conflict of interest. In addition, while the
Other VIE Shareholders retain their respective shareholders’ rights in the relevant
subsidiaries of Sinohealth Information to be exercised on their own, the Other VIE
Shareholders have undertaken to fully cooperate with Sinohealth Information and
Zhongkang Technology to carry out all procedures as necessary to perform the
Voting Rights Proxy Agreement entered into by them, including but not limited to,
executing relevant resolutions and other ancillary documents.
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The Voting Rights Proxy Agreements have an indefinite term commencing on the
respective dates of the agreements and will be terminated in the event that:

(1) the Voting Rights Proxy Agreements are unilaterally terminated by Zhongkang
Technology by giving Sinohealth Information and its subsidiaries, the VIE
Shareholders and/or the Other VIE Shareholders, as applicable, one month’s
prior written notice of termination; or (2) upon the transfer of their respective
entire equity interests in and/or the assets of Sinohealth Information and/or its
subsidiaries to Zhongkang Technology pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements
and the completion of the relevant registration; or (3) the continued performance
of the obligations of the agreements will result in violation of or non-compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations.

OTHER PRINCIPAL TERMS

Dispute Resolution

In the event of any dispute with respect to the construction and performance of
the provisions, each of the Contractual Arrangements stipulates that, pursuant
to the relevant terms, in the event the parties fail to settle the dispute within 30
days of delivery of written negotiation request, any party may submit the relevant
dispute to the Guangzhou Arbitration Commission for arbitration, in accordance
with the then effective arbitration rules. The arbitration shall be conducted in
Guangzhou City, Guangdong province, the PRC. The arbitration ruling shall be
final and binding on all parties.

Liquidation

Pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreements, in the event of mandatory
liquidation of Sinohealth Information and its subsidiaries required by PRC laws,
the VIE Shareholders and Sinohealth Information shall transfer the remaining
assets of Sinohealth Information and its subsidiaries in respect of the portion as
entitled by Sinohealth Information after liquidation at the consideration of RMB1
or a minimum price permitted under PRC laws and regulations to Zhongkang
Technology to the extent permitted by PRC laws, respectively.

Conflict of Interest

Each of the VIE Shareholders and Sinohealth Information has given its, his or her
irrevocable undertakings in the Voting Rights Proxy Agreements which address
potential conflicts of interests that may arise in connection with the Contractual
Arrangements.
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Loss Sharing

In the event that Sinohealth Information and/or its subsidiaries incurs any loss
or encounters any operational crisis, Zhongkang Technology may, but is not
obligated to, provide financial support to Sinohealth Information and/or its
subsidiaries.

None of the agreements constituting the Contractual Arrangements provide that
the Company or its wholly owned PRC subsidiary, namely Zhongkang Technology,
is obligated to share the losses of Sinohealth Information and/or its subsidiaries
or provide financial support to Sinohealth Information and/or its subsidiaries.
Further, each of Sinohealth Information and its subsidiaries shall be solely liable
for its own debts and losses with assets and properties owned by it.

No Material Changes to Contractual Arrangements
There had been no material changes to the terms of the Contractual
Arrangements since the Listing Date and up to 31 December 2022.

Risks Relating to the Contractual Arrangements
There are the certain risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements, including:

1)

The PRC Government may determine that the Contractual Arrangements do
not comply with applicable PRC laws and regulations, which may subject
the Company to severe penalties, and the Company’s business may be
materially and adversely affected.

The current corporate structure and business operations of the Company
may be affected by the newly enacted Foreign Investment Law.

The Contractual Arrangements of the Company may not be as effective
in providing control over the Consolidated Affiliated Entities as direct
ownership.

Any failure by the Consolidated Affiliated Entities or their shareholders to
perform their obligations under the Contractual Arrangements with them
would have a material and adverse effect on the Group’s business.

The Company may lose the ability to use, or otherwise benefit from, the
licenses, approvals and assets held by any of the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities if any of them declares bankruptcy or becomes subject to a
dissolution or liquidation proceeding.

The shareholders or owners of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities may have
conflicts of interest with the Company, which may materially and adversely
affect the Company’s business and financial condition.
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7)  The Company’s exercise of the option to acquire the equity interests in and/
or the relevant assets of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities may be subject
to certain limitations and the Company may incur substantial costs.

8)  The Contractual Arrangements may be subject to scrutiny by PRC tax
authorities and additional tax may be imposed, which may materially and
adversely affect the results of operations of the Company and the value of
your investment.

The Company does not maintain an insurance policy to cover the risks relating
to the Contractual Arrangements. The Directors are of the view that such
insurance policy is not necessary taking into account the current market practice
and the absence of suitable insurance policy in the market providing adequate
coverage for such circumstances. For further details of the risks relating to the
Contractual Arrangements, see “Risk Factors — Risks Relating to Our Contractual
Arrangements” in the Prospectus for further details.

Mitigation Measures Taken by the Company

The Company has adopted the following measures to ensure the effective
operation of the Group with the implementation of the Contractual Arrangements
and compliance with the Contractual Arrangements, including:

() major issues arising from the implementation and compliance with the
Contractual Arrangements or any regulatory enquiries from governmental
authorities will be submitted to the Board, if necessary, for review and
discussion on an occurrence basis;

(i) the Board will review the overall performance of and compliance with the
Contractual Arrangements at least once a year;

(i) the Company will disclose the overall performance and compliance with the
Contractual Arrangements in annual reports;

(iv) the Company will engage external legal advisers or other professional
advisers, if necessary, to assist the Board to review the implementation of
the Contractual Arrangements, review the legal compliance of Zhongkang
Technology and our Consolidated Affiliated Entities to deal with specific
issues or matters arising from the Contractual Arrangements.
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Waiver from the Stock Exchange

The transactions contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements constitute
continuing connected transactions for the Company pursuant to Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules. The Company has applied to the Stock Exchange for, and
the Stock Exchange has granted, a waiver (i) pursuant to Rule 14A.105 of the
Listing Rules from strict compliance with the announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in
respect of the transactions contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements,
and (i) the requirement of setting an annual cap for the transactions under the
Contractual Arrangements under Rule 14A.53 of the Listing Rules, and (iii) the
requirement of limiting the term of the Contractual Arrangements to three years
or less under Rule 14A.52 of the Listing Rules, for so long as Shares are listed
on the Stock Exchange, subject to certain conditions. For details, please refer to
the section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus.

Confirmation of Independent Non-executive Directors in respect of
the Contractual Arrangements

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above continuing
connected transactions of the Company contemplated under the Contractual
Arrangements and confirmed that (i) the transactions carried out during the year
ended 31 December 2022 have been entered into in accordance with the relevant
provisions of the Contractual Arrangements; (i) no dividends or other distributions
have been made by Sinohealth Information and its subsidiaries to the holders of
its equity interests which are not otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred
to the Group; and (i) no new transactions, contracts and agreements or renewal
of existing agreements have been entered into between the Group and Sinohealth
Information and its subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2022.

Confirmation of the Auditor in respect of the Continuing Connected
Transactions

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditor, was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to
Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Ernst & Young has issued its unqualified letter containing their
findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions in
connection with Contractual Agreements for the year ended 31 December 2022,
in particular, confirming that the transactions have received the approval of the
Directors, have been entered into in accordance with the relevant Contractual
Arrangements, and that no dividends or other distributions have been made by
the Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the holders of their equity interests which
are not otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.
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Related Party Transactions

Save as disclosed in this annual report, during the Reporting Period, the Company
had no connected transactions or continuing connected transactions which are
required to be disclosed in accordance with the provisions under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules in relation to the disclosure of connected transactions.

Details of related party transactions for the year ended 31 December 2022 are
set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements. For the year ended
31 December 2022, there were no related party transactions that constituted
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions that were subject
to reporting, announcement or independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

The Shares of the Company were listed on the Stock Exchange on the Listing
Date, and the over-allotment options were partially exercised on 4 August 2022.
Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries have
repurchased, redeemed or sold any of its listed securities from the Listing Date
to 31 December 2022.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors and Chief Executives’
Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures”
in this annual report, at no time during the period from the Listing Date to 31
December 2022 and up to the date of this annual report was the Company or any
of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement that would enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of acquisition of the shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate, and none of the Directors or any of their
spouses or children under the age of 18 were granted any right to subscribe for
the equity or debt securities of the Company or any other body corporate or had
exercised any such right.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” above and the
announcement relating to the Share Award Scheme, no equity-linked agreement
was entered into by the Company or subsisted during the period from the Listing
Date to 31 December 2022.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group did not make any charitable donation during the year ended 31
December 2022 (2021: RMB100,000).
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Wednesday, 14
June 2023 to Monday, 19 June 2023, both dates inclusive, during which period
no transfer of shares will be registered. For determining the entitiement of the
Shareholders of the Company to attend and vote at the annual general meeting,
all Share transfer document(s) accompanied by the relevant share certificate(s)
must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and
transfer office, Boardroom Share Registrars Limited at 2103B, 21/F, 148
Electric Road, North Point, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on
Tuesday, 13 June 2023.

The proposed final dividend is subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the
annual general meeting. The record date for the proposed final dividend is at the
close of business on Wednesday, 28 June 2023. For determining the entitlement
to the proposed final dividend, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from Monday, 26 June 2023 to Wednesday, 28 June 2023 (both dates
inclusive), during which period no transfer of Shares will be registered. In order
to qualify for the proposed final dividend, Shareholder must return all relevant
transfer document(s) and share certificate(s) to the Company’s Hong Kong branch
share registrar and transfer office, Boardroom Share Registrars Limited at 2103B,
21/F, 148 Electric Road, North Point, Hong Kong for registration no later than
4:30 p.m. on Friday, 23 June 2023.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS OF THE COMPANY

The Company has appointed Ernst & Young as the auditor of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2022. A resolution will be proposed for approval by
Shareholders at the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint Ernst & Young as the auditor
of the Company. There has been no change in the Company’s auditors in the
preceding three years.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this annual report, none
of the Directors became aware of any significant events requiring disclosure.

By order of the Board

Sinohealth Holdings Limited

Wu Yushu

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining good corporate governance practices
and procedures. The Company was listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 12 July 2022 and has adopted the code provisions of the CG Code
as its own corporate governance code. The Company’s corporate governance
principles aim to implement effective internal control measures and uphold high
standards of ethics, transparency, responsibility and integrity in all aspects of
business, in order to ensure that its business and operations are conducted in
accordance with applicable laws and regulations and to improve the Board's
transparency and accountability to all the Shareholders.

Since the Listing Date to 31 December 2022, the Company has complied with
all applicable code provisions as set forth in Part 2 of the CG Code, except for
a deviation from the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code that the roles of the
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. Details of such deviation are summarized below in the
subsection headed “Chairman and Chief Executive Officer”.

Save for compliance with code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code as stated above,
the Company has complied with all applicable code provisions set out in the CG
Code from the Listing Date up to 31 December 2022.

The Board reviews the Company’s corporate governance practices from time
to time in order to meet the expectations of stakeholders and to comply with
increasingly stringent regulatory requirements, as well as to fulfill its commitment
to excellence in corporate governance. Set out below are the corporate
governance principles adopted by the Company from the Listing Date to 31
December 2022.

CORPORATE CULTURE

Corporate culture is the essence of the Group and the guiding principle of the
Group’s long-term development. It leads and promotes the Group’s continuous
development towards a world-leading enterprise in the field of life and
health. The core values of “professionalism and focus, openness and sharing,
responsibility and commitment, persistence and innovation” are rooted in the
culture of the Group. By incorporating a conceptual system of “institutional
culture x behavioral culture x material culture”, our culture guides the operation
and management behavior of the Group, unifies ideas internally, activates
productivity and enhances cohesion, execution and creativity, thus stabilising the
core competitiveness of the Group.
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Through the implementation of the “1+6 system” based on our corporate culture,
the Group is enabled to effectively carry out the organisational capabilities of
publicity, training, events, recruitment, assessment and promotion based on the
actual situation of business and management, thereby supporting the vertical
and horizontal implementation of our culture. The Group strengthens employees’
recognition of corporate culture and values and stimulates employees’
enthusiasm, so that the values and behaviors of employees can conform to the
value orientation of the Group. Fully considering the interests of stakeholders
such as the Company, colleagues and investors and social public interests
such as ecological and environmental protection, the Group enhances its brand
Influence and competitiveness to help its corporate brand realise the corporate
vision of “becoming a leading digital technology company in the field of life
sciences”.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF LISTED ISSUERS

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules as its own code of conduct for securities transactions by the Directors.
Relevant employees of the Company who may be in possession of inside
information of the Company by reason of their position or employment are also
subject to the Model Code.

Having made specific inquiry of all Directors and relevant employees, each of
them confirmed that he/she had complied with all the required standards under
the Model Code during the Listing Date and up to 31 December 2022.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and performance
and should take decisions objectively in the best interests of the Company. The
Board will regularly review the contribution required of a Director to perform
his/her responsibilities to the Company, and whether the Director is spending
sufficient time in performing them. The composition of the Board reflects the
necessary balance of skills and experience desirable for effective leadership of
the Company and independence in decision making.

BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board comprises six Directors. As at 31 December 2022 and up to the
date of this annual report, the Company has two executive Directors, one
non-executive Director and three independent non-executive Directors. The
composition of the Board is as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Wu Yushu (Chairman)
Ms. Wang Lifang

Non-executive Director
Mr. Fu Haitao

Independent non-executive Directors
Ms. Wang Danzhou

Ms. Du Yilin

Mr. Wei Bin
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During the period from the Listing Date and up to 31 December 2022, the Board
had met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at
least three independent non-executive Directors representing one-third of the
Board with one of whom possessing appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Directors in respect of his/her independence in
accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-executive Directors
are independent in accordance with the independence requirement set out in the
Listing Rules.

The biographical information of the Directors is set out in the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report.

The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company from time to time pursuant to the Listing
Rules. The independent non-executive Directors are expressly identified in all
corporate communications pursuant to the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” in
this annual report, the Directors do not have any other financial, business, family
or other material/relevant relationships with one another.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual.

Mr. Wu Yushu is the founder of the Group. He is the Chairman, the chief
executive officer of the Group and an executive Director. He was appointed
as a Director on 4 March 2019. He currently holds directorship in each of the
subsidiaries of the Group except Guangzhou Kangzhi. He is also the chairman of
the Nomination Committee. Mr. Wu is in charge of the overall strategic planning
and general management and daily operation of the Group.

BEMHSBEE02F12831B M EF2—F
BFE(EMRIDEBZIZEL 2B UERITES
(AMEESEEANE =22 )BT BHF—REE
EREENSXERYGHTIEBRUBERER

ARAERECETRAD F313GME B

5l BB BYFMTESREBUMRINETF
EHAE - ARERA  RE(ETRA) AEMNBL
HRE  MEBLFNTEZUREBY

EXEFENEN T FRIEZNSREEE] -

EE2E (RER) TRARARE(ETHAR) %
HORBEREBATEE - RE(ETRRA) - FER
AR ARIERAB L IFRITES -

BAFERIEERSREERE]| -HAREEIN &
SR FLBEMEMETE - X% KERHEBE
A/ HBBRE -

EERNERHUTE
PEERATHTARIEC21ERTE  EERNER
BITBENBHRER. - TEAR-AEE-

REFTERLREEAHA - RETESR  A4&E
BREATERIITES - RN2019F3H4REZ TR
BE BARAEESHMBARR (BMNEERINET
BEERE - BNMARBZEGER - £%$E§$%
BRNEEHERENAEERAEEE



Sinohealth Holdings Limited A 2B AR A &)
Annual Report 2022 =5 = —FE[F#HE

Corporate Governance Report
rEERRE

87

Mr. Wu has over 20 years of experience in healthcare information and data
analysis industries. Mr. Wu founded the Group in 2007 and has since played a
critical role to the growth and business expansion of the Company. The Board
believes that vesting the roles of both the chairman and chief executive officer
in the same person has the benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within the
Group for more effective and efficient overall strategic planning for the Group.
The Board considers that the balance of power and authority within the Group will
not be impaired by the present arrangement and the current structure will enable
the Company to make and implement decisions more promptly and effectively.
The Board currently comprises two executive Directors (including Ms. Wang),
one non-executive Director and three independent non-executive Directors and
therefore, in the Company’s view, has an appropriate level of independence
element in its composition.

The Board will from time to time review and consider splitting the roles of
chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the Company to
ensure appropriate and timely arrangements are in place to meet changing
circumstances.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Each of the Directors has entered into a service contract (in the case of the
executive Directors) or has been issued a letter of appointment (in the case of
the non-executive Directors and the independent non-executive Directors) for a
specific term of three years, which is renewable by mutual consent and subject
to the requirements of the Articles of Association.

The Articles of Association provides that all Directors appointed to fill a
casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall be subject to election by
shareholders at the next following general meeting of the Company.

Each Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall also be subject
to retirement and re-election by rotation at least once every three years at the
annual general meetings of the Company under the Articles of Association.

RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITY AND CONTRIBUTION
OF THE DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company; and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising the
Company’s affairs. The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees,
leads and provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational and financial
performance, and ensures that sound internal control and risk management
systems are in place.
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All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have brought a wide
spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the
Board for its efficient and effective functioning.

The Board is also responsible for performing the functions set out in code
provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. These include developing and reviewing
the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and making
recommendations to the Board; reviewing and monitoring the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior management of
the Company; reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; developing, reviewing
and monitoring the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable
to the Directors and employees of the Company; and reviewing the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code from time to time adopted by the Company and the
disclosure in the corporate governance report to be contained in the Company’s
annual report.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for ensuring a high
standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and providing a balance in the
Board for bringing effective independent judgment on corporate actions and
operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the Company
and may, upon request, seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for discharging their duties to the
Company.

As regards the code provision under the CG Code requiring directors to disclose
the number and nature of offices held in public companies or organisations and
other significant commitments as well as their identity and the time involved to
the Company, the Directors update the Board regarding offices held in public
companies and organisations and other significant commitments once every half
year.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy matters,
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, appointment of Directors and other significant operational matters of
the Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board,
directing and coordinating the daily operation and management of the Company
are delegated to the management.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF
DIRECTORS

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in order to
effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that they remain informed
and relevant for their contribution to the Board.

In 2022, the Company organized training session conducted by qualified
professionals for all the Directors. Such training sessions cover a wide range of
relevant topics focusing on directors’ duties and responsibilities. Relevant reading
materials including seminar handouts have been provided to the Directors for
their reference and studying prior to the training session.

During the period from the Listing Date and up to 31 December 2022, each of
the Directors, being Mr. Wu Yushu, Ms. Wang Lifang, Mr. Fu Haitao, Mr. Wei Bin,
Ms. Wang Danzhou and Ms. Du Yilin, has attended the following training courses:
training provided by law firms relating to the business of the Company, and
reading materials on various categories and topics, including CG Code, duties
and responsibilities of Directors, the Listing Rules and other relevant laws.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee, for overseeing particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company are
established with specific written terms of reference which clearly stipulates
their authority and duties. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee are posted on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website and are available to
shareholders upon request.
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ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS AND COMMITTEE
MEMBERS

The attendance records of each Director at Board meetings and Board Committee
meetings of the Company held since the Listing Date to 31 December 2022 are
set out in the table below:

EERZEERENHFELE

tHHEEE202F 123 BRTHARAIEEE &%
RELECZEQORSEENHELHEITIINTE

Attendance/Number of Meetings

HiEEBRE
Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee
Name of Directors BEENR BEEE ERXZEET FMWNZEE REEZEE
Mr. Wu Yushu REFLE 4/4 N/A N/A =
TiE A i@ A
Ms. Wang Lifang TFHRIF L 4/4 N/A 1/1 N/A
TiEHA TiEH
Mr. Fu Haitao B E 4/4 N/A N/A N/A
EA T iE A @A
Mr. Wei Bin ZO 4/4 2/2 N/A N/A
@A @A
Ms. Wang Danzhou TR 4/4 2/2 1/1 -
Ms. Du Yilin IR £ 4/4 2/2 n

During the period from the Listing Date and up to 31 December 2022, the Board
held four meetings in total, with active participation of all Directors either in
person or through electronic means of communication. Since the Listing Date and
up to 31 December 2022, no general meeting of the Company was held.

During the period from the Listing Date and up to 31 December 2022, apart from
the Board meetings, consents and/or approvals from the Board were obtained by
way of written resolutions on a number of matters/transactions.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to make recommendations to
the Board on the appointment and dismissal of the external auditor, monitor
and review the financial statements and information and oversee the financial
reporting system, risk management and internal control systems of the Company.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Wei Bin, Ms. Wang Danzhou and Ms. Du Yilin. Mr. Wei Bin is the
chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the period from the Listing Date
to 31 December 2022. During the period from the Listing Date to 31 December
2022, the audit committee also held a meeting with external auditors in the
absence of executive Directors and management.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make recommendation
to the Board on the overall remuneration policy and structure for all Directors
and the senior management of the Group, review remuneration and ensure that
none of the Directors determine their own remuneration, as well as review and/or
approve related share award schemes.

The Remuneration Committee comprises two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Ms. Wang Danzhou and Ms. Du Yilin, and one executive
Director, namely Ms. Wang Lifang. Ms. Wang Danzhou is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting since the Listing Date during
the year ended 31 December 2022 to review the adoption of the Share Award
Scheme and make recommendations to the Board. Three Remuneration
Committee members actively participated in the meeting in person or through
electronic communication.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, details of the remuneration of
the senior management (other than Directors) for the year ended 31 December
2022 are as follows:
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RMB1,000,000 to RMB1,500,000 AR #1,000,0007TE A R #1,500,0007C 1
Total BET 5

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 8 to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the structure, size,
composition and diversity of the Board and make recommendations to the Board
regarding candidates to fill vacancies on the Board and/or in senior management.
The Nomination Committee comprises two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Ms. Wang Danzhou and Ms. Du Yilin, and one executive Director, Mr. Wu
Yushu. Mr. Wu Yushu is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

As the Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on 12 July 2022, the
Nomination Committee did not have any matters that are required to be disclosed
for the period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2022 (i.e. less than six
months), and therefore did not hold any meetings during the relevant period. The
Nomination Committee will fully comply with its terms of reference.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY AND NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”)
which sets out the basic principles to be followed to ensure that the Board
has the appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
necessary to enhance the effectiveness of the Board and to maintain high
standards of corporate governance.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board
and considers increasing diversity at the Board level, including gender diversity,
as an essential element in maintaining the Company’s competitive advantage and
enhancing its ability to attract, retain and motivate employees from the widest
possible pool of available talent. Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the
Nomination Committee will discuss periodically and when necessary, agree on
the measurable objectives for achieving diversity, including gender diversity, on
the Board and recommend them to the Board for adoption.

The Board currently comprises six Directors, half of whom are female Directors,
including Ms. Wang Danzhou and Ms. Du Yilin, independent non-executive
Directors, and Ms. Wang Lifang, an executive Director. According to the current
composition of the Board, the Company is of the view that gender diversity in
respect of the Board has been achieved. Out of the 680 employees of the Group
as at 31 December 2022, 421 were female, including two senior management
members. Accordingly, the Company considers that gender diversity is also
achieved in its workforce generally.

The Board has also adopted the nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”)
which sets out the nomination procedures for selecting candidates for election
as Directors of the Board of the Group. The Nomination Policy is adopted by the
Board and administered by the Nomination Committee.

Selection of board candidates shall be based on, amongst others, character
and integrity, qualifications, willingness to devote adequate time and a range
of diversity perspectives with reference to the Company’s business model and
specific needs. Selection and recommendation of candidates will be based on the
nomination procedures and the process and criteria adopted by the Nomination
Committee and a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional qualification, skills, knowledge,
and industry and regional experience, length of services, personal integrity and
time commitments of the proposed candidates. The Company should also take
into account factors relating to its own business model and specific needs from
time to time. The ultimate decision is based on merit and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee shall review the Board Diversity Policy and the
Nomination Policy and the measurable objectives periodically, and as appropriate,
to ensure the continued effectiveness of the Board.
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INDEPENDENCE OF THE BOARD

The Company recognizes that the independence of the Board is critical to
sound corporate governance and the effectiveness of the Board. The Board has
established a mechanism to ensure that the independent views and opinions
of any Director of the Company can be conveyed to the Board to enhance the
objectivity and effectiveness of decision-making.

The Board, through its Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee,
reviews the governance structure and the following mechanisms annually to
ensure its effectiveness:

1. Three of the six Directors are independent non-executive Directors,
which complies with the requirements of the Listing Rules, i.e. the Board
must have at least three independent non-executive Directors and the
independent non-executive Directors appointed must account for at least
one-third of the number of the Board members.

2. Before candidates are nominated for appointment as new independent
non-executive Directors, the Nomination Committee and Remuneration
Committee will assess their independence, qualifications and time
commitment, and will also assess the continuing independence and the
time commitment of existing independent non-executive Directors annually.
According to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, all independent non-executive
directors are required to confirm in writing that they meet the independence
requirements each year, and disclose the number and nature of positions
they hold in listed companies or organizations and their other major
commitments.

3. The Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee will conduct an
annual performance appraisal of independent non-executive Directors to
assess their contributions.

4. External independent professional advice is available to individual Directors
upon request.

5. All Directors are encouraged to freely express their independent opinions
and constructive queries on the Board/Board committees.

6. No equity-based remuneration related to performance is granted to
independent non-executive Directors.

7. Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) who have a
material interest in a contract, arrangement or other proposal shall not vote
on, or be counted in the quorum of, any resolution of the Board approving
such matters.

8. The chairman of the Board meets with independent non-executive Directors
every year in the absence of executive Directors and non-executive
Directors.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management and internal
control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining the
nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the Company’s
strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining appropriate and effective
risk management and internal control systems. The audit committee assists the
Board in leading the management and overseeing the design, implementation and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems.

The Company has developed and adopted various risk management policies,
procedures and internal control process with defined rights and responsibilities
for each key personnel, including but not limited to, intellectual property
management policy, anti-bribery policy, anti-money laundering management, risk
assessment management, connected transaction management, procurement and
payment management, assets management, human resources and remuneration
management, capital management and information system security management
policy.

The Group has established an internal audit department which is responsible
for reviewing the effectiveness of internal controls and reporting to the Audit
Committee and senior management on any issues identified. The Group’s internal
audit department members are required to report to the management to discuss
any internal control issues that the Group encounters and the corresponding
measures to implement toward resolving such issues. The internal audit
department also reports to the Audit Committee to ensure that any major issues
identified are channeled to the committee on a timely basis. The Audit Committee
then discusses the issues and reports to the Board, if necessary.

The Board has conducted an annual review of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems for the year ended 31 December 2022, and considers
that:

1) the financial records have been properly maintained and the financial
statements give a true and fair view of the operations and finances of the
Group; and

2)  the risk management and internal control systems of the Group are effective
and adequate.
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Based on the risk management and internal audit systems established by the
Group, the Board and the Audit Committee considered that, through the review
of risk management and internal audit systems of the Group, it can evaluate
and improve their effectiveness. The Board, with the concurrence of the Audit
Committee, considered that the Group’s internal control systems, including
financial, operational and compliance, were effective and adequate for the year
ended 31 December 2022 based on the work performed and report prepared
by the team as well as the confirmation letter received by the management. The
Group will perform ongoing assessments to update all material risk factors on
a regular basis. In any case, review of risk management and internal control
systems by the Board will be conducted annually.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022, including the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group. The Audit Committee has no
objection to the accounting treatment adopted by the Company.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Company has adopted arrangement to facilitate employees and other
stakeholders to raise concerns, in confidence, about possible improprieties in
financial reporting, internal control or other matters.

The Audit Committee shall review such arrangement regularly and ensure that
proper arrangements are in place for fair and independent investigation of these
matters and for appropriate follow-up action.

INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides a comprehensive
guidance to the Company's Directors, senior management and relevant
employees on handling and disseminating confidential information, monitoring
information disclosure and responding to enquiries. Control procedures have been
implemented to ensure that unauthorized access and use of inside information
are strictly prohibited.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditors’
Report on pages 144 to 151 of this annual report.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy which is in accordance with the
relevant provisions of the Articles of Association. Pursuant to the dividend policy,
the Company may from time to time declare dividends in any currency to be paid
to the members of the Company but no dividend shall be declared in excess of
the amount recommended by the Board. No dividend shall be declared or payable
except out of the profits and reserves of the Company lawfully available for
distribution, including share premium. No dividend shall carry interest which will
be borne by the Company. The Company may distribute dividends by way of cash
or by other means that the Board considers appropriate, based on various factors
such as the Company’s earnings and financial condition, operation needs, capital
requirements, payment to the Company of cash dividend by its subsidiaries and
other factors that the Directors may deem relevant. The Company will continue
to re-evaluate its dividend plan in light of its operation needs, earnings, financial
condition, working capital requirements and future business plans as the Board
may deem relevant at such time.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid/payable to the external auditor of the Company in respect
of audit services and non-audit services for the year ended 31 December 2022
amounted to RMB1.1 million and RMB1.1 million, respectively.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

The Company has engaged SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited,
an external service provider, and Ms. Zhang Xiao has been appointed as a joint
company secretary of the Company. Her primary contact person at the Company
is Ms. Yi Xuhui, the other joint company secretary of the Company.

The joint company secretaries completed more than 15 hours of professional
training as required under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules for the year ended 31
December 2022 to update their skills and knowledge.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, separate resolution should be
proposed for each substantially separate issue at general meetings, including the
election of individual Director. All resolutions put forward at general meetings will
be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted
on the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each general
meeting.
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Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, extraordinary general meetings shall also
be convened on the written requisition of any one or more members deposited
at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong specifying the objects of the
meeting and signed by the requisitionist(s), provided that such requisitionist(s)
held as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or the Cayman Companies
Act for shareholders to move new resolutions at general meetings. Shareholders
who wish to move a resolution may request the Company to convene a general
meeting in accordance with the procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.
As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, please refer to the
“Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as director” of the
Company which is posted on the Company’s website.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company, shareholders may
send written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not normally deal with
verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Contact Details
The contact details of the Company are set out in the Company’s website (ir.
sinohealth.cn).

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send the original
duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case
may be) to the above address and provide their full name, contact details and
identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be
disclosed as required by law.
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Communication with Shareholders and Investors

The Company considers that effective communication with shareholders is
essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding of the
Group’s business performance and strategies. The Company endeavours to
maintain an ongoing dialogue with shareholders and in particular, through annual
general meetings and other general meetings. At the annual general meeting,
Directors (or their delegates as appropriate) will be available to meet shareholders
and answer their enquiries.

The Company maintains a website at ir.sinohealth.cn as a communication
platform with shareholders of the Company and investors, where the financial
information and other relevant information of the Company are available for public
access.

As the Company was only listed on the Stock Exchange since 12 July 2022,
no shareholders meeting has been held yet. The Company will review the
implementation and effectiveness of its shareholders communication policy and
report on the same next year.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

In preparation for the Company’s Listing on the Stock Exchange, the Company
has adopted the Articles of Association, which became effective on the Listing
Date. During the period from the Listing Date and up to 31 December 2022, the
Company did not made any changes to its Articles of Association. An up-to-date
version of the Articles of Association is available on the websites of the Company
and of the Stock Exchange.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

This report is the first Environmental, Social and Governance Report
(hereinafter referred to as “this report” or “ESG Report”) issued by
Sinohealth Holdings Limited. The ESG Report aims to present the Group’s
governance strategy and performance in respect of its sustainable
development. At the same time, we objectively communicate our efforts and
contributions in sustainable development to various stakeholders.

1.1 Reporting period and scope
Unless otherwise specified, the reporting period refers to the financial
year from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022.

This report covers all subsidiaries of the Group, and discloses the
relevant performance of the Company in respect of identified major
environmental and social issues in accordance with the reporting
standards.

1.2 Reporting standards

This report was prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting
Guide”) set out in Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) issued by the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) based
on the actual situation of the Group. This report complies with the
“mandatory disclosure” and “comply or explain” provisions.

Materiality. The Group has sorted out and evaluated the level of
materiality based on the communication with internal and external
stakeholders, collection of public available information and peer
benchmarking, and used the evaluation results as an important
reference for disclosure in this report. The board of directors has
confirmed the major environmental, social and governance issues
during the reporting period.

Quantification. The key performance indicators disclosed in this
report are all measurable, and where applicable, the standards,
methods, assumptions and/or calculation methods used are disclosed.

Balance. The performance of the Group during the reporting period
is presented in an impartial manner to avoid possible inappropriate
influence on the decision-making or judgement of the readers of this
report due to selection, omission or presentation format.
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2.

1.3

1.4

1.5

Consistency. The Group will maintain the consistency of the
methodology and key performance indicators between the reporting
period and subsequent reporting periods, so that longitudinal and
meaningful comparisons can be made between different financial
years.

Reporting language
This report is published in both Chinese and English.

Approval of the report

All contents of this report have been reviewed and approved by
the board of directors of the Company for publication. The Board
undertakes to monitor the contents of this report to ensure that there
are no false and misleading statements or major omissions.

Feedback

The Group welcomes your feedback, especially the feedback on the
highly important issues listed in the materiality assessment and the
Group’s ESG policy and performance. Readers who wish to share
their views with the Group are also welcome to send emails to
ir@sinohealth.cn.

ABOUT SINOHEALTH HOLDINGS

21

2.2

2.3

Company mission:
developing smart healthcare industry and promoting smart healthy life

Company vision:
becoming a leading digital technology company in the field of life
sciences

Corporate values:
professionalism and focus; openness and sharing; responsibility and
commitment; persistence and innovation
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2.4 Corporate culture: Corporate culture is the essence of the Group

and the guiding principle of the Group’s long-term development. It
leads and promotes the Group’s continuous development towards

a world-leading enterprise in the field of life and health. The core
values of “professionalism and focus, openness and sharing,
responsibility and commitment, persistence and innovation” are rooted
in the culture of the Group. By incorporating a conceptual system of
“institutional culture x behavioral culture x material culture”, our
culture guides the operation and management behavior of the Group,
unifies ideas internally, activates productivity and enhances cohesion,
execution and creativity, thus stabilising the core competitiveness of
the Group.

Through the implementation of the “1+6 system” based on our
corporate culture, the Group is enabled to effectively carry out the
organisational capabilities of publicity, training, events, recruitment,
assessment and promotion based on the actual situation of business
and management, thereby supporting the vertical and horizontal
implementation of our culture. The Group strengthens employees’
recognition of corporate culture and values and stimulates employees’
enthusiasm, so that the values and behaviors of employees can
conform to the value orientation of the Group. Fully considering
the interests of stakeholders such as the Company, colleagues
and investors and social public interests such as ecological and
environmental protection, the Group enhances its brand Influence
and competitiveness to help its corporate brand realise the corporate
vision of “becoming a leading digital technology company in the field
of life sciences”.
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2.5 Awards and honors
The Group promotes the digital and intelligent transformation of the
out-if-hospital market in the healthcare industry by actively developing
high and new technologies such as artificial intelligence, big data
technology and cloud computing. In FY2022, we were recognised by
various different institutions and won numerous awards.

25 RIEREE
AEERBERERAIEE  KREEBER
MAEHESRMBMREDREEER
HITTIHHEF MG (L ER - 20228}
F - RZMEGLZRTRABEHRT - WH
BHIEKE -

Award names/Title of honors Granting time Granting unit
%8/ RBEH RREH BFER
China Advertising Association of Commerce, Digital Marketing
China Digital Marketing Landscape (Version 2022) November 2022 SO Av,\\;lzri;?nrgrglggzénd AL
= R AL E
BT BH A R B R 20221 2022511 R AR EL e T AR -
FRREZE DS HERER
Recognised and Rewarded Enterprise for Headquarters Policy Investment Promotion Bureau of Guangzhou Nansha Economic and
X o December 2022 .
in Nansha District in 2022 2022412 B Technological Development Zone
02 FEDEABBHERTE REBEE BMEPEERTRERRERER
TOP 100 Most Innovative Medical Technology Product (Solution)
in VB-Find Award 2022 December 2022 VBDATA.CN
VB-Find Award 2022 5 B 81 #7 M BB R E R (AT R) 2022F12 8 iR
TOP100
Innovative Enterprise gf the Year Awalrd in Ifeng.com International December 2022 feng.com
Big Health Summit 2022 0022419 A AEE
0EEBERAREES [ FERIMNEE & e
Most Popular New Sttk))cykzi(i)trgr?ga?i/ngrr?coeng Investors Surveyed December 2022 Zhitong Finance
e n e TR
REMERTRAERLHRLT ARG RN
Xuegiu Annual Gold List — Top 100 Potential Listed Companies 2022 December 2022 Xuegiu.com
N2FREF2E — & H ETWAR 1008 202212 R E351
Guangzhou Science and Technology Bureau, Guangzhou Science and
Top List of Artificial Intelligence Enterprises with Most Development Technology Progress Foundation, Guangzhou Industry Investment
- December 2022 ) )
Potential in Guangzhou 2022 2022519 A Holdmg Group and Guangzhou Technology Finance Group
02EMNEEERENATIEZCEES H?ﬁﬂﬁ&%ﬁﬁ BMTRBESESS
BMEERERRER  BNRReHEER
EDGE AWARDS: Enterprise List — Annual Medical Innovation Enterprise December 2022 T™T
EDGE AWARDS TR %4 — FE BRI B % 2022512 R f7NEY
EDGE AWARDS:Enterprise List — Annual Industrial Innovation Brand December 2022 ™T
EDGE AWARDSTh %15 — R E X Bl Mg 2022512 f7NEY
Department of Science and Technology of Guangdong Province,
High and New Technology Enterprise 2022 December 2022 Guangdong Provincial Department of Finance and Guangdong Provincial
N0 F @I BEMEE 2022512 R Taxation Bureau
BRARRE  BERAMBENRRATBR
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IMPROVING THE ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE TO ENHANCE THE LEVEL
OF SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

On 22 June 2022, the 26th Meeting of the Central Committee for
Comprehensively Deepening Reform reviewed and approved the “Opinions
on Building a Basic System for Data to Fully Utilise Data as the Core
Element”. In December 2022, the Central Committee of the Communist
Party of China and the State Council issued the “Opinions on Building a
Data-Based Payment System to Fully Utilise Data as the Core Element “.
As a new type of production factor, data is the foundation of digitalisation,
networking and intelligence. It has been rapidly integrated into each aspect
of production, distribution, circulation, consumption and social service
management, profoundly changing production methods, lifestyles and social
governance means. As a leader in domestic health big data, the Group has
been actively engaged in the healthcare industry for 16 years, and has a
sound master data system and a huge database for retail market insights.
Through its big data, artificial intelligence and cloud computing technology,
the Group will continue to empower the field of life sciences and contribute
to the digital transformation and upgrading of the healthcare industry.

The Group is well aware of the importance of sustainable development, and
is committed to integrating the concept of sustainable development into the
Group’s daily operations and fulfilling corporate social responsibilities. Since
a sound ESG governance system is a necessary condition for sustainable
development, the Board also supports the Group’s commitment to fulfilling
its ESG responsibilities.
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3.1

3.2

Statement of the Board

The Group has established an ESG management framework to
strengthen the Group’s management of sustainable development
and fulfill corporate social responsibilities. The Board is responsible
for the overall supervision of the Group’s ESG issues, performance,
climate risks and opportunities, and regularly reviews, discusses and
approves the Group’s ESG governance policies, strategies and risks
and assumes full responsibility for all ESG strategies and reports.

Environmental, social and governance framework

The Board supports our commitment to fulfill environmental, social
and governance responsibilities, and is responsible for managing the
overall direction of our environmental, social and governance policies
and ensuring the effectiveness of strategy implementation, as well
as monitoring the Group’s performance and compliance disclosure
relating to its achievement of ESG goals. The Group has established
an ESG Management Committee under the Board, led by Mr. Mr.
Wu Yushu, the Chairman of the Board and an executive Director, to
support the Board in formulating and implementing environmental,
social and governance policies, as well as collecting and disclosing
environmental, social and governance data. The ESG Management
Committee assists the Board in supervising the implementation
of environmental, social and governance policies and measures
and report to the Board on a regular basis. When major deviations
from the goals are detected, the ESG Management Committee will
actively investigate the reasons for any deviation from the goals and
objectives, and the Board will modify the Group’s environmental,
social and governance strategies as appropriate.

We have also set up an ESG team which is responsible for
implementing the environmental, social and governance policies and
measures formulated by the ESG Management Committee. The team
members come from key departments such as the human resources
operation center, administration and procurement center, sales
center, IT and process center, and securities and legal department.
The team is specifically responsible for the implementation of various
ESG affairs, understanding the demands of stakeholders, evaluating
ESG risks based on the Company’s business conditions, improving
assessment indicators and facilitating the achievement of the ESG
tasks and is responsible for disclosing annual ESG information.

3.1

3.2
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Members of the ESG Committee are familiar with the corresponding
environmental, social and governance requirements in the Listing
Rules of the Stock Exchange, and continue to follow up the review
reports on disclosure practices issued by the Stock Exchange from
time to time, in order to review the content of the report disclosed by
the Group and adopt the suggestions for corporate report disclosure,
S0 as to continuously improve the content of the report.

During the two board meetings held regularly by the Group each year,
the ESG Committee reports on the implementation of ESG policies
during the period, the Directors discuss and communicate with each
other on important ESG disclosure matters and make suggestions on
important matters disclosed. Such matters include, among others,
in terms of the marketing and expansion of business, encouraging
the use of online meetings or conference calls on the premise of not
affecting the marketing effect, which can not only reduce promotion
costs and improve efficiency, but also reduce the number of business
trips to reduce carbon emissions.

The board of Directors of the Group will continue to focus on
the previously committed goals and continue to promote the
implementation of relevant measures to reduce our carbon footprint.
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3.3 Communication with stakeholders 33 FHERENER

With regard to the management of environmental, social and BRIRE e kfEEERENEE
climate-related issues, the Board recognises the expectations of EESRHANTERAEENDHER2HLY
stakeholders and the importance of their engagement. Therefore, EER AN EESEENGHEEEN
the Board supervises the implementation of communication channels AEE RBARENER ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁl
between stakeholders and the Group to ensure that the Group has RIABERAERNRE L2 RERR
established an appropriate and effective risk management and BRI R
internal control system for environmental, social and governance.
The Group actively understands the concerns and specific demands AEERGREENSAEENETEN A
of stakeholders, gives timely feedback to stakeholders, and optimises BEFK RELTHEEBERE I
the Company’s ESG management decisions and measures based on BIRELEE R B A RESGE AR EE
the feedback. We are committed to optimising the communication i %kﬁﬁ%ﬁjJE“FgﬁtiﬂﬂifT%U%ﬁ*ﬁfﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ
channels with different stakeholders, collecting opinions from all BREE BRFRLATIEBNE
parties through normal and sufficient communication, thus improving FER  RADAEEKE ,afﬁ—ﬁ%%%
the Company’s management level and achieving its sustainable B o
development.

Types of stakeholders Expectations Communication channels

FzEEEER HE BRARE

Shareholders and investors

Corporate sustainable development

Annual general meetings and other general meetings

BRRREEE CEUHERR REAEREREMBREEE
Financial results Roadshow
BITSEE &
Compliance with relevant laws and regulations Financial report
ETHRBERER s
Timely announcement of the latest corporate information Announcements and circulars

REABEERHES NERBK
Customers Fulfilling product and service responsibilities Customer service center
EF BOIERRREET BPRBEH L

Stability of software platform
RETaRBTEN

Network security management

PRL2ERE

Compliance operation
AmgE

Intellectual property protection
MBERERE

Account manager

RPEE

Customer satisfaction survey and opinion form

EPMEEHEMERR
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Types of stakeholders
F#=AEEE & R

Expectations
i)

Communication channels
BERE

Suppliers and business partners

Business ethics and creditworthingss

Supplier management meetings and events

HEBEREERH BEBREAGE HEREEGZELEY
Win-win cooperation Suppler service hotline
RIEHRE e R AR
Fair competition
NFHF
Employees Compensation and benefits Regular management communications and performance reviews
& HEiEER FEHNERBANTIERBRTZ
Career development Employee option survey
BEER BIBRHAE
Health and safety Staff newsletter and broadcasting
EEET S B TBAMEE
Equal opportunity Channels for employees to express their opinions
TE#e BIREERMNRE
Government and regulatory Paying tax according to law Reporting performance regularly
authorities ORI TEHERERR
BRREERE
Compliance with relevant laws and regulations Written response to public consultation
BT RBEEER ERMEERRANA
Business ethics Field trips
BESES BHER

Community, NGOs and media

HE - FHARERRE

Giving back to society
)it

Compliance operation
BREE

Environmental protection
HRRE

Environmental, social and governance report
BE - HgRERRE

Public and community events and partnership programs on various
issues

HETRZERNOAR KM BEDMB LA E
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3.4 Materiality assessment

Based on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide, the stakeholder survey of this year
reviewed issues related to the Group’s ESG management in 2022, and
formulated ESG issues in light of the Group’s business development
direction.

Based on stakeholder communication, collection of public available
information and peer benchmarking, and referring to the governance
issues stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s ESG Guide, the
Group has sorted out 19 ESG issues of Sinohealth Holdings. Taking
into account of the expectations and feedback suggestions of the
Group’s stakeholders, the ESG material issue matrix of Sinohealth
Holdings was finally determined after discussion and analysis. Among
them, 7 are issues of high materiality, 8 are issues of moderate
materiality and 4 are issues of low materiality. In the future, the
Group will continue to pay attention to these issues, and will focus
on the above-mentioned issues of high materiality when formulating
relevant internal development strategies and management policies.

Issues of high materiality
1. Corporate sustainable development

2. Compliance with relevant laws and regulations
3. Compliance operation

4. Fulfilling product and service responsibilities
5. Career development

6.  Paying tax according to law

7. Financial results
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Issues of moderate materiality
1. Timely announcement of the latest corporate information

2. Stability of software platform

3. Compensation and benefits

4. Giving back to society

5. Win-win cooperation

6.  Network security management

7. Business ethics and creditworthiness

8.  Health and safety

Issues of general materiality

1. Environmental protection

2. Fair competition

3. Equal opportunity

4. Intellectual property protection

4. OPERATION OF THE GROUP

4.1 Product quality management

The Group has always been committed to providing customers
with the best product experience, strictly complying with relevant
regulations, improving its service quality attentively, gaining insight
into the needs of customers and following up the whole process of
services for the products. By enhancing the knowledge reserve of
frontline sales staff and the supporting service team the Group carries
out honest and compliant marketing, responds to customer needs
more efficiently. A variety of ways have been used to communicate
and interact with customers to enhance customers’ trust in the
Group’s products. We have in place strict product and service quality
measures in all business areas of the Group. The Group has obtained
the quality management system certification (GB/T 19001-2016/
IS09001:2015). At the same time, the Group continues to improve
product quality and enhance its product quality management
standards.
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The Group maintains continuous communication with customers
in the process of selling products and services. The Group has
formulated the After-Sales Operation Process (the “SOP”), and set
up an after-sales service department to be responsible for accepting
complaints from customers. After receiving customer complaints, the
after-sales service department cooperates with relevant departments
to discuss the essence of the problem, formulates solutions and
actively implements them to meet customer demands in a most

AEEAEREERNRBORETETP
RIFFHENER - AREHET (ERH
TRIESOP) - R T ERRIBAFIZFIA
BEXBEEPHRE - ERRBAPAERE
@ﬁ?ﬁ%ﬂéﬁ%lﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ?%ﬂ%ﬂﬁ BEE
HERARNREEGEE  FURMEE
Pk e $%§Kﬁﬁf§’§$ﬁ<})§&aﬁ$lﬁﬁi
WR AT BEHFT - HEED kA E#

practicable way. The Group will then identify the responsible H - EABAEETIEI - U LENE
department based on the cause of the complaint, formulate a ERREE ERERAREIERNER
preventive and corrective mechanism, and provide training to relevant KRS HOIR R -

personnel to prevent similar incidents from happening again. During

the reporting period, no complaints about products and services were

received.

Standard and requirements of after-sales service
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4.2 Industry empowerment

The Group held a very forward-looking industry conference in
China’s health industry — CPEQ, with a full name of Pharmaceutical
Enterprises Co-operation and Development Organization, which has
been successfully held fifteen times since 2008. As a prestigious
healthcare industry conference in China, with the purpose of
“leading industrial innovation and integration” and the core tenet
of “cooperation, innovation, technology, research, development
and capital”, CPEO brings together mainstream enterprises and
institutions in different sectors in the healthcare industry, including
pharmaceuticals, commerce, capital, research and development,
technology, medical care, health services, finance and insurance.
CPEO has established itself as a global healthcare industry conference
and provide forward-looking and systematic exchanges of ideas and
information for the industry, thus providing “decision-making” and
“connection” support for the development of the healthcare industry.

CPEO is held in Bo’ao, Hainan every August (CPEOQ 2022 was
postponed to November due to the pandemic). CPEO integrates
multiple functions such as forward-looking ideas and information
exchange, strategic cooperation and communication, high-end
industrial image presentation and cross-border integration. With
its spirit of “responsibility and accountability”, CPEO promotes
the mainstream values of China’s health industry and lead the
transformation, innovation and ecological integration of the industry.
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4.3 Data security and privacy management

The Group attaches great importance to data security and privacy
management. Following the promulgation of various laws and
regulations on data security protection, we have formulated and
updated a series of company data security management regulations
and corresponding data protection and privacy policies to ensure
that various types of information and data are used legally and
compliantly. Our product team and legal compliance team will also
continue to follow up on the updates and revisions of relevant laws
and regulations, and review the Group’s internal management system
and related documents in a timely manner to ensure that relevant
risks are identified and dealt with as early as possible.

The Group mainly builds a data security and privacy management
system from five aspects: compliance management; data security
framework; division of authority; operation, maintenance and disaster
recovery; and personnel security.

1. Compliance management: The certification of the Group’s
products and services issued by an independent third party
can objectively measure the extent an enterprise attaches
importance to safety and the efforts it has put into safety.
In terms of information security management and privacy
management, the Group has established relevant management
systems and obtained certification strictly according to the
international framework standards 1S027001 and 1S027701.
At the same time, the Group’s SIC, Woodpecker Al-MDT and
Woodpecker Cloud Clinic System have passed the national
information security level protection (Level 3) assessment and
record respectively, which is the highest level of protection
certification for non-bank institutions.

43 BEZ:2RBILEE
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Data security framework: The control, security, flexibility and
isolation required by the Group’s proprietary cloud environment
to ensure business security can further reduce the risk of
external unauthorized access or attack with the help of firewall,
IP whitelist and bastion host. The framework can improve the
security of application and data access through advanced
recording and monitoring, data encryption and regular security
audits.

Division of authority: The Group divides data access authority
at the data application technology level, which can be accessed
after assessment and approval by specific personnel and
authorised personnel, and such access will be recorded and
monitored accordingly to ensure data security.

Operation, maintenance and disaster recovery: The Group
ensures that each employee works in a safe and controllable
environment, avoiding uncertain security risks to the production
environment. The Group’s internal business system, production
environment of each product and data storage have adopted
Ali Cloud, Huawei Cloud and other data storage models with
relative high security level, and data backup strategies have
been implemented to improve data reliability. Each business
unit responsible for data security regularly conducts disaster
recovery drills, so that applications and data can be quickly
restored when any abnormality occurs relating to each
application or data.

Personnel safety: The Group requires employees to actively
study relevant national laws and regulations, such as the
Civil Code, the Personal Information Protection Law, and the
Cyber Security Law. The Group conducts multiple rounds
of safety education and training online and offline. In order
to further standardise information security work, the Group
requires employees to sign a confidentiality agreement, so
that each employee is aware of the basic requirement of
information security and the serious legal consequences that
should be borne. In the daily business workflow, the Group
handles personal information security from the aspects of
creation, storage, transmission, access, use and destruction of
information.
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4.4 Internal management on anti-bribery, anti-corruption, 44 REHE REH - REERREER

anti-fraud and anti-money laundering

The Group strictly abides by national laws and regulations such as the
Anti-unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Company Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Tendering and
Bidding Law of the People’s Republic of China and the Anti-Money
Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of China, and is committed
to creating an honest and upright working atmosphere for conducting
business and pursuing career in compliance with the laws and
regulations. In order to prevent corruption incidents, the Group
has formulated and implemented the Anti-corruption and Bribery
Management Regulations, the Business Ethics Control Procedures and
the Conflict of Interest Declaration Management System. The internal
audit department of the Group sorts out the work processes in various
business areas of the Group, formulates anti-corruption measures
and investigates relevant behaviors. Key personnel in the core
business departments and back-office departments must sign the
Integrity and Self-discipline Commitment Letter. When dealing with
work-related matters, employees must maintain honesty and integrity
and abide by a fair and honest style of work and professional ethics,
and immediately report to relevant personnel in the event of conflicts
of interest so as to avoid damage to the Group due to conflicts of
interest.

At the same time, the Group has established a strict and safe
corruption reporting channel. Employees can report to the Group’s
internal audit department by telephone, SMS, WeChat, letter, email,
interview and other methods they deem appropriate. We strictly
protect the legitimate rights and interests of whistleblowers, and
reward those who have successfully reported a case according to
specific circumstances. When investigating a case to confirm its
authenticity, the Group will seal up all relevant files and financial
records and suspend relevant personnel from their posts to cooperate
with relevant departments for review. Once the case is confirmed,
the Group will take necessary disciplinary and legal actions to punish
those who violate laws and regulations, and jointly develop a code of
conduct that upholds integrity.
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The Group attaches great importance to anti-corruption training
and publicity, and conducts anti-corruption and integrity training for
Directors and employees to continuously consolidate the concept of
honest operation within the Group.

The Group will add the publicity and implementation of the
professional ethics and integrity requirements of anti-bribery, anti-
corruption, anti-fraud and anti-money laundering in the monthly
training content for new employees, including the Anti-corruption and
Anti-bribery Management Regulations, the Business Ethics Contro
Program, the Conflict of Interest Declaration Management System,
the Employee Handbook and the Personnel Management System
formulated by the Group. The Group updates the relevant knowledge
and requirements of Directors and employees through online training
by the interpretation of typical cases compiled daily and the revisions
to relevant laws and regulations.
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In addition, all departments must strictly abide by the Anti-Money
Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of China and other relevant
regulations. It is strictly forbidden to handle business or conduct
commercial cooperation for customers with unclear identities, with
a view to controlling illegal money laundering from the source
and closely monitoring illegal entities. In respect of large-amount
funds and suspicious transactions, we have clearly stipulated the
Group’s large-amount transaction procedures and closely monitored
transactions suspected of money laundering. In order to strengthen
employees’ anti-corruption awareness, we provide employees with
trainings on compliance of anti-corruption related policy every year.
Board members can learn about the Group’s anti-corruption policies
and relevant laws and regulations by participating online trainings on
anti-bribery and anti-corruption policy. Other representatives working
for the Group, such as outsourced personnel, consultants, agents,
etc., must accept the Group’s anti-corruption policy as one of the
conditions of their engagement.

During the year, there were no complaints or lawsuits against the
Group or any Directors and employees of the Group for corruption.

Intellectual property management

The Group persists on independent development and empowers the
real economy through cutting-edge technologies such as Al, big
data technology and cloud computing. Knowing the importance of
protecting intellectual property rights for the sustainable development
of the Group, we strictly comply with the Patent Law of the PRC,
the Copyright Law of the PRC, the Trademark Law of the PRC and
other relevant laws and regulations, and actively carry out the
declaration of intellectual property rights. The Group has formulated
the Management Regulations on Intellectual Property Rights to clearly
clarify the research and development of the Group’s technology,
strengthen the management of intellectual property rights to protect
intangible assets and promote the sustainable development of the
Group. At the same time, we attach great importance to the incentives
for innovative talents. In order to enhance the market competitiveness
of the Group and promote the advancement of production technology,
we have clearly defined the incentives for inventors or designers and
protect their authorship rights.
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The Group has set up dedicated intellectual property management
personnel to be responsible for the management of intellectual
property rights. The relevant persons in charge of each relevant
business department review the application of business departments,
organise and establish intellectual property file for management,
participate in the signing or review of various contracts and
agreements involving intellectual property content, establish
intellectual property contract files, and organise employees to learn
legal knowledge relating to intellectual property rights. The Group
resolutely prevents the loss of intellectual property rights caused by
improper behaviors. Once infringements are found, we will promptly
notify relevant departments and do the job of checking evidence,
and take active measures to cooperate with relevant departments to
solve problems under the guidance of administrative law enforcement
agencies and judicial authorities.

During the reporting period, the Group had no major incidents of
infringement of intellectual property rights, and the Group has taken
all reasonable measures to fully protect the Group’s rights and
interests in respect of its intellectual property, while avoiding any
violation of the legitimate rights and interests of third parties.

Sustainable Supplier Management

As a socially responsible enterprise, building a sustainable supply
chain is of paramount importance to the Group. In order to strengthen
the management of suppliers, we have compiled the Supplier
Management Rules to manage suppliers in terms of selection and
inclusion of suppliers, evaluation of cooperation process, acceptance
of results and regular dynamic evaluation.

In addition, we will also consider social and environmental factors
in the process of selecting suppliers. Purchasing must meet the
requirements of green procurement, and environmentally friendly
products and services are preferred, with a view to reducing
resource consumption and environmental pollution in the process of
manufacturing, transportation, storage and usage. The purchased
products should use clean energy, which is conducive to reducing
the waste of water resources and avoiding waste caused by
excessive purchases. We also place much emphasis on integrity and
professional ethics. When entering into contract with a supplier, an
anti-bribery agreement will also be signed to confirm that the supplier
abides by relevant laws and regulations on anti-corruption and bribery,
S0 as to avoid relevant risks in the course of operation wherever
possible. Suppliers who are in breach of the relevant provisions of
the Anti-Commercial Bribery Agreement signed with us or seriously
violate commercial ethics during the cooperation process or cause
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major losses to the Group’s projects due to poor management will be
blacklisted and the cooperation will be permanently cancelled.

The Group generally includes the suppliers inspected in each
procurement process into the database of suppliers, which are
classified into qualified suppliers and potential suppliers and
appended with detailed description of inspection and evaluation. For
example, in respect of IT hardware assets, in order to ensure the
continuous supply and stable quality of products, the Group inspects
and selects new suppliers every year and performs comprehensive
evaluation in terms of six aspects, namely supplier qualifications,
company size, solution demand matching, price rationality, service
standard clarity and technical personnel capabilities. After the
suppliers are included in the database, the finance department of the
Group Headquarters will further conduct a compliance review.

The Group conducts a detailed evaluation of the performance in
the process of cooperation with suppliers, and the Group’s finance
department is responsible for reviewing the compliance of the subject
matter and payment. The performance evaluation of all suppliers is
carried out from four dimensions, i.e. system equipment failure rate,
service response speed, problem handling result quality and technical
personnel capabilities. For software suppliers, the Group conducts
performance evaluations after the pilot is launched, after the project
is accepted and before the annual service renewal.

The Group communicates closely with suppliers through telephone,
email, online meetings and on-site inspections in its normal operation,
and regularly plans the next year’s cooperation service plan, new
changes in products and services, internal demands, etc. During the
progress of the projects, the Group and its suppliers regularly conduct
face-to-face communication, actively feedback on the progress of
the projects and sort out relevant demands, so as to lay a sound
foundation for further cooperation. As at the end of the reporting
period, the Group had a total of 96 suppliers in its database, of which
56 were located in Guangdong Province.
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5. CARING FOR EMPLOYEES AND PROMOTING 5 BERREEEI%RE
EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT
5.1 Protecting the rights and interests of employees 51 BIERRE

The Group firmly believes that talents are an important resource
for the Group’s sustainable development strategy and an important
cornerstone for promoting innovative development and scale
upgrading of the enterprise. The Group strictly abides by relevant
laws and regulations such as the Labor Law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Employment Promotion Law of the People’s Republic of China
and the Social Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China.
Such laws and regulations fully protect the rights and interests of
employees, so that we can form an efficient and collaborative talent
team. We adopt diversified ways to recruit professional talents,
laying a solid foundation for the rapid development of the Group.
We focus on developing extensive training courses, enhancing the
professionalism of employees, implementing a transparent mechanism
for performance appraisal and promotion of employees and ensuring
the stability of the talent team. At the same time, we are committed
to creating an inclusive and comfortable working environment for our
employees. Through diversified corporate cultural activities and caring
benefits, we can effectively enhance employees’ sense of happiness
and belonging.

Staff recruitment

The Group has established a sound talent recruitment management
system. We continuously improve recruitment efficiency through
process-based and systematic recruitment management. We continue
to attract talents to join the Group through recruitment in society. For
some special positions, in addition to headhunting recommendations,
the Group also attracts outstanding high-calibre talents through a
wide range of external recommendation channels, so as to enrich
the professionalism and experience of the team. In addition, we
have implemented the Sinohealth internal referral system. For the
job requirements updated by the Group on external websites, the
employees of the Group can accumulate bonus points and obtain
certain internal referral rewards according to the internal referral
rules.
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In the recruitment process, we pursue the recruitment principle
of openness, equality and competition. Objective factors such as
experience, professional ability, potential, comprehensive quality,
values and job-seeking motivation of each applicant are important
indicators for us to select outstanding talents. During the registration
process of recruitment, candidates must first pass the identity
verification to ensure that they meet the requirements of legal
employment age. If there are violations of requirements such as
identity and age, both parties can agree to cancel the employment,
and in case a labor contract having been signed, both parties can
immediately terminate the labor contract to protect their legal labor
rights and interests. During the reporting period, we did not employ
any child labor or forced labor.

Compensation and performance

The Group’s practices on entry salary, salary payment and salary
adjustment are all subject to the Group’s salary management system,
and are strictly implemented in accordance with the relevant internal
policies of the Group. In the management of salary, the Group will
make appropriate adjustments based on the performance appraisal
results of employees in each department within a reasonable budget.

By formulating reasonable strategic objectives, business plans
and performance appraisal mechanisms, the Group improves
the ability and performance of individual employee as well as
enhances the organisational management standard and efficiency.
In order to achieve sustainable and rapid growth in performance
coaching management and employee personal development, we
have established the Performance Appraisal Management System
to objectively and fairly measure, and facilitate the improvement
of, employees’ personal abilities, as well as to assist the Group’s
corporate governance. Starting from the four aspects of responsibility
result orientation, two-way communication, fairness and objectivity
and dynamic adjustment, we conduct detailed indicator assessments
every one month or two months taking into account the work
nature of related departments and the assessment indicators,
and conduct a combined assessment at the end of the year. The
setting of assessment objectives is based on the self-assessment of
employees. According to the annual plan of the individual position,
the assessment cycle is gradually reduced to a shorter period.
The assessment indicators and weights are set up first, and then
the plan of the employee’s post is reviewed and adjusted under
the discussion of the immediate superior and HRBP. Finally, the
performance goals are jointly confirmed and self-conclusion and
result evaluation are conducted during the assessment cycle. The
superior evaluates employee’s daily work based on their performance
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and gives suggestions for improvement, so that the employee can
get comprehensive and substantial feedback. In order to ensure the
efficiency of the Group’s performance management operation, we
also provide a performance appeal channel, through which employees
can appeal in writing if they have any objections to the performance
appraisal results.

In order to enhance employees’ independent working ability,
enthusiasm and initiative for work, at the end of each performance
appraisal year, the Group will open regular promotion channels to
employees, and leverage on a sound corporate promotion system
to attract and motivate outstanding core talents. Those who have
outstanding performance or have made significant contributions to the
Group will be promoted exceptionally, and the Group will open special
annual promotion channels for them so that outstanding talents can
be retained.

The Board of the Group has resolved to adopt the Share Award
Scheme on 5 December 2022, in order to motivate core employees
who have an important impact on the Company’s operating results
and future development.

Promotion and career development

The Group provides diversified development direction and space
for in-service employees. First of all, based on the dual-channel
development path of their job position, employees may choose their
professional and management direction. On the one hand, they
can further develop their professional skills, accumulate profound
professional capabilities and help customers achieve success. On
the other hand, when their professional skills reach certain level,
they may also flow horizontally to other job positions, and to become
cross-regional and cross-business talents, so as to make their
personal development more diversified.

The Group classifies the ranking of professional talents in a scientific
manner, and adopts the method of “separating evaluation from
employment” for job promotion, which means that the premise of job
promotion is to obtain the qualification of corresponding ranking, but
the success of job qualification certification does not necessarily lead
to job promotion. Instead, the values and potentials shall be evaluated
comprehensively to ensure the appropriate matching of job position
and talent and the preciseness of job promotion. As for the promotion
of managers, the Group encourages equal employment and aims to
stimulate the maximum potential of the talents, attach importance to
results and facts, and give priority to the selection of managers from
the teams that can overcome difficulties.
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Working hours and holidays

In accordance with the Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic
of China and other laws and regulations, and in light of the actual
situation of the Group, the Group has clearly states in its Staff Manual
the working hours and related vacation arrangements of employees.
We adopt a standard working hour system and follow regulations to
formulate practicable working hours to ensure that employees have
sufficient rest time. Employees are required to work 5 days a week
and 7 hours a day. In addition, we will implement flexible working
hours to improve the work efficiency of employees, but employees
shall consciously abide by the Group’s working hour system and work
in the workplace specified by the Group. If there is the need to work
at home in special circumstances, a flexible mixed work mode can be
adopted. The Group will appropriately adjust the specific working hour
system and working hours for special positions in accordance with
legal regulations and in light of the actual situation, and implement
relevant specific plans after getting written approval from the human
resources department. In addition to the annual leave and statutory
holidays stipulated by the Labor Law of PRC, current employees of
the Group are entitled to additional leave such as wedding leave,
maternity leave and paternity leave.

Equal opportunity, diversity and anti-discrimination

The Group has always spared no effort to protect equal and legitimate
rights and interests of employees, and is committed to promoting
equal and fair employment and prohibiting any form of discrimination
in employment. We do not tolerate direct or indirect discrimination
against employees or job applicants due to gender, race, pregnancy,
disability, marital status, family status and other factors. We strive to
create a harmonious and comfortable workplace environment, respect
and treat every employee well, and enhance their sense of belonging
to the Group. We are committed to promoting gender equality in the
Group. Gender equality is embedded in the corporate culture from
the management onwards, and women at all levels are given equal
opportunities for development and influence. The Board is divided
equally between male and female, and female employees account
for more than 60% of the total workforce, reflecting the diversity,
fairness and inclusiveness of the Group.
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5.2 Staff training and development

The Group is well aware that employees are the key resources for
the long-term development of the enterprise, hence the growth and
development of employees is also one of the Company’s important
strategies. Focusing on the achievement of corporate strategic goals,
the Group has built a dual-development T&D (Training & Development)
system that emphasises talent development at the company level and
business improvement at the departmental level.

The company-level training system is built around the Goup’s strategic
goals, taking into account the organisational and talent inventory
results, competency models, leadership models, professional learning
maps and IDP tools.

Training blueprint: Dual Development T&D System
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Focusing on the construction of the training system, and in light
of the personal career development plan of employees, we provide
diversified training for employees through online and offline teaching
modes, including new employee induction training, Sinohealth
workshop, Sinohealth Geek, Sinohealth Science Knowledge,
Sinohealth Joint Reading, etc. We also provide personalised training
courses according to the needs of different positions, including basic
drug knowledge, Greenplum technology sharing, medical reform
training and other trainings on industry knowledge. Through the
Sinohealth Internal Trainer Program, we have also cultivated a group
of internal trainers who have a deep understanding of the Company’s
internal training needs and have accumulated relevant knowledge and
are willing to share.

In order to help new employees integrate faster and deepen their
understanding of the Group’s culture and business, the Group
organises a two-day training course for new employees every month,
covering corporate culture and development, systems and policies
of the Group, system usage, and business introduction etc. Through
online examinations, the understanding of the training content can
be deepened. A series of interviews, such as the sharing from role
models and CPEQ veterans, provide good guidance for new employees
to understand their job content and how to solve the difficulties they
are about to face.

Occupational safety and health

The Group always puts the health and safety of its employees at the
top priority, and strictly abides by the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on the Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases, the
Law of the People’s Republic of China on Emergency Response, the
Work Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Administrative
Measures for Contingency Plans for Emergencies and other relevant
laws and regulations. The Group is committed to creating a healthy
and comfortable working environment for employees. In addition to
providing employees with free physical examinations every year to
protect their physical and mental health, we have also formulated
an internal employee handbook to clearly define the obligations
and responsibilities that each employee should observe in respect
of health and safety, so as to protect their own safety. Meanwhile,
we also remind employees to maintain a sound mental health at all
times. If any problems relating to employees such as abnormal work
behavior, difficulties in life and emotional problems are found, they
should be reported to the relevant departments in time. We have had
no work-related fatalities reported in the past three years (including
the reporting period).
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5.4 Employee care and welfare

We pay attention to the feelings of employees, and believe that
improving employees’ sense of happiness and belonging can help
retain outstanding talents. We have established a comprehensive
welfare system to fully take care of employees’ working life and
needs. In addition to the contribution to social security for employees
such as pension, medical care, unemployment, work-related injury
and housing provident fund in accordance with the social security
policy stipulated by law, we also provide other special benefits,
including red packets for bridesmaids, holiday gifts, meal allowance,
wedding bonuses, team building funds, cultural and recreation
activities, health checkups and anniversary commemorations. In
addition to statutory holidays, the Company adds an extra day of
welfare leave during the Chinese New Year Festival for employees to
have more time to reunite with relatives and friends and try to avoid
the peak period of travel during the festival.

In April 2022, in order to better meet the needs of female
employees who are new mothers for rest, breast milk preparation
and breastfeeding, Sinohealth Holdings has constructed a new
“Mommy Cottage” for mothers at work which is equipped with sofas,
refrigerators, tables, cute pillows and disinfection supplies. While
ensuring hygiene, it avoids the inconvenience of mothers going to a
public refrigerator in the pantry to fetch and store milk, also acting as
a token for paying tribute to each great mother at work.
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In addition to work, Sinohealth Holdings also organises a variety of
club activities among the staff. These activities enrich the leisure life
of the staff and improve the cohesion of the staff team. The activities
include, among others, the manicure session, which is a special event
for all female employees on the National Working Women’s Day every
year, the parent-child activity held on International Children’s Day,
quarterly birthday parties, Christmas activities and fun sports games.
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GREEN SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT INITIATIVES
While developing its business, the Group faithfully fulfills corporate
environmental protection responsibilities, abides by the Environmental
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China and other relevant national
environmental protection regulations, integrates the concept of green
development into all aspects of operation and actively explores energy
saving and emission reduction practices, coordinating with continuous
green training and publicity. The Group is committed to reducing the
environmental impact of the operations and promoting the harmonious
integration of the enterprise with the environment.

6.1 Energy saving and emission reduction

The Group attaches great importance to environmental protection
and often promotes the concept of environmental protection and
sustainable development to employees through different channels.
The Group tries its best to save energy and reduce waste in its daily
operation, so as to reduce the emission of exhaust gas. Through
different publicity activities for environmental protection, employees’
awareness of reducing exhaust emissions has been raised. During
the year, the Group’s energy consumption mainly came from electric
power, water and paper use in the office area. The main energy
saving and emission reduction policies implemented are as follows:

Energy saving
1. Employees should turn off the lights when leaving the office to
prevent the cases of “unused lights”.

2. Reduce the standby power consumption of office equipment
such as computers and printers. When no device is in use, it
should be set to automatically enter a low-energy sleep state.

3. Set the air-conditioning temperature reasonably. The
air-conditioning temperature in offices and conference rooms
in summer should not be lower than 26 degrees Celsius. The
windows must be closed when the air-conditioning is turned on.

4. The application servers of the collaborative office system and
business system are required to rent and use the cloud service
area resources of Alibaba Cloud and Huawei Cloud so as to
reduce the energy consumption of local server procurement and
deployment.
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In addition, the Group will also replace long-distance face-to-face
meetings with electronic communication means such as telephone or
Tencent meetings and ZOOM meetings to reduce carbon emissions
from business travel. Through the above measures, employees’
awareness of energy saving has been increased.

The following table sets out the energy consumption performance of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022:

o AEBEREUEFIEASHE -
ZOOM@%ﬁE?%)@EﬁHﬂ%E@E@%@
BE  ROBEZREENTEN - BB
LLTEM BT ERBURES -

TREJRNEBHZE20220F12 8318 L5
ERRERERERR

Year ended 31 December 2022

HZE2022F
Energy consumption BiFEfE 12A31BILEE
Purchased electricity (kilowatt hours) SNEBE ) (FRES) 463,307
0il consumption by vehicles (litres) B () 385

The Group has considered quantitative information reflecting the Group’s
management of the risks associated with environment, society and climate,
including greenhouse gas (“GHG”") emissions and resources consumption. GHG
emissions include scope 1 and scope 2 emissions. Scope 1 direct emissions
include GHG emissions from the Company’s administrative vehicles, and scope
2 indirect emissions include GHG emissions from the Company’s purchased
electricity.

AEEEEZRERRAKEHRE 1HER
REABRBREENTEAN  BRAE
REENNERHER - BERBINEE
%ﬁm&%ﬁﬁﬂ#ﬁﬁl BETERFHEE

RRTHEROEERBHN - BE2HE
FHBERARINEENEROBEREH
e

Year ended 31 December 2022

BZE2022F
Emissions BER 12A31BILEE
GHG emissions (tonnes of CO,-e) BEREHENE (B 284.65
Scope 1 (direct emissions) (tonnes of CO,-e) #HET (EEHRE) (ﬂmﬁ %ﬂ:ﬁm%ﬁ% 0.91
Scope 2 (indirect emissions) (tonnes of CO,-€) FE2 (MEHnE) (B-attxksEE 283.74

GHG emissions are calculated based on relevant emission factors in “Appendix II:
Guidelines for Reporting Environmental Key Performance Indicators” in “How to Prepare
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report” issued by the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange

Water conservation
1. Strengthen the repair and maintenance of water equipment to
avoid waste of water resources.

2. Post water-saving slogans in pantries and restrooms, calling on
employees to develop good habits of water conservation.

3. Turn off the water tap in time when getting hand sanitizer.
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Saving paper

1. Make full use of online office and implement a paperless office
process to reduce paper consumption. The office uniformly uses
the internal OA system and the corporate WeChat on the mobile
terminal. All internal regulations, documents and notices shall
be distributed by online electronic document mode. The input of
internal meetings is also sent through corporate WeChat group
electronic documents to avoid paper text printing.

2. Reduce the number of repeated printing, advocate double-sided
paper usage and control the number of documents printed.

3. Pay attention to the reuse of used paper to achieve recycling.

Waste management

The Group calls on employees to reduce the use of disposable items
S0 as to save resources and reduce waste. In addition, the Group
actively implements the requirements of the national government and
conducts waste sorting and recycling. According to the classification
standards of food waste, recyclable garbage, other waste and
hazardous waste, all the waste is piled up in a centralised location.
For waste paper, plastic and other recyclable garbage generated
in the office area, the Group arranges cleaning staff to hand them
over to waste recyclers on a regular basis. Food waste, other waste
and hazardous waste will be handled uniformly by the property
management. In addition, the Group also improves the setting of
trash bins in the original office, reduces the number of trash hins,
centrally places the recycling trash bins in the office instead of small
and medium-sized trash bins next to employee workstations, so as to
instruct employees to sort out garbage, protect the environment and
jointly practice scientific waste collection and management.

Responding to climate change

In the face of the challenge of global climate change, we strive
to fulfill China’s emission reduction responsibilities promised in
the Paris Climate Agreement and support the country’s vision of
achieving carbon peaking in 2030 and carbon neutrality in 2060.
As a responsible enterprise, we will regularly review the risks and
opportunities of climate change for the Group, identify the substantial
and transformation risks that climate change may bring to the Group,
fulfill our commitments to environmental protection and emission
reduction, and achieve environmental compliance management and
operation.
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The Directors discuss and review the risks of global climate change
on the operation and transformation of the Group entities at the
annual board meeting. The extreme weather risks that may be
brought about by climate-related issues, such as super typhoons and
floods which have occurred more frequently lately, may increase the
cost of the operation and maintenance of our infrastructure and affect
the health and safety of our employees.

In respect of transformation risks, our related operating costs may
be increased based on the assessment on the government regulatory
policies, technology and market trends as well as the more in-depth
practical requirements for sustainable development. For instance,
replacing more energy-saving and environment-friendly lighting
facilities, increasing the green space in the office and the possible
increase in emission disclosure requirements will also increase our
related monitoring costs.

In addition to the risks described above, we have identified no other
risks that could adversely affect the operation, strategic planning and
financial performance of our entities.

ESNFREEFEZ LAMUBTRERR
FECHEEERELRBELTENAE
B o SO RIRAR AR AT BE A R A0 Ml R
RER  WEE  BREMRE MK
T R NRMERRBES REER
ARRRERAMEMN  RAETHRER
ZEHERIBHERRNTE -

PREUERNE  REHHFEERRK
By - MHBHHFE - ERERANA
TEERRNBRER R SE M
FEREERAR - BT AR RIRH R AA
R MAREMBRGANZEER
T HRAREMA SR ERR - # A
&R IIAERA SRR

B B EBRSN - FAFIAR BRI H i A ae ¥
EAMERES  BRRIAUARMBRR
THEKAATENRR



Sinohealth Holdings Limited & B2 A% B BR 2 &)
Annual Report 2022 =5 = —FE[F#HE

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BE HERERRSE

131

SOCIAL CONTRIBUTION

As at November 2022, all the CPEO special relief funds donated by the
Group for the treatment of patients with malignant tumors and strokes
have been distributed. Most of the assisted patients are minors and
poverty-stricken households. The relief fund was not a big amount is of
great significance. The Group also actively responded to the government’s
proposal to win the battle against poverty, and give priority to the purchase
of agricultural products in poverty-stricken areas to help consumption and
poverty alleviation, by purchasing agricultural products in poverty-stricken
areas directly from farmers or indirectly through agricultural product trading
companies.

The Group adheres to the mission of “developing smart healthcare industry,
and promoting smart healthy life”. In the future, it will continue to focus
on the solution of “human health” and explore various ways to serve the
society, as well as fulfill its corporate responsibility with gratitude.

Bl at s
A
e g L7 T L HEE ]
{0 s L] _J a
RN S v e

HEEM
HE202F1 A ARERBORARERILE
BAKFEDSENAEZAMBEC 2 BEME
2 MBBEZRARFEAURBER - REL
ZEEREX - ARENRBOERGTHRHE
HRE  BEARBERMERERNHAEKE
Witd  BBERNEPIREKBBAREME
RERBERLERER °

ARERT[EERFER  EERELEIN
B RRBEBRSRRARRE] K%
BARBHENAN  WERZOBITREE
fF o



132

Sinohealth Holdings Limited EPJ%}‘“HQ’E[‘E/D\T
Annual Report 2022 = = ZFFEHRE

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE HERERES

APPENDIX I: ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL KPI SUMMARY  Bff 8% —

BE

RERMESERE

BIER

wEKEE (BT

Environmental performance Unit FY 2022

RIBRE By 202281 &

GHG emissions

BMERBHERE

Direct GHG emissions (scope 1) tonnes of CO2 -e 0.91

EEAEREEMN (HBE—) AP RES :

Indirect GHG emissi\ons (scope 2) tonnes of CO2 -e 083,74

MEAEREYEN (HEC ABE SR E '

GHG emissions intensity

BERBHEREE

GHG emissions intensity (per m?) tonnes of CO2 e/m2 0.07

BERBHENEE (BFHK) A=A R E K ‘

GHG emlssi0n§ intensity (per employee) tonnes of CO2 e/employee 0.37

BERBHENEE(EI) AW SR E 8T :

Electricity consumption

REVRFE M

Purchased electricity consumption Mega KWh 463.307

SNEENFERAE KFF ’

Purchased electricity consumption intensity (per m?) Mega KWh/m? 199 91

SNBEHEABE (BF7K) KTFRE Tk :

Purchased electricity consumption intensity (per employee) Mega KWh/employee 682.34

SNBEENFERAEE (BI) KFER,/ BT :

Water consumption

KGRH ¥

Total water consumption m?

fFEKE K 189.529

Total water consumption intensity (per m?) m3/m? 0.05

BFEKEE (BFHK) SRS FEFK '

Total water consumption intensity (per employee) m%/employee 0.28
MHKSBT :
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Environmental performance Unit FY 2022
RIBRR By 202281
Hazardous waste

BEBEY

Used toner cartridges unit 17
BEREEHE 1®

Used batteries unit

BEE ] 3%0
Non-hazardous waste

BEBREY

Generation of non-hazardous waste kg 15000
BEBERYES T

Non-hazardous waste intensity (per employee) kg/employee 29 09
EEREYESRE(EI) FR/8T :
Paper consumption

HEIRHAE

Paper consumption kg 165
MERAE =

Paper consumption intensity (per employee) kg/employee 0.4
MoRERERE (BI) Fr/8T :
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Social scope Unit FY2022
HEEHE By 202281
All employees person

FEET 680
Total number of employees (by gender)

BTHAB (RMAIBS)

Female employees person 491
ZWHBET A

Male employees person 259
SHET A

Total number of employees (by age group)

ETIAH (RFRERE D)

Aged below 30 person 399
U TEL A

Aged 30-50 person 278
30-50% B T A

Aged over 50 person 3
505k A EB T

Total number of employees (by employment category)

ETMH (ZETERHS)

Full-time entry-level employees person 640
ZREEET A

Full-time middle-level management person 31
TRAPRERE A

Full-time senior management person 9
2BERERE A

Total number of employees (by geographical region)

BT (REES)

Employees in North China person 109
R RREIL SR 8 T A

Employees in §outh (}hina person 570
RERPEm RS E T A

Employees in‘ Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan person 1
BRAEHET A
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Social scope Unit FY2022
MR By 202284 £
Employee turnover rate (by gender)

BIRKLEE (RHERE D)

Female employees percentage 8
ZHEET Btk

Male employees percentage 34
EHET Aot

Employee turnover rate (by age group)

BIRALE (RFRERE D)

Aged below 30 percentage 39
0mATEL RN

Aged 30-50 percentage 29
30-50p% B8 T Bkt

Aged over 50 percentage B
5058 A EB T ERiNs¢

Employee turnover rate (by geographical region)

BIRALEA (RBEES)

North China percentage 35
1N S gl Aot

South China percentage 29
AR EKRERE T Btk

Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan percentage B
R AHE ERiNs¢

Percentage of employees trained (by gender)

FHE T A (RERIE D)

Female employees percentage 62
ZHEET Antt

Male employees percentage 38
BHET Bkt

Percentage of employees trained (by employment category)

FIHIEITH (RETEHAE D)

Full-time entry-level employees percentage 94.95
SRMEEET ANk '
Full-time middle-level management percentage 457
ERPREEE Antt '
Full-time senior management percentage 118
ERESREERE Bkt '




136

Sinohealth Holdings Limited EPJ%}‘“HQ’E[‘E/D\T
Annual Report 2022 = = ZFFEHRE

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE HERERES

Social scope Unit FY2022
HEEHE By 202281
Average training hours per employee (by gender)

FHIE TP FINEE (RERE D)

Female employees

ZMRT N 15.67
Male employees

5‘%4‘_&._?:\1 /J\Hitj- 15.75
Average training hours per employee (by employment category)

FHETFEFINEGH (RETEAES

Full-time entry-level employees 15.6
PREEET AN .
Full-time middle-level management 99
ERPRERRE N

Full-time senior management 47
cHERERE /B 0%

BERENZZ -BIERIETH

Occupational health and safety — Cases of work-related casualties of employees

against the Group or employee

HARBERETREYCRENE SHFAFARTEHE

=]
7N

Work-related fatalities (2020, 2021 and 2022) person B
E T3 A2 (2020 » 2021 22022 F &) A

Work-related fatality rate percentage B
A T T2 (2020 ~ 2021 K 2022F [F) ANtk

Lost days due to work-related injuries day B
ATBERTERE X

Anti-corruption

RES

Number of concluded cases regarding corrupt practices brought case
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APPENDIX II: INDEX TO THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE OF

THE STOCK EXCHANGE

Bl ERES) RS

ffsx— : BMRXF(RE  HERE

Indicator Content

Respective Section

EERR HEEE
A. Environmental Area
ARETEIRE
Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
e on the issuer relating to air and GHG emissions, discharges 6. Green sustainable
el into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non development initiatives
s hazardous waste. \ B.ARB A EER
BREZEMAEREEW - FUKRLHOPES A | 85
ERBEVNELSH : @QBEK & (h)ETHET
ABERZENEBERRER
- ) - 6.1 Energy saving and
The types of emissions and respective emissions data. . :
AT SRR R AR R pbrioded
Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG Appendix [
emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. Environmental and
A2 pergnit of production\ volurrle, per facility). ) social KPI summary
‘ B#E (?ﬁﬂ&ﬁ‘é;}fﬁ‘aﬂﬁ (BE2) R EREBIRE PR — @ IRIMMAt
(LAMEGHE) & (0@ M) BE (MIAZES B - BRARE ISR
HRETE) 2
) Appendix [:
o =t Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where :
A1 : Emissions 2 g 3 3 ' Environmental and
A R A3 ?;)Cpilri%%nate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per social KPI summary
’ i = = . Ty Tik— - IRIBNG
MELHEEEENEE (M) & (mam e | HE R
E(MUBEREN  SRETE g
. ' Appendix I:
Total non ha;ardoqs waste produped (in tonngs) and, where e e -
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per .
" social KPl summary
Al.4 faC|I|ty). . Mrj'ff_ : fgiﬁ&?\i
FEEMRERERY@E M E) X (B E | & panee o
E(MAESESEN -  §ERETE) ;52- PEERRAAIR
Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to 6. Green sustainable
A5 achieve them. \ \ B B development iiitiatives
' Eﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ’wmﬁzé B1E R AEDE L B IRATEE %@i@ﬂﬁ?ﬁ%@
\ //,\%%% =N =]
Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes
are handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and 6.2 Waste management
A1.6 steps taken to achieve them. \ 6.0 BEEYEE
MR IR A = M mEFEY IS - RIGAFTEIY | :
BUREE B IR R AE R E L B IR FTERER A 2 B
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Indicator Content

Respective Section
HEEAEE

EERE
General Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy,
disclosure water and qther raw materials.

—R iR ARERER (BFERR - KREMEME) BER

6.1 Energy saving and
emission reduction

6.1 85 BERBE

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g.
electricity, gas, oil) in total (kWh in "000s) and intensity (e.g.
A2 1 per unit of productlon volume, per faC|I|ty). \
' ?;ziﬁﬁ”gﬂ E’JE?&&/&F‘?E g (8 - |aol)
BREE (UTETERAR) RER (WAGESE
& - BIERMAE) ©

Appendix I
Environmental and
social KPl summary
FMigg— : IRIF Joat
Aﬁafu IR

3(

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of
A2.2 production volume, per facility). ‘
BEKERTE (N SEBER - SEREHE) -

A2 : Use of Resources

Appendix I
Environmental and
social KPI summary
Mgk — : IRIZ Rt
;ﬁ%@ﬁi%ﬁ?ﬂ‘a%ﬁ

A2 BIREH

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.

R PTET A REA NG B R RAEIE LR
PREREREY 28R

A2.3

6. Green sustainable
development initiatives
6.4 BRI FEER
B

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water
that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps
A2.4 taken to achieve them.

6. Green sustainable
development initiatives

Total packaging material used for finished products (in
A2 5 tonnes) and (if applicable) proportion of per unit produced.

' ZpK HET R BEM R E (AMEETE) & (EA )
REEBEMIGE -

TR L A AN - Ry | GESTIRER
K ias B 18 R AIE SIS L B ATRAR M S - i
Appendix [

Environmental and
social KPI summary
MgE— : BRIZ KAt
zfﬂ‘%ﬁj B IE IS4

General - - . o )
: Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact on the
disclosure g g P

— R E environment and natural resources.

BIEZEITAEIRR R RAEREKENFZE R
A3 : The Environment

6. Green sustainable
development initiatives
6.4 BRI FEERE
BE

and Natural Resources A3.1

3: B R RREE Description of the significant impacts of activities on the

environment and natural resources and the actions taken to

6. Green sustainable
development initiatives

A4 : Climate change

manage them. AR FELERE

HMEBEHHRBTRRAABERNERAZERDR | 8%

MEREBTENTE -

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate | 6.3 Responding to
General related issues which have impacted, and those which may climate change
disclosure impact, the issuer. 6.3E S RIEE b
— kR HRREH R EEHEITAEEFENER

ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬂmﬁ%

A s RIREAE A4 Description of the significant climate-related issues which

have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and
the actions taken to manage them.

e Rl WEITAEETXENERNRIRAE
BEH - &ﬁﬁﬁ@

6.3 Responding to
climate change

6.3 RIxEML
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Indicator Content

Respective Section

EERA HHEA R
B. Social area
BAtEEE

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with

relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact

on the issuer relating to compensation and dismissal, 5. Caring for

recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods,

employees and

giig'laorsalljre equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other promoting employee
AT benefits and welfare. develoi)ment
B kAR E BEREA - TERE - KRH - 5B 8 T K2k
TE#E - Zb - RERAREMASRER BT#R
B QR RO)ETHETABERZENER
TERRRRB -
B1 : Employment Appendix [
B1 : {&Ef% Total workforce by gender, employment type (e.g. fulltime, Environmental and
B 1 part-time), age group and geographical region. social KPI summary
' RIER - EBERE (N2 BeRB) - FRERI R | Migk— : BIF R
EEOHIEESEE - SHARERIEEE
z
Appendix [
Environmental and
. Employeel turnovgr rate by gender, age group and social KPI summary
. ggograpmcal region. i . . Biss— : BBIE At
;ﬁ |$/DJ|J N Eﬁ%%ﬂ%”&i@EEUE E)‘MEE\//ILQEH:% ° @Eﬁf@%ﬁ@l?‘é’@ﬁ%
2
Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with
e relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
disclosure on the issuer relating to providing a safe working environment | 5.3 Occupational
— and protecting employees _from occupational hazards. safety and health
. EERELZE2THERERREEEREBEMFEE | SBEL2EER
B QIR : RO ETHETABERZENER
ERERBRBINER o
Appendix I:
Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each Environmental and
B2 1 of the past three years including the reporting year. social KPI summary
‘ BE=—F (PRERFE) BFEAITHRHOAZRE | Ms— : RERA
B2: Health and Safety K o e BREIIEIER
B2 : RFFHZLE 2
Appendix [
Environmental and
B2 2 Lost days due to work-related injury. social KPI summary
' ETEBERTIERS - Meg— : IRIE At
BHARERIEER
2
Description of occupational health and safety measures )
B2 3 adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored. g’é?eglcgﬁga;g);ﬁl]

W PR B R R BB L 21 - A RARBIRTT
REERTTE °

5.3 2 2R
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Indicator Content

Respective Section

EERE HHEBER
Policy on improving employees’ knowledge and skills in -
dGiesr;IeorsallJre performing their duties. Descriptions of training activities. gé%eslct)afrfngﬁ;mng and
i ARIIRTHE B BT T8 B A0 A8 R Al OB o S s s
ﬁ&%&ﬂ% ﬁiﬁtiﬁﬁlbﬁib o 28T DDJ”/\?xE
The percentage of trained employees by gender and Applend|x :
X ) Environmental and
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle-level Al
B3 : Development and B3.1 management, etc). N Bse— igftﬁyﬁ
Training RUFIREERTE (NMaREEE  TRERE) S ﬁéa\f@%%%i*@%
B3 : HE R PHRIEEB DL - = PRAAIEIT

The average number of training hours completed by each
employee by gender and of the employee category.

Appendix I:
Environmental and
social KPl summary

BRA IEE T Roa ]2 THY ¢ (a) B3R & (b)@<p 43
TABEAFZENHBERLABINER -

B3.2 BERRERENES SREBRRTINTY | MiE—  BEEM
RrEK o B RAREIUE SR
2
Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with
o relevan't laws and regulations thgt have a significant impact 5.1 Protect.ing the
disclosure on the issuer relating to prevention of child labor or forced rights and interests of
— R labor. employees

518 T IRRE

B4 : Labor standards

B4 : &% TR Description of measures to review employment practices to

B4.1 avoid child and forced labor. N
MR R EF R E R R ET REHIST -

5.1 Protecting the
rights and interests of
employees

518 THEzmR[E

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when
B4.2 discovered. B
RE B BE AR R ERR A B ISP ERER Y 2P 58

5.1 Protecting the
rights and interests of
employees

518 THEzmRME
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Indicator Content
EEAR

Respective Section
EEAEE

B5 : Supply chain
management
B5 : BT

4.6 Sustainable

General Policies on managing the environmental and social risks of )
disclosure the supply chain. iugpgﬂin;;r}?igﬂegm%n;:
—RRHEE BIRMEHNIRE A gRRECE - 58 TRPAIR R
4.6 Sustainable
B5 1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. supplier management
' i B SR HEREEE o 4.6 AIFFEMERE
b2
Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, 4.6 Sustainable
number of suppliers where the practices are implemented, sﬁpplier management
B5.2 and how they are implemented and monitored. 46 A LB pE S
Hit A e AR E N - mERITERBIIR 1 TRPAR RS
HEREE @ ARBARITRERFE -
Description of practices used to identify environmental )
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are gﬁ%pslil:esrt%g?lzlgement
B5.3 implemented and monitored. 46 IS ER S
it B R R B EIR AT A IR IR Rt g E e &) 1 TIRPAERIRTE
B - ARAMERITRERTE -
Description of practices used to promote environmentally ,
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, gﬁgpsliuesrt%g?lzlgement
B5.4 and how they are implemented and monitored.

A RE e R IR 2 2 IR IR EE mn MRS AU 18
Bl IARMEREAMITRERTE -

46 AIFFEHERE
i
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Indicator Content
EERE

Respective Section
HERELH

B. Social area

B EEE

B6: Product responsibility
B61: EmEE

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with
relevant laws and regulations, that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to health and safety, advertising,

4.1 Product quality
management

((j%leneral labelling and privacy matters relating to products and 4'.3 Data security and
isclosure X . privacy management
—ERE services provided and methods ciredress. . . LB BB EE
ERMREERNRENERELZS BS  2EMLES 43%@%?}(@%%#&:
HARBRAER - @K - ROBTHETABEATE ® FHESEINE
FEBEERAIMNER
The Group had no
recalled products due
Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to to safety and health
B6.1 recalls for safety and health reasons. reasons during the
: BERDBXEQAYTEL2 BREEAMANRNES | reporting period
[idls WEHRE - AREEE
ALz RERERME
(B 45 ) 2
Number of products and service-related complaints received 4.1 Product quality
B6.2 and how they are dealt with. management
BREAREDRREMIRFHE U RELFE o AEmmEER
Description of practices relating to observing and protecting 4.5 Intellectual
B6.3 intellectual property rights. property management
il EgE RRENREREBOED - ASHIHERER
Description of quality assurance process and recall 4.1 Product quality
B6.4 procedures. management
Wl E 2R B2 REREBIER o LIERREER
Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, 4@ Eiat%zﬁzu%%:;d
B6.5 how they are implemented and monitored. P y g

HUBBEARRERLBEE - UREBRITRER A -

A3BREEEBLE
B
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Indicator Content
EERRE

Respective Section
HERED

B. Social area

BALEHIE

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with
relevant laws and regulations, that have a significant impact

4.4 Internal
management on
anti-bribery, anti-

Siigleorsalljre f;num riisnsguer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money ?r%rdgp;:?;éi?it-lﬁoney
BEE BV 9% AELARSD  WEE ROAT | Sa o
ﬁﬁéﬂ'}\ﬁﬁkﬁ‘f = E@*HE’E/%@&%E@HE«]éﬂ' ° &%%&&)ﬁ%ﬁﬂ%ﬁ%
i
4.4 Internal
management on
Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices | anti-bribery, anti-
brought against the issuer or its employees during the corruption, anti-
B7.1 reporting period and the outcomes of the cases. fraud and anti-money
REGHAHBETAXLEEREUBEENESFARME | laundering
BB B KRR 4ARIEEE - RIBH
R BB R REENEE
B7: Antj;corruption 2
B7 - R&E)S 4.4 Internal
management on
anti-bribery, anti-
Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing corruption, anti-
B7.2 procedures, how they are implemented and monitored. fraud and anti-money
iy EE e R B RIZRN - U RAAERITRER AL - laundering
44 BB - IR
BRRREEAREE
b
4.4 Internal
management on
anti-bribery, anti-
Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors corruption, anti-
B7.3 and staff, fraud and anti-money
BmEE kB TRENRESE - laundering
44 B - RUBEL
REERRABENDE
i
Policies on community engagement to understand the
General needs o_f the (_:qnjmunitieg, where t_he iss.uer operates an(‘jlto . o
disclosure ensure its activities take into consideration the communities’ 7.‘SOCIa| contribution
= i . MHEER
—ERE |ntere\st\s . _ i 1IEE
AR ESERBREREMLERENBRRAREED
B8: Community 2ZELEFEAEER
gngv?s*timégtgﬁ Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental
B8 1 concerns, labour needs, heaJth, culture, sport). ;s 7.‘Social contribution
' LIERER (WHE  RREE  BIFR BF XL 7HEZER
BF) -
B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. | 7. Social contribution

EZIERABAER (MEBERXER) -

1B ER
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3?3“?% o RXEHEEISFT Tel B3 +852 2846 9888
,one falkooFlace EBMIARMNEEOTO%  Fax {H: +852 2868 4432
ST s [ewd RN —RBE2718 ey.com
§i Quarry Bay, Hong Kong
To the shareholders of Sinohealth Holdings Limited BHEERERATHRR
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability) (RASEEEMRINAERAR)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Sinohealth Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 152
to 253, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA™) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that
context.

BR
BAEEZHANE152H5E B 253 ENFEERERA
A(ERE)) REMBAR ([E£E]) NEA TSR
X HEHBBREERN2022F12 831 BNEATK
HREMEZZAULEENRABEREMEE RS
R BEBREEPRRGARERER  UREGEH
BREMTE EFRSTESHBRRE -

RERE  GAUBRRCEREESHARE([E
BEHMAE ) BHNERTBEREER ([BHEFHK
WEED ) EEMAT XM EEER2022412 A 31
AMAGRAMEHA  RBZZALFENGRAUE
EERRABERE  WCERBBARKHZHE
REZARY -

BRNER
FPERBEERGHMOGRANBBEMERN ([F
BEER ) BTERE - APIMAFEARENEE
EARE [RHAEFA AN FHREAENEE B
DHE—THL - REBESHALERAN(EXE
FtarERTAD([A))  ZPABINERE  YER
ITRIR AR BRAE - RAEE - RFIAE
BHETEREARREZHARMANETELRH
i o

FRREER

BREAFERRERAOTLAN  RAUAHE
AHBRRNBHRABEENEE  ELFHEREY
BAMBRREBETERT LR ERNER TR
REH AMTHELFRREEBNER - RAY
TRE—FHEEH M Ltk B

e



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont’d)

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidgated financial statements section of our report, including
in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance
of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated

financial statements.

Key audit matter

RREISE

Revenue recognition

KAER

Revenue from the sale of Data Insight Solutions, Data-driven
Publications and Events and SaaS products amounted to
RMB225,262,000, RMB90,932,000 and RMB40,474,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2022, respectively. Revenue contracts
involve the judgements of identifying performance obligations,
determining the timing of satisfaction of the services or goods, and
the estimates to measure progress towards completion. Revenue
recognition was significant to the financial statements based on its
quantitative materiality, and the large volume of transactions that
were processed in the year and the risks that the revenue might
not be recorded in the proper periods.

BENRF12ANBILEE REHEHBEREHRBRASER - 8E
5B 334 NE ) A ]2 SaaSEE fn 2 WA Al A AR #6225,262,0007C « A
R #90,932,0007T 2 A R 40,474,0007C  WAAR KIS RERIRBE T
MEE RN RBHERORBESHE - ARFTETHER R
ERESHEMEERRFRNMEENEARZHUE  MEFERAK
PR AERRAZSEARNER - WABZERIBHRRAEEEKR
Ex o
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Cont’d)
BURHMESE (&)

FAREEE ()

RINEGET T AR [ LM B350 B A
EHEEISHMEHEE - DRRELPREHFE
HBHEL - B - RMOEH TERENTAR
HENE AN RREAERRLBRT R0 E
2R - RERAEHEFOLR  QEEYTLY
REHFEFHITORSE - BHENGANHRES
RESERRMTERY

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EANETNNEERREN SR

Our audit procedures to assess revenue recognition included the
following:

BARERARRITE TR RFBEATER

— obtained an understanding of, evaluated and tested
management’s internal controls over the revenue recognition
process;

- TE FENAREERYRAREREFNAMES

—  discussed with management with respect to the recognition
basis on the provision of different types of services by
checking to the underlying contracts;

= \ﬁﬁ%m%é%~%%ﬁ$ﬁﬁﬁ%%%ﬁ%§ﬁﬁ%@@

HITH®

145



146

Sinohealth Holdings Limited A B2 i% B BR 2 &)
Annual Report 2022 —Z = —FFFH{E

Independent Auditor’s Report (Cont’d)
BURYMEKSE (&)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont’d)

Key audit matter
BRETSE

Revenue recognition (Cont’d)
WA (&)

The Group's disclosures about revenue recognition are included
note 2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies and note 5
Revenue, other income and gains 1o the financial statements.

BERERRARRELORBESNM B RRM T2 4EA B HEY

ELMEMA - BEMRA R Yz -

BRETEE (&)
How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ERNETINEERRET SR

— performed analytical review of revenue to assess the

reasonableness of revenue fluctuations during the year;

- HRAETAMERS  KFRFRRARDH SR |

—  tested, on a sample basis, the revenue recognised for the year

by tracing the transactions to supporting documents, such
as contractual agreements, customers’ acceptance reports,
customised reports delivered, records of industry events or
conference, underlying invoices or cash receipts; and

- DEESTANFEFENERNBA - TERBABRBEXE

B H X
fr (e HHH  FRPBEES  ARNOEHLERS 7%
EBRBHENTE  HRERARS W) ETLE R

—  performed confirmation procedures for the sales transactions

for the year ended 31 December 2022 and outstanding trade
receivable balances as at that date, on a sample basis.

- BEE202F12ANBLFEHERIURBEZAARTAH

B RURERIA BT ETRRRES -



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont’d)

Key audit matter
BRETSE

Impairment of trade receivables

B G EWIER B

As at 31 December 2022, the net carrying value of trade
receivables amounted to RMB85,706,000, after netting off a loss
allowance of RMB6,322,000, representing 10.8% of the Group’s
total assets.

R2022F12 4310 - €K EEEEARK6,322,000T% @ EFHE
W IBR R R E A A RE85,706,0007C  HEEBEELE10.8% e

The Group applies the simplified approach to measure expected
credit loss at the end of reporting period, which required expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the trade
receivables, and involved significant management’s judgement
and estimation including their assessment of customers’ current
financial positions, aging of receivables, existence of disputs and
historic payments, as well as forward-looking information.

ASBEBBICTAIERERRNBHEEEHE  EPFEABEX
HREHRYGARERET2HEE - LR ERBOHE R
it BREPEBMBEMNN - BRRFURNER - TEMNFELBAEN
TREDERIA K ATHE 1 B AT (R R A8 o
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ERETEE (&)
How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ERNETINEERRET SR

Our audit procedures to assess impairment of trade receivables
included the following:

HA G E Z RGO REME TR R FBENTRE

—  obtained an understanding of management’s internal control
and process over the estimation of the expected credit
losses on trade receivables and its design and operating
effectiveness;

- TEREERYEZRICRIEREEEREM ORI R
o AR E RET M & e

—  evaluated management’'s assessment of the recoverability
of the receivables by reviewing the detailed analyses of the
ageing of the receivables, the historical cash collection records
to understand current condition of the receivables and any long
outstanding amounts;

- HEEREREUTIRNANEEMENTE - TEREEY
FERIR R IR AT AR DA BB 3R & RADER - AT R R MK
BREMRARN RO AR
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont’d)

Key audit matter
BRETSE

Impairment of trade receivables (Cont’d)

EZEW R BE ()

The Group’s disclosures about trade receivables are included
in note 2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies, note 3
Significant accounting judgements and estimates and note 18
Trade and notes receivables, to the financial statements.

ERERE S RAGRIEH N BRERNME24EA BT HFEME -
WEESEA BT AR 1371 R RERM 18 E ZREUN B R ERFE
ﬁfo

ARETEE (H)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ERNETINEERRET SR

reviewed historical provisions along with other macroeconomic
information of the receivables, any disputes between the
parties involved and the correspondence with customers on
expected settlement dates;

BEELABALEARBEEES BRR AN IS
BARREREEARETFNREE

discussed with management to understand the nature and

the judgement involved in estimating the expected credit loss
provision on trade receivables, and;

=B ERmA TR ESRIGUARREEBRARFNE

checked the mathematical accuracy of the calculations; and
reviewed the related disclosures in the financial statements.

BREFENHBERN - ARBESHHERRTNABRKE -



OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the Management Discussion and Analysis of the
Annual Report (but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon), which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s
report, and the Chairman’s Statement, the Directors’ Report and the Corporate
Governance Report, which are expected to be made available to us after that
date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on the other
information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the Chairman’s Statement, the Directors’ Report and the Corporate
Governance Report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein,
we are required to communicate the matter to the Audit Committee.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to
do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

GAMRESGEMBRRABNEL

ZANER  RHRAMBREEBRA M FEAR
REFERMEFNERERRENGLERE - L
HABREAMBEROGZEMES - RACUETER
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Hooi Wan Yee.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

29 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GEREREMEZARE X

Year ended 31 December 2022

BENNF12ANBLEFE

2022 2021
2022 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BiaE AR®ETR ARETTT
REVENUE 9N 5 356,668 324,166
Cost of sales SHERA (197,560) (131,527)
Gross profit S 159,108 192,639
Other income and gains HAab U A R Ugzs 5 37,707 29,537
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHERE (31,661) (24,786)
Administrative expenses IBAX (46,110) (44,163)
Research and development costs RSN (60,412) (53,711)
Impairment losses on financial assets, net SREERBEEBRTE (2,678) (2,855)
Other expenses HibfE (1,068) (184)
Finance costs BT AR 7 (412) (632)
Share of losses of; Associates SRS NREE 16 - (416)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX R AT T 6 54,474 95,529
Income tax expense FEHAY 10 (261) (23,551)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FRER 54,213 71,978
Attributable to: AT &IERE, -
Owners of the parent SARIEAA 55,758 78,813
Non-controlling interests ElS g (1,545) (6,835)
54,213 71,978
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE FRAEEKELETE
INCOME FOR THE YEAR 54,213 71,978
Attributable to: AT & IB LS -
Owners of the parent SARIEAA 55,758 78,813
Non-controlling interests FERER (1,545) (6,835)
54,213 71,978
EARNINGS PER SHARE BARZER
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EREEA
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT EEEREF
Basic and diluted ERNEE 12 RMB13.58 cents  RMB21.12 cents

AER¥13.584l

AREE21 124
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
REBBRRR

31 December 2022

2022124318
2022 2021
20226 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BiaE ARETR ARETTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ) ER S 13 4,383 4,471
Right-of-use assets FREEE 14(a) 6,854 9,018
Other intangible assets Hih B EE 15 1,590 1,152
Investments in associates REENBINERE 16 - 184
Time deposits TR 21 80,772 =
Other receivables oA e kIR 19 - 868
Deferred tax assets BERBEE 24 686 916
Total non-current assets ERBEELE 94,285 16,609
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories FE 17 2,317 680
Trade and notes receivables G ES 18 91,993 81,866
Prepayments, other receivables BIFE - it EWRRER
and other assets Hih&E 19 20,988 10,451
Financial assets at fair value through BRFER AR
profit or loss PREE 20 2,098 373,389
Due from a related party [ U — % B 5 500R 31(c) - 73
Time deposits TR 21 175,474 =
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREFEY 21 409,318 33,955
Total current assets MBI EELE 702,188 500,414
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade payables B SRR 22 14,665 16,859
Other payables and accruals H A e FRIE R R FUE 23 74,139 67,586
Lease liabilities HEAR 14(b) 3,223 4,640
Due to a related party [ — R B 5 3R 31(c) 355 -
Tax payable FERHITE 5,407 7,053
Total current liabilities mEaELeE 97,789 96,138
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 604,399 404,276
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Cont’d)
ReMBRRER (H)

31 December 2022

202212 A31R
2022 2021
20225 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BieE AR®ETR ARETTT
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES EERERADARE 698,684 420,885
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE
Lease liabilities HEAR 14(b) 3,904 4,974
Deferred tax liabilities ERERBAE 24 1,544 =
Total non-current liabilities FEnBEELEE 5,448 4,974
Net assets BERE 693,236 415,911
EQUITY B
Equity attributable to owners of the parent &2 R# A AL RE
Share capital (& 25 30,384 322
Treasury shares EFRA 25 (101,121) =
Reserves i 26 765,775 416,536
695,038 416,858
Non-controlling interests IR 27 (1,802) (947)
Total equity R 693,236 415,911
Wu Yushu Wang Lifang REH EZ b5

Director Director EF EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

RERBEBX

Year ended 31 December 2022

HZE020F 1231 BILFE
Attributable to owners of the parent
BATHEAER
Non-

Share Share Capital  Statutory ~ Retained controlling Total
capital  premium* reserve* reserve* profit* Total interest equity
k& RGEE  EARE  EERE  REEN @ FERER )3
RMB'00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  AMB'00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR ARBTR AR¥TR ARMTR ARMTn ARETR AR¥TR ARETR

(ote25)  (note26)  (note26)  (note 26)

(Wif2s)  (Wae)  (W&26)  (W¥se)

Year ended 31 December 2021 BENNF12R3BLEE

At 1 January 2021 RONE1A1R - - 206,718 20,825 235,122 462,665 1,960 464,625
Total comprehensive income for the year ER2ANALE - - - - 78,813 78,813 (6,835) 11,978
st of shares of the Company TARARR o 183858 - - - 14180 - 184180
Deemed distribution to the then shareholders™ BEmEBRREEL IR - (184169 (1,368) - (185,537 - (185537)
Appropriation o statutory reserve BRTITRE - - 5075 (5,075) - - -
Dividends decared (nofe 11) BERRE (H3H11) - - - - (120086  (120,086) - (120,086)
Acquisiton of non-contrling interests WEHERER - - (3,177) - - (3,177) 678 (2499)
Capital njection by non-controling shareholders FERRRE - - - - - - 3,250 3250
At 31 December 2021 RA21E12A31A 322 183,858 19,372 24,532 188,774 416,858 (od7) 415911

155



156

Sinohealth Holdings Limited A S B& AR A &)
Annual Report 2022 —Z = —FFFH{E

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (Cont’d)
GReRzZ23X (H)

Year ended 31 December 2022

HE02F12ANBILFE
Arbutatle to owners ofthe parent
BAREAAER
Nor-
Share Treaslry Share Captal Statutory Retained contrling Total
capial shares premium® reserve’ Tesene” profis* Total Intrest equity
B ERRG  RORE  BARE  ieRE  REEW B FahER  gEs
RUBOOD  RVBOOD  RWBOW RIB000 RUBOOD  RWBOOD R0 RBOOD VB0
ARET  ARMTR  ARETn  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARETn AR ARMTR  ARMTR
(note 25) (note 29) (note 26 (note 26) (note 26)
(Wiw)  (Wim)  (ie)  (Wide) (W)

Year ended 31 December 2022 BENNENANELER
At 31 December 2021 jivkavEkil bl S 163,856 19372 2453 168774 416,698 047 415911
Totel comprehensie ncome for the year EpAbALE - - - - - 5,75 55,158 (1549 w2
5 f s fom il pulc ofng ERDRRERTHD 5047 SR - - ST - U
Capitalizaion issue BRLEG 24,69 - (24,8%6) - - - - - -
Exercises of the over-allotment option AERERRE 119 - 8,005 - - - 8,174 - 8,174
Shae s eense UL - - wom - - - 0m) - gl
States epurchased ERERH - (o - - - - (o - (o
Approretion o statuory esene BATIRRE = = = S 504 024 - - -
Deregisteion a subsiey Rl - - - - - - 60 690
At 31 December 2022 iRkl ﬂ (101,121) ﬂ ﬂ ﬂ M M (1,602 M

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of RMB765,775,000 (31
December 2021: RMB416,536,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2022.

> On 28 January 2021, a shareholders’ meeting of Guangzhou Sinohealth Information Co.,
Ltd. (“Sinohealth Information”) was convened and who resolved to reduce the registered
capital of Sinohealth Information from RMB40,000,000 to RMB21,492,000, resulting in
cash of RMB185,537,000 paid to the then shareholders of Sinohealth Information, as part
of the Reorganisation. The cash payment was treated as the deemed distribution to the
then shareholders.

ZERERAER202F12 831 BRGATBRRE AL
RAREARET65,775,0007T (20215128318 : AR
416,536,0007T) °

R2021F1A28H - EREAM 5 - BINPREA
BHRERAE ([FEEM]) BRARRASREZREH
FEMKME AR ARK40,000,000 TEREARE
21,492,0007C - BHAFREMEFHRRGRS AR
#185,537,0007C - BE& N HHEARNERBRRAGIES
i °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GEHERER

Year ended 31 December 2022
BE02F 128310 ILFE

2022 2021
2022F 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
(i3 AR®TR ARETT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES REZEH BESRE
Profit before tax BRE AR A 54,474 95,529
Adjustments for: AT S -
Finance costs B EKAR 7 412 532
Bank interest income RITFIEA 5 (6,615) (248)
Investment income received from financial BATE ABRNEREE
assets at fair value through profit or loss ERMERERA 5 (8,499) (6,721)
Fair value gains on financial assets at fair BAFETABGNERMEE
value through profit or loss N g 5 (38) (4,815)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE-—RMBARMKE 5 (201) -
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ~ #1% - BE MRERE 13 2,659 2,083
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREERENE 14(a) 5,179 4,849
Amortisation of other intangible assets BB &= 15 891 420
Gains on lease modifications HAEBEHE 14(c) - (1,107)
Impairment of trade receivables B SR FIRRE 18 2,678 2,510
Impairment of other receivables E FEMGRIERE 19 - 345
Share of losses of associates BB AR B8 16 - 416
Foreign exchange gains, net HNE e zs % 8 5 (9,530) (36)
Loss on de-registration of a subsidiary HE-RMBARIMEE 1,010 =
Gain on de-registration of a subsidiary HHE-RHB AR E 5 (320) -
Loss on disposal of items of property, plant HEVE - BEX
and equipment HBEEMEE 3 74
Increase in trade and notes receivables B P RYTA KRR EREN (12,805) (55,664)
Decrease/(increase) in an amount e — & B RS (8 n)
due from a related party 73 (73)
Increase in an amount due to & < — % BB 7 ZIRSE AN
a related party 355 -
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, other BENRE - EERRIER
receivables and other assets Hu&E (38m),/ "B (1,740) 1,624
Increase in inventories FEEM (1,637) (107)
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables B SEMNFIE (D), i (2,194) 13,190
Increase in other payables and accruals HoA FE 1 I R FERT FUIAE N 7,810 27,922
Cash generated from operations BEmBRSE 31,965 80,723
Interest received RLGE 2,234 248
Income tax paid ENFMEH (1,565) (20,951)
Net cash flows from operating activities REREMERENETHE 32,634 60,020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Cont’d)
GERERER (F)

Year ended 31 December 2022
HBE202F128318ILFE

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Pt AR¥TR AREFT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES ~REZEBzRLHE
Purchases of items of property, plant and EEWE - BENIEEE
equipment and related advance payments AR BB BT R (2,855) (1,878)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, HEME  BEKZEEE
plant and equipment P8 50A 281 -
Additions to other intangible assets HEthEVEERE (1,329) (1.179)
Investment in an associate REEE A R E - (600)
Disposal of an associate HE—RE QT 184 =
Acquisition of a subsidiary WHE—RKB AR - (637)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—RMBAA 29 201 10
Prepayment for a potential acquisition ETIEENK (10,000) -
Purchases of time deposits EETHER (940,373) -
Disposal of time deposits HETHER 686,258 -
Interest income received from time deposits THFRESHF SMA 2,250 -
Purchases of financial assets at fair value BERATEFABRN
through profit or loss TREE (605,579) (1,101,896)
Disposal of financial assets at fair value through HERDFE AEBZER
profit or loss TREE 976,908 1,089,986
Investment income received from financial BATEABRNERERE
assets at fair value through profit or loss ERHRERA 8,499 6,721
Net cash flows used in investing activities REEZHMARSREFHE 114,445 (9,469)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES REZERERE
Issue of shares of the Company BITAREIRN 332,620 184,180
Deemed distribution to the then shareholders R {EME MR 1E L DR - (185,537)
Dividend paid BIRMRE 1 - (120,086)
Principal portion of lease payments HERTHOARS IS (5,502) (4,992)
Interest paid on lease liabilities HREERBEINAFE (412) (832)
Payment for listing expenses EFARZAR (4,421) (4,656)
Capital injection by non-controlling shareholders JE#ZR IR E - 3,250
Repurchase of shares LA (101,121) -
Prepayment for repurchase of shares BORHEMTE (2,410) -
Repayment of an advance from a related party (£ BB T 85k - (1,500)
Repayment of an advance from a director BEESERRN - (47
Acquisition of non-controlling interests W S A e - (2,490)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Cont’d)
GEeRERER ()

Year ended 31 December 2022
BE202F 128310 IHFE

2022 2021
20226 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BiaE AR¥ETR AREFT
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities B&EEIFS /(FrFR)
Rens3HE 218,754 (132,410
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND ReRBLEENEMN
CASH EQUIVALENTS (R2) 8 365,833 (81,859)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year F#3R4 RELZEY 33,955 115,778
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net  SNEE RS E)ZEFE 9,530 36
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF FRBER
YEAR HEZEY 21 409,318 33,955
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH BH& KBS EY
EQUIVALENTS i
Cash and bank balances Be RRITHES 21 246,798 33,955
Non-pledged time deposits with BmEGERIIHERE
original maturity of less than R=EAMERFTHER
three months when acquired 21 162,520 -

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the RESHRERR
statements of cash flows and statements of BB RERTIERD
financial position B RBESZEY 409,318 33,955
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2022 F12 A31 B

CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands on 4 March 2019. The registered address of the Company is at the
office of QOgier Global (Cayman) Limited, of 89 Nexus Way, Grand Cayman,
KY1-9009, Cayman lIslands. The principal place of business in China is
located at Room 1111, No. 5 Wangjiang Second Street, Huangge Town,
Nansha District, Guangzhou, Guangdong Province, People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC").

The Company is an investment holding company. During the year, the
Company’s subsidiaries were principally engaged in the provision of Data
Insight Solutions, Data-driven Publications and Events and SaaS products.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 12 July 2022.

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

DEEHR
AARA—RR2019F3A4BERASHS T
I MARAF o AR E R iR R 0gier
Global (Cayman) Limited#95% E 52 + B89 Nexus Way,
Grand Cayman, KY1-9009, Cayman Islands ° Z~/A &7
HEMEEEEE AR EARKERE (T4
B EREENMTEYPREHEES I -H5%
11115 °

AABE—RIREERAT - RER - KNAFIR
MBARZERERESBERARBASR « Hi&
EREN B MR B A KR SaaSE R ©

ARARMNR2022F7 A2 B EEBB AL HT
BRAR ([BRAT]) ERED -

ERHEARNER
KARESEKBAAHERIINT -

Place and date of
incorporation/

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/

registration and registered
Name place of operations share capital
TMRY SR ERTLER
£ AENRRE HMRAEE
Sky Range Investments Limited British Virgin (“BVI") Islands US$1
(REZERRAF]) 3 January 2019
RERBERRA] RERUHE 1%L
([RBEXES])
20191 H3H
Sinohealth Technology Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000
(FERERRARRT) 15 March 2019
PREERMRAR LA & 10,000/ 7T
20193150
Guangzhou Zhongkang Digital People’s Republic of China RMB300,000,000
Technology Co., Ltd. (“PRC")/Mainland China
(“Guangzhou Zhongkang Digital”) 8 April 2019
(BM A REFRIBRBR A )
(note (a))
BN R TR AR A A HEE AR EAE ARE
(T EM BT ) (Bt iE(a) (THE]),/ FE Mt 300,000,0007T

201954 A8H

Percentage of equity
attributable to the Company

Principal activities

QAR .
EHADH TEER
Direct Indirect
HE %
100% - Investment holding
100% - REERK
= 100%  Investment holding
= 100% WEER
- 100%  Research and development
and provision of Data
Insight Solutions, Data-
driven Publications and
Events, and SaaS products
= 100% % RIBEHEURRRER

AR BERDHBEHR
JEEN A K SaaSEE



CORPORATE INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Information about subsidiaries (Cont’d)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: (Cont’d)

Place and date of
incorporation/

Sinohealth Holdings Limited B2 i% & BR 2 &)
Annual Report 2022 —Z — —EEFH{E

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
MEHRRME (&)

31 December 2022
2022 F12 A31 B

1. RAEH(F)
EBHELRNER ()
ARAMIBEHBARFERINT - ()

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/

Name

&8

Sinohealth Information
(BN EERBHER A A)
(note (b))

BN EERRDBRAR
(D)

Guangzhou Xinkang Information
Technology Company Limited
(“Xinkang Information”)
(BMOEESRRARAR)

(note (b))

BEMORESMBEBERA
(TDREE NWEU)

Guangzhou Sinohealth Jianshu
Intelligence Technology Company
Limited* (“Smohealth Jianshu”)
(FM¢K&% DEERIE
BRAT) (note (b))

BN RS R ARAF
(T RRfEn) (HiEEb)

Beijing Sinohealth Tong Digital
Technology Company Limited*
(“Sinohealth Tong”)
JERPEBHFRRERAT)
(note (n))

P RRAFRBEARAT
(TRl (&)

registration and
place of operations

HMMY EMEER BRI

BEUAREE R

PRC/Mainland China
20 December 2007

hE B
20074125208

PRC/Mainland China
14 November 2016

hEPEAL
2016411 A148

PRC/Mainland China
3 April 2018

FE B,
201844 A3H

PRC/Mainland China
18 March 2020

PR/ E A
202043188

registered Percentage of equity
share capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
ZER, NS 3
R A EE ERED TEEK
Direct Indirect
HE %
RMB21,492,000 - 100%  Research and development
and provision of Data
Insight Solutions, Data-
driven Publications and
Events, and SaaS products
ARE - 100%  HERRHEERRER
21,492,007 h% - BRBHEMHR
JEE) A [ SaaSEE
RMB10,000,000 - 94%  Operation of SaaS products
AR - 94%  %iBSaaSE M
10,000,0007T
RMB1,000,000 - 75%  Research and development
and the operation of Smart
Medical Cloud under the
business line of SaaS
products
AR - 75%  WRE & ESaaSE mER
1,000,0007T DHTHEZBERE
RMB5,000,000 - 80%  Management of marketing
and promotion services of
innovative medicine
AR - B0% ERAMEEHEHR
5,000,0007C HERS
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31 December 2022
2022 F12 A31 B

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (Cont’d) 1. 2EEH (F)
Information about subsidiaries (Cont’d) FRKBARNER (])
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: (Cont'd) ARANTREAMBRAFERINT : (8)
Place and date of Nominal value of
incorporation/ issued ordinary/
registration and registered Percentage of equity
Name place of operations share capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
ARy EMbEE SROZER N3
&8 AEA R CE i 5 AMRAEE EsE At TEER
Direct Indirect
BE %
Guangzhou Xisi Digital Technology PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 - 100%  Operation of SaaS products
Company Limited* 4 June 2019
(BNEBETRERAA)
BMASHFTREBRAR R R E R AR #1,000,0007T - 100% ‘&#ESaaSE M
20196 A4H
Guangzhou Kangzhi Digital Technology  PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 - 70%  Operation of SaaS products
Company Limited* 13 November 2020
(BEMEEHTRHERAF)
BMNEEHFRERERAA RE R ER AR#1,000,0007C - 70%  %iESaaSE M
202011 A13H
Guangzhou Jisi Digital Technology PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 - 75%  Dormant
Company Limited* 22 May 2019
(BMERETRIBERAR)
ENERBFRBRARAR RE R E R AR ¥1,000,0007T - 75% EEEE
201955220
Guangzhou Xinyi Consulting Company ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 - 100%  Investment holding
Limited* (B M ¥ 74 39 15 April 2020
AR AF) (notes (o) & (©))
BN AERAR R R E R ARH1,000,0007T - 100% REER

(BtED) R(0) 2020F4 A15H



1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Information about subsidiaries (Cont’d)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: (Cont'd)

Name

a8

Guangzhou Jiasi Information

Technology Company Limited*
(BMERESRBERAR)

(note (b))

EMNEZDEEMBRAERRA

(BIZE®D))

Hainan Sinohealth Technology
Company Limited*
(BRI EMRAERAT)
(note (b))

BEREMRARAT (D)

Beijing Sinohealth Junyi Digital

Technology Company Limited*

(“Sinohealth Junyi”)
JERRRERETRE
BIRAR) (notes (o) & (d))

ERPRERAFRRARRDA
(TrEER]) (Kb R)

Place and date of
incorporation/
registration and
place of operations

MM/ R
AR EE S

PRC/Mainland China
22 May 2019

FE /R E RN
2019958228

PRC/Mainland China
26 December 2019

FE FREIR
2019512 A26 8

PRC/Mainland China
23 April 2020

R E A
202054 238
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
MEHRRME (&)

1. DEEH(F)
EBHELRNER ()

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/
registered

share capital

BRTEER
HERRAEE

RMB1,000,000

ARE
1,000,0007T
RMB1,000,000

ARE
1,000,0007C

RMB3,000,000

AK#3,000,0007T

AARMERANEA

Percentage of equity
attributable to the Company

KA F LG
BB
Direct Indirect
BHE il
- 100%
- 100%
- 100%
- 100%
- 70%
- 70%

31 December 2022
2022 F12 A31 B

AFEHIMT - ()

Principal activities

IERH

Operation under the business
line of Saa$S products

MSaaSE mEKLR T 2E

Dormant

EEEE

Operation under the business
line of Data-driven
Publications and Events,
and SaaS products

REEIREN B NEE) %
%ﬁ?%@%&%%%

als]
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LT AN (])
ERHEATNER ()
ARANEEANBARFERIINT : ()

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (Cont’d) 1.

Information about subsidiaries (Cont’d)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: (Cont’d)

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/
registered

Place and date of
incorporation/
registration and

Percentage of equity

Name place of operations share capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
ARy EmeEE SROLZER AREEMR )
% AHR & E i 2 EMRAEE EEADL TEEE
Direct Indirect
HE &

Beijing Sinohealth Ruima Marketing PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 60%  Operation under the business
Technology Company Limited* 20 February 2021 ling of Data Insight
(*Sinohealth Ruima”) Solutions
LR RIRHEHRHE
ARAR)

ERPEREEERBARAR F8 / FEAM AR - 60% REBRERRAIRER
(ThERS]) 2021927208 10,000,0007T BT EE

Guangzhou Xinshun Technology PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 65%  Under the business segments
Company Limited 22 October 2020 of Data Insight Solutions
(“Guangzhou Xinshun”) and Saa$S
(BMOIERHR AR A A])

(notes (b) & ()
BMOIBERH A R A ) RE R ERM AR - 65% REBRERRAIRER
[ L ET) (B (o) B2 ) 20204107228 10,000,0007T T2 8 NSaas

Jiangxi Xinshun Medicine Company PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 - 65%  Provide internet information
Limited (“Jiangxi Xinshun”) 29 January 2021 services
(IALIREEBRAR)

(notes (b) & ()

TADIBEEE R R A ] R R E R AR - 65% IRELEEAES RS
(DIALIED (D) R () 202141 A29H 5,000,0007C

Beijing Sinohealth Tongrun Technology PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 - 80%  Management of marketing
Company Limited 26 November 2021 and promotion services of
(“Si@healﬁh Tongrun”) innovative medicine
(LR EEERHR AR A A)

P EEENEERAR B B ARE - 80% ERAFEENSHRE
(ThEREE]D) 2021411 A 268 5,000,0007C BR



CORPORATE INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Information about subsidiaries (Cont’d)
Notes:

a) The entity is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under PRC law.

b) Sinohealth Information and its subsidiaries (the “Consolidated Affiliated Entities”)
are engaged or will engage in the production of short films and the provision of
internet information service and internet data centre services (including internet
resources cooperation services) (together, the “Relevant Businesses”). Under
the scope of the “Catalog of Industries for Encouraging Foreign Investment
(2020 Version)” and the “Special Administrative Measures (Negative List) for the
Access of Foreign Investment (2021 Version)”, foreign investors are restricted
or prohibited to invest in Relevant Businesses. A wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, Guangzhou Zhongkang Digital (the “WOFE"), has entered into a series of
Contractual Arrangements (the “Contractual Arrangements”) with the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities and their respective equity holders (hereafter the equity holders
of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities referred to the “Registered Shareholders”).
The Contractual Arrangements enable WOFE to exercise effective control over the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities and obtain substantially all economic benefits of
the Consolidated Affiliated Entities. Accordingly, the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
are controlled by the Company based on the Contractual Arrangements though the
Company does not have any direct or indirect equity interest in the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities.

C) The entity was deregistered in November 2022.
d) The entity was deregistered in September 2022.
€) The entity was deregistered in December 2022.

f) Sinohealth Information disposed of the entire entity interest to a third party, Ms.
Jiang Qingping on 13 September 2022 (note 29).

* The English names of these entities registered in the PRC represent the best efforts
made by the management of the Company to directly translate their Chinese names
as they did not register any official English names.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion
of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or formed a
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of
excessive length.
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DEER (F)
E@WEQE%E%@%
5k -

i ZEBRETEEEBLATERH -

b  ARAAREMBAR ((GAMEER]) HERH
WERIBEUEAR R H BB BE BRI R ERBE
BRLRE (B EERBEARSERE) (REAIA
M%) - E(ESMEREEZR R (20205hR))
ROMERERANSHERERE (BEBE) (2021
ER))BER - SREEERBHHL L RENF
BER - ARRAMREMBAREMNPEETF ([
FRE]) CEGAMEERREEE BNEREAR

AATHBGHEER mﬁm%ﬁAﬁ(”Eh
iDhJ FAaNLHE([AORE]) - 0T
B R AL A Y %a?ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂ&ﬁ
GEOUBEBBABILENES - BELARARN
FoMBERITBEMERIHENE  ARES
W FAMBEERYRARES -

0 ZEEEH

e

2022411 AsEsl o
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il
gt}
X

1202259 AEeH

X
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gt}
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P20225 12 Astsl o
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EBARE (Bit3E29) o
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss which have
been measured at fair value. These financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (‘RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for
the year ended 31 December 2022. A subsidiary is an entity (including a
structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give
the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in
control. When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority
of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an
investee, including:

(@ the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

2.1 REEE

HERBRRDIREB LGNS ([BEG
MAg ) BANEENBREER ([FBHE
A (BREMAREMBEREER - B
SRR ([FRGER]) k2 E) BELR
S RAUNRBFRRAFANKER TR - I
BREDRELKAEORS - EEDFERA
BamemEE (RAVERNE) BRI - BBR
RUARBITR - Mk 2EHERN - RERED
WBEEHRAON T

GEEE
RAMBRREREARAIRENBAR (K
[AEE])EZE2022F12 A31 BIEFEMNEER
o MBARN—MEARAEEXHEZEEHN
TR (DEAELEE) EREEHL2HEEEY
FEBRZH L RAERRKZERFUREE
BHEEHRNEN (AEEER TN E
BIREHRIBETHNNARET) Y EZSEE
B o BNERSIEHIE o

—BWME  BTERASBREZRESISTH
e MARRERSHEREREHZNEES
BOBENTRYE  REBEFGHEITHRRE
HEBERNSSZEMEEESEREN &
&

() ERBHRAMRERAEANGOLIE:

b HEtENLHAELOEN R

© ARENRERIEERTE-



2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Cont’d)

Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such
control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the non-
controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control described above. A change in the ownership interest
of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets
(including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying
amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative translation
differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any investment retained and
(iiiy any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same
basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities.
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2.1 RAEEE (17)

RREE (&)

WBARREMBRROBE NREALFMER
TERA-BNEHFHE - WERANEEBAR
ERMGEHES B ERE AR BREERS

% BEETHEBARMENZERAAL

%Eﬁé&ﬁﬁﬂ%m&/\E’J%?ﬂﬁ‘cﬁ%”i’ﬁ%%ﬁ%%
RANEEARIZRER  AIEEEE0F
IHxT’émﬁfﬂlﬁ%ﬁ%%E BRARSERE ZAR
SNMEEERNEERAE - #5 WA X
&Eﬁi//mEEEA%/\/\BEH‘ir%%@T%

HWEERERBR LA =REHRZR—HXS
BAE - ARKESEMTHERT DRERKR
5:1% MDA R AR KRR A
BED2HFEARRRHIARK -

WARBAEEINB AR MEGE - BRI
ROZMBLRMNEE (REBE) REE : (i)F
R E R BRI E R (i) st AR R5TRE
5 UHERNEWRENAEE : (i) TREF
AEEMNATERNVERTEINALEENR
BIEL - AEES AR EMEEREER
AR D EF A B ABS SRR R (E
2) HERMEASBERNEEREELS
EFFEERR -
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31 December 2022

2022 12 A31 A
2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2 Bt BREBREKE
DISCLOSURES
The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the first time for AREDFRAFEOHBHRRERRANTEE
the current year’s financial statements. A BEMEREER
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework
ERMBIRELEEIR (BTAR) BLaER s iEit
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment. Proceeas before Intended Use
BB ETERE6S (BETA) YE - BERRE - (ERTEFSEZ BT HE
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract
BEREEREITR (BIIR) ERRIEEH — BITEAIBHA
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples accompanying

HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41

BB IR EERI2018F Z2020F ) F R £ BEMBRELUNE R - BEMBREERFR - BEMBREER
F165EREM MR A RO R BB @ ERIB41R 2 EFT

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs that are applicable to the BT RN B REENNEE RFENT X

Group are described below: it

(@ Amendments to HKFRS 3 replace a reference to the previous @ BBEGFHREEHEIR BFTER) AEHR
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial 201856 AN FHEH 1R ([#
Statements with a reference to the Conceptual Framework for SEZR]) ZRABREELANGEERET
Financial Reporting (the “Conceptual Framework”) issued in PHRRERRL MERTEEEX
June 2018 without significantly changing its requirements. The 23 ZEIANTHERRABSIELE
amendments also add to HKFRS 3 an exception to its recognition ETENEEXERNEZZNBRARAIE
principle for an entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to BB BIRE ERE I A —EFIIME
determine what constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception oo ZBIIMERIER  BBREAGE
specifies that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would AIE37THRAES (ARUBREREZE
be within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they were 2)-REENGHEENNEERIRAE
incurred separately rather than assumed in a business combination, ME ' WEZSAENIRAEEMIERER
an entity applying HKFRS 3 should refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int EHPAE  AIEREAVBREENES
21 respectively instead of the Conceptual Framework. Furthermore, SHERBESARMBEASHEREITR
the amendments clarify that contingent assets do not qualify for RE5E (AR EREREZES) - 28
recognition at the acquisition date. The Group has applied the FRMIEMSIELRE o fobh » ZIEFTRE
amendments prospectively to business combinations that occurred BUARBERKERBBTFEBRELR -
on or after 1 January 2022. As there were no business combinations AEBDER2022F1 BIHRZBEEH
during the year, the amendments did not have any impact on the EBAHAEEEAZEES - ARAE
financial position and performance of the Group. BUREBEH BUZSBITUREE

MR BN EZRREEFATE



2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Cont’d)

(b)

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting from
the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any proceeds
from selling items produced while bringing that asset to the location
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management. Instead, an entity recognises the
proceeds from selling any such items, and the cost of those items as
determined by HKAS 2 /nventories, in profit or loss. The Group has
applied the amendments retrospectively to items of property, plant
and equipment made available for use on or after 1 January 2021.
Since there was no sale of items produced prior to the property, plant
and equipment being available for use, the amendments did not have
any impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of assessing
whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the cost of fulfilling the
contract comprises the costs that relate directly to the contract. Costs
that relate directly to a contract include both the incremental costs
of fulfilling that contract (e.g., direct labour and materials) and an
allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling that contract
(e.g., an allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property,
plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract as well as contract
management and supervision costs). General and administrative costs
do not relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless they are
explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under the contract. The
Group has applied the amendments prospectively to contracts for
which it has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at 1 January 2022 and
no onerous contracts were identified. Therefore, the amendments did
not have any impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group.
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2.2 B RREDRKE (F)

(b)

BEAGITERIFE165 (BRI ZIEEER
ME - BERREEENKATNREE
EIEREREMAERAMRE (RENE
HEH) BRPEENEDHEER IER
EeEAER  BEREASRELEERNE
B E TS REA R BB Gt 525k
BEMBETZSEEMRAFABE -
AEBE HR2021F1 A1 B 2B AIEE
BRME BERXFEEEBPERZE
B3] - ARERBATRERNE - BEK
RECHTEEETELNEE - Al
SEITHASENT BRI IRABET
AFE -

EBCIELETE (BFIAR)EE  BiR
BEEASENERIEAORTER
BEMS BITANNKRARERANE
BERBMRAE - BANEZABHRRAR
BRAZANNEERAS (MEELE TR
D REETZANEZBEME MR
PE(MARBETAEOMBYE  BEX
REERNFTERIURANEEREE
PRAR) o —RRITHAM ARG N T EE RS
% BRIEBRBEANTHEEHEFHAE
BRI BEER - AEEE HEH £2022F1
A1BRABITEMBES AR ERIAE
BHEANHANAERERZSE - H
W ZEETHASENR B RKRE
MEAMTE-
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (Cont’d)

(d)  Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 20718-2020 sets out amendments
to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples accompanying HKFRS
16, and HKAS 41. Details of the amendment that is applicable to the
Group are as follows:

e HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an
entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a new
or modified financial liability are substantially different from
the terms of the original financial liability. These fees include
only those paid or received between the borrower and the
lender, including fees paid or received by either the borrower
or lender on the other’s behalf. The Group has applied the
amendment prospectively from 1 January 2022. As there was
no modification or exchange of the Group’s financial liabilities
during the year, the amendment did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that have
been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011)
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its Associate or Joint Venture’®
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Amendments to HKFRS 16

KEEHRBELAGAET

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
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HKFRS 17
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Amendments to HKFRS 17
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)

Amendments to HKAS 1

BB ERE19 (BFTA)
Amendments to HKAS 1
BB SHERE15 (BT AN)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and

HKFRS Practice Statement 2

5EE

HEASIRREBUGREEA  BESIHE

B AE B8 (E2TA)

Amendments to HKAS 8

)

Amendments to HKAS 12
EHERIS

B

1

SETERIFESHR (BRI A) Bt it i ES

125% (BRI )

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective date of the 2020
Amendments was deferred to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.
In addition, as a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022 Amendments,
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was
revised to align the corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

As a consequence of the amendment to HKFRS 17 issued in October 2020, HKFRS
4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption that permits insurers to apply
HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before 1 January 2023

An entity that chooses to apply the transition option relating to the classification
overlay set out in this amendment shall apply it on initial application of HKFRS 17

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be applicable
to the Group is described below.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG 23 CHEMEERENNEENEHE

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an inconsistency
between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate
or joint venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or
loss when the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a transaction involving
assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent
of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory
effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was
removed by the HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective
date will be determined after the completion of a broader review of
accounting for associates and joint ventures. However, the amendments are
available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-lessee
uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and leaseback
transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any amount of
the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and
shall be applied retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions entered
into after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019),
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities as current or
non-current, in particular the determination over whether an entity has a
right to defer settlement of the liabilities for at least 12 months after the
reporting period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of the liability. The
amendments also clarify the situations that are considered a settlement of
a liability. In 2022, the HKICPA issued the 2022 Amendments to further
clarify that, among covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement,
only those with which an entity must comply on or before the reporting date
affect the classification of that liability as current or non-current. In addition,
the 2022 Amendments require additional disclosures by an entity that
classifies liabilities arising from loan arrangements as non-current when
it has a right to defer settlement of those liabilities that are subject to the
entity complying with future covenants within 12 months after the reporting
period. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier
application is permitted. An entity that applies the 2020 Amendments
early is required to apply simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice
versa. The Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments
and whether existing loan agreements may require revision. Based on a
preliminary assessment, the amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies require entities
to disclose their material accounting policy information rather than their
significant accounting policies. Accounting policy information is material
if, when considered together with other information included in an entity’s
financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on
the basis of those financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance on how to apply the concept
of materiality to accounting policy disclosures. Amendments to HKAS 1
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
and earlier application is permitted. Since the guidance provided in the
amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 is non-mandatory, an effective
date for these amendments is not necessary. The Group is currently
revisiting the accounting policy disclosures to ensure consistency with the
amendments.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG 23 EEMERRERNEBH RS

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)
Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes in
accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies. Accounting
estimates are defined as monetary amounts in financial statements that
are subject to measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how
entities use measurement techniques and inputs to develop accounting
estimates. The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and apply to changes in accounting
policies and changes in accounting estimates that occur on or after the
start of that period. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial recognition
exception in HKAS 12 so that it no longer applies to transactions that
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences, such as
leases and decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities are required
to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable profit is
available) and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising from
these transactions. The amendments are effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and shall be applied to
transactions related to leases and decommissioning obligations at the
beginning of the earliest comparative period presented, with any cumulative
effect recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits or other component of equity as appropriate at that date. In addition,
the amendments shall be applied prospectively to transactions other than
leases and decommissioning obligations. Earlier application is permitted.

The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest of
generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over which it is
in a position to exercise significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the
investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at the Group’s share of net assets under the
equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive
income of associates is included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively. In
addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in the equity
of the associate, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when
applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised
gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in
the associates, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition
of associates is included as part of the Group’s investments in associates.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or
vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, the investment
continues to be accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures
and recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference
between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of significant
influence and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from
disposal is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
at the end of each reporting periods. Fair value is the price that would
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The
fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in
the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the
most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value
of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair
value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the
use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in
the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — Dbased on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

Fair value measurement (Cont’d)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on
a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required (other than deferred tax assets and
financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that
are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit for
impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a
headquarters building) is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it
can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the
smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged
to profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Cont’d)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether
there is an indication that previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss
of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and

that person
(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or

of a parent of the Group;

or

2ABXEHHRME ()

FEMEERE (R)
RERERRFEREEPR BT BEEZHR
EBRAETBFEXTEDHY - WHREH
PR - AeRbtTkEeE - TAHEE (B
BRoN BRAMRERR  ERAABTEZEEN
KESBOAEFAZRRD - BEROSETES
NERBEFRLERLEERDRERBBME
EEnREE (NRETHE #H) - BEH
REBBRNEE LSRG AR o

)bl
ETIERT ERAATHBEREASEEH
i

(@ BERAALR—BALHZALZER W
FZAL

() EHIRAREHAEE
iy HAKEEEATEN &

iy AEAKEITEETRANEIEZER
B8 :



2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

Related parties (Cont’d)
(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(it

(i)

(v)

(vii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or

of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third
party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity
is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the Group or an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified
in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group or to
the parent of the Group.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location
for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been
put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged
to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be
replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets
with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost
of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual value over its
estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are
as follows:

23.8% — 31.7%

Office equipment and furniture 19.0%

Electronic equipment

Over the shorter of
the lease terms and 20%

19.0% - 23.8%

Leasehold improvements

Motor vehicles

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among
the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values, useful
lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate,
at least at each financial year end.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (Cont’d)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss
on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset
is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition
at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination
is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with
finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible
asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least
at each financial year end.

Purchased computer software is stated at cost less impairment and is
amortised on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 2 to 5
years.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains,
a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)
Leases (Cont’d)
Group as a lessee
The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all
leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The
Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use
assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

@

(b)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of
the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available for use).
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease
terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Office premises 2 — 4 years
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the end of
the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the
lease at the present value of lease payments to be made over the
lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable,
variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The
lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate the lease. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as
an expense in the period in which the event or condition that triggers
the payment occurs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)
Leases (Cont’d)
Group as a lessee (Cont'd)

(b)

()

Lease liabilities (Cont d)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date because
the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease
payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities
is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease
payments resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are presented separately in the statement
of financial position.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its
short-term leases of office premises (that is those leases that have
a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases of office equipment
that is considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, other comprehensive income and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the
financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group’s
business model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group initially measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised
cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it needs to give rise
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on
the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it
manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The business
model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income are held within a business model with the objective
of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial
assets which are not held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

Investments and other financial assets (Cont’d)

Initial recognition and measurement (Cont d)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on
the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the
effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of
a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed
from the Group’s consolidated statements of financial position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the
asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows
in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, but has transferred control of the asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

Derecognition of financial assets (Cont’d)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an
asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and
to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the
asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an
associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group
has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount
of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group
could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”)
for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs
are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective
interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the
contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there
has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing
of the default (a lifetime ECL).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (Cont’d)

General approach (Cont’a)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-
looking information. The Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than 120 days
past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments
are 120 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group may also
consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there
is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the following stages
for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased
significantly since initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition but that are not credit-
impaired financial assets and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date
(but that are not purchased or originated credit-impaired) and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (Cont’d)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component
or when the Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group applies the simplified
approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on market historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and
the economic environment.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings, payables, or as
derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as
appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of
loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable transaction
costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, due to a
related party and lease liabilities

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, payables are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation
process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in
finance costs in profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is
discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in
profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by the Company or
the Group (treasury shares) are recognised directly in equity at cost. No
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.

Inventories

Inventories represent capitalised costs which are incurred to fulfil contracts
with customers. They are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and short-
term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
and have a short maturity of generally within three months when acquired,
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statements of financial position, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including term
deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted as
to use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items
recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to
be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of reporting periods, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of each reporting periods between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences,
except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, when the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

Income tax (Cont’d)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences,
and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused tax losses.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses can be utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in
a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of
the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit
or loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of
the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of reporting periods and are recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of reporting periods.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if the
Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the
same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either to settle
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods that
the costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of
goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount that reflects
the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the
amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will be entitled
in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the customer. The
variable consideration is estimated at contract inception and constrained
until it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the amount
of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the
customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at
the present value of the amount receivable, discounted using the discount
rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction between the
Group and the customer at contract inception. When the contract contains
a financing component which provides the Group with a significant financial
benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability under
the effective interest method. For a contract where the period between
the payment by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the
effects of a significant financing component, using the practical expedient
in HKFRS 15.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

Revenue recognition (Cont’d)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Cont’a)

The Group transfers control of goods or services over time and recognises
revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs;

e the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative
use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control
of the goods or services.

For contracts that contain more than one performance obligations, the
Group allocates the transaction price to each performance obligation on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service underlying each
performance obligation is determined at contract inception. It represents the
price at which the Group would sell a promised good or service separately
to a customer. If a stand-alone selling price is not directly observable, the
Group estimates it using appropriate techniques such that the transaction
price ultimately allocated to any performance obligation reflects the amount
of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
transferring the promised goods or services to the customer.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)
Revenue recognition (Cont’d)
The Group entered into certain transactions with retail pharmacies to
provide services in exchange for receiving data. The transactions may
include cash consideration in addition to the non-cash consideration. The
Group considers the specific facts and circumstances to account for such
transactions. For the transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS
15, revenue is recognised when the promised services are transferred to
the customer and the Group obtains control of the data. The non-cash
consideration obtained from the customers is measured at fair value. If the
fair value of the non-cash consideration cannot be estimated reliably, the
Group measures the consideration indirectly by reference to the stand-alone
selling price of the services transferred to the customer.

The Group derives revenue from the provision of Data Insight Solutions,
Data-driven Publications and Events and SaaS products.

@)

Data Insight Solutions

Data Insight Solutions involve delivery of one-off and/or periodic
customised reports, and if required, report interpretations of data
analytics and problem-solving recommendations to medical product
manufacturers, policy makers and regulators, industry experts
and researchers as well as the provision of data-driven marketing
solutions to customers.

Delivery of customised research reports

For delivery of customised research reports, the Group agrees the
sales price for service with the customers upfront and bills to the
customers based on the actual service rendered and completed. The
contract usually contains multiple deliverable units (i.e., provision of
monthly research reports, quarterly reports and annual reports within
one contract) and each of them is sold at the stand-alone selling
price specified within the contract. Each individual deliverable unit is
regarded as a performance obligation. The Group recognised revenue
at the point of time when the individual research report is delivered
and accepted by the customers.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

Revenue recognition (Cont’d)

@

(b)

Data Insight Solutions (Cont d)

Provision of data-driven marketing solutions

Data-driven Marketing Solutions mainly include provision of
promotional activities services, advertising services and training
services.

The contract with customers relating to data-driven marketing
solutions consisted of multiple solutions, i.e., combination of
provision of marketing strategies and proposals, organisation of
training service, provision of advertising service and organisation of
customised promotional activities. Each of the multiple solutions is
sold at the stand-alone selling price specified in the contract. Each
individual solution is regarded as a performance obligation.

Revenue from each individual data-driven marketing solution is
recognised over time, because the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by the Group. The Group uses
the output method to measure progress towards complete satisfaction
of the service, based on units of delivery, or a straight-line basis over
the period that the services are rendered.

Data-driven Publications and Events

The Group is engaged in the provision of Data-driven Publications and
Events services which include organisation of conferences, exhibitions
and networking events.

The contract with customers relating to Data-driven Publications and
Events consisted of multiple promised services, i.e., organising and
hosting industry events and related value-added services such as
provision of forum discussions, exhibitions or provision of billboard
in the conference. The Group determined that organising and
hosting industry events conference and related value-added services
represents one performance obligation, because these promises are
mutually dependent and the customer is unable to derive significant
benefits from its access to value-added services for the intended
purpose without receipt of the promises of organising and hosting
industry events.

The revenue from Data-driven Publications and Events is recognised
over the time of conference, on a straight-line basis, because the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided
by the Group.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

Revenue recognition (Cont’d)

(c)  SaaS products
Provision of SaaS products involves the granting of right to access
the Group’s proprietary cloud-based software together with additional
standardised reports on an ad-hoc demand by singular or multiple
user accounts, provision of right to use an application programming
interface (“API") to generate a report and provision of application
software development services.

Granting right to access the proprietary cloud-based software
Revenue from SaaS products is recognised over the granted user
period on a straight-line basis, starting from the point when the user
account is activated, i.e., the user is able to use and benefit from the
services, and other revenue recognition criteria are met.

Provision of right-of-use API
Revenue is recognised at a point in time when the right-to-use of API
is provided and the report is generated for customers.

Provision of application software development service

Revenue is recognised at a point in time when the application
software together with relevant licence is delivered and accepted by
the customers.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a
shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods or
services transferred to the customer. If the Group performs by transferring
goods or services to a customer before the customer pays consideration
or before payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for the earned
consideration that is conditional. Contract assets are subject to impairment
assessment, details of which are included in the accounting policies for
impairment of financial assets.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a payment
is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the Group transfers
the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the
related goods or services to the customer).

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories, property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets, costs incurred to fulfil a contract with
a customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the following criteria are
met:

(@ The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated contract
that the entity can specifically identify.

(b)  The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that will be
used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy) performance obligations
in the future.

(c)  The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to profit or loss
on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to the customer of
the goods or services to which the asset relates. Other contract costs are
expensed as incurred.

Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in Mainland China
are required to participate in central pension schemes operated by the local
municipal government and the central government, respectively. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of payroll costs
to the central pension schemes. The contributions are charged to profit or
loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the central
pension schemes.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by the
shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed
in the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the
Company’s memorandum and articles of association grant the directors the
authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are
recognised immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

The financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the Company’s
functional currency. The Group’s presentation currency is RMB because the
Group’s principal operations are carried out in Mainland China. Each entity
in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in
the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of each of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of
the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when
the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a
non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e.,
translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration, the date of
initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the
Group determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.
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EREB R ERTEE BNERRE - BHRE
AHEFENFERREBELNRaIERLE
HRBE A TEEPNRAIEBE BN AR
E(AAFERsIBEREt2ARENEE
HERHIE R R EZ R IR At 2K
HERWER)

REEREBRNREABNEEREELEE
BEER  RETVSRIANBEE  FXIR
ARRNER - 1R 5 BHAREE SR
ANRBEEAMFEREEIFERARENA
B WEEZERNTRLBWGR - AEEH
BERMRENNRIRFEERZ A -



SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in
outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

There is no significant effect on the amounts recognised in the Group’s
financial statements arising from the judgements, apart from those involving
estimations, made by management in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of each reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.
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EREH ARG

RRASENHBHRRE  EEERFHERE
WA~ FIx - BERABH2HEE R AR
BEURIARBERBENOHE - et RRR - BH
ZEBRI RN T TR R EEHBEREAY
RYEAERABOEEBEFLEARE -

H
HREEBARAARESHRIARTEL IR
fhETEVHIES - ARHEHEA S EMBERRT
ERANERITEEATE -

et A REM
TXEARSHRERRBBARROERBRE LM
ATRERRNEMTRIR - ZFRRNAHE
ERERFEEAT - MRFENBERARRE
ERELEARENERRR -
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Cont’d)

Estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables.
The provision rates are based on ageing period for groupings of various
customer segments that have similar loss patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical expected
default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical
credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For instance, if
forecast economic conditions are expected to deteriorate over the next
year which can lead to an increased number of defaults, the historical
default rates are adjusted. At every reporting date, the historical expected
default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.

The assessment of the correlation between historical expected default
rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate.
The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of
forecast economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss experience
and forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future. The information about the ECLs
on the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in note 18 to the financial
statements.

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a lease,
and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure
lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have
to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset
in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the
Group “would have to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable
rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing
transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms and
conditions of the lease. The Group estimates the IBR using observable
inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is required to
make certain entity-specific estimates.

EREHAERGR (F)

fEsr R RE S ()

B S RW BN EHEER R
AEEERERFERENEE S RKGFROBHE
BB - BEXDARAARUBEBREANZ
RPN AR ARRATE

BERENZERASENELBEREOR - K
SERBAREERNAEELEREFRERE
AIRRIEER - Pl - HIRAEERRBRARRR
R—FRBRE KM BB ORELM - A
ARELROX - REBEY BLEHED
KRG TARH - UOAIE AT HNEE -

HESBHENX  BULER I KBHEES
BrEMABENTEBERG - EREES
BRSEHRERIENCERROEBHHE - A
SENELEEBRER KT ER R AHTER T
AREFRREPRARMNERENEN - BHAKX
SEESRUGEBRBEEBRENERNTER
RUTFF18HE -

HE — [Fa B EHFFE
AEEEZESETHENRREONE - K
b EREEETME (EEEFFE])FE
HERE - ZEERNER/AZERNBLEEN
RPARGEEREEEBBRICEE MU
BUERREBURREARBESRINZ
M- AL BEEFMERR T REE[EX
FINFZ - EEABERONRE (L EF]
VRERZHNBARME) B R FIRET
HABARBRBEN G RGNS - BIZAFHFIE
fhat - ENBEBARETAE  ARERAA
BERH AR (MMEHE) HEEEERME
YRELETERE TN -



SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Cont’d)

Estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised,
based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with
future tax planning strategies. The amount of unrecognised tax losses was
RMB67,994,000 (31 December 2021: RMB54,654,000) as at 31 December
2022. Further details are contained in note 24 to the financial statements.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is not organised into business units
based on their services and only has one reportable operating segment,
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EREHAERER (F)

T FREY (8)

EEHEEE
FEEHBEED A AR IERERER - LT
EAREERENTANEHERAR - £BTEH
FTHEANELCHEEESEN EEEABREA
B FE SR B ) AT A 3 A R ) T Ak T A e R R
BHREIRBEEH ER A - KR2022F12 3318 »
AERHIEBESEAARG7,994,0007T (2021
F12A318 « ARM54,654,0007T) ° E—FHHE
B BRRATEE24

BEIBER
RERME  AEELEEABBUSEHE
i YEE—ETSREENH - TREUAE

Management monitors the operating results of the Group’s operating BRED NS E£ERTERET  URER
segment as a whole for the purpose of making decisions about resource DEMEVGHEEL AR -
allocation and performance assessment.
Geographical information 1t &R
(a)  Revenue from external customers @ FEIFEEZIKA
2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETR ARETT
Mainland China* FE At 356,361 323,205
Singapore K 307 577
England WA - 263
Germany G2 - 43
France 3z - 38
Hong Kong 0 - 21
Korea 7 - 19
356,668 324,166

*

Mainland China means the PRC excluding Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan.

The revenue information above is based on the locations of the
customers.

EPIWMEEF'I TREEE RMARAE

/‘%

ALWRAE R HRE P MIE
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d) 4. BESBEN (&)
Geographical information (Cont’d) HEEH (HF)
(b)  Non-current assets ) EREEE
All non-current assets of the Group are in Mainland China. AEEMBERBEEDMNHEAH o
Accordingly, no geographical information of segment assets is A - GESHN D DEEMBER o
presented.
Information about major customers ERFEEFNERN
No revenue from the Group’s sales to a single customer amounted to 10% RENTEFTBEPUWAMGREBR R AR10%5K
or more of the Group’s total revenue during the year (2021: Nil). PAE (20214F : &) »
5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA - it AR Uz
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WA :
2022 2021
202F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBFT
Revenue from contracts with customers EFAHBA 356,668 324,166
Revenue from contracts with customers EEAHBA
(a)  Disaggregated revenue information @)  SPERAEH
2022 2021
20202F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AREF T
Types of services B &R
Data Insight Solutions BERRBRT R 225,262 161,367
Data-driven Publications and Events HERHRA LD 90,932 134,613
SaaS products SaaSE in 40,474 28,186
356,668 324,166
Geographical markets wEmE
Mainland China FEI A 356,361 323,205
Overseas Ao 307 961
356,668 324,166
Timing of revenue recognition I X R 19 g
Services transferred at a point in time IR R R ER 6 R% 131,976 116,538
Services transferred over time BEREEB MRS 224,692 207,628

356,668 324,166




5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Cont’d)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Cont’d)

@

(b)

Disaggregated revenue information (Cont’d)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised in the
current reporting period that were included in the contract liabilities
at the beginning of the reporting periods and recognised from
performance obligations satisfied in the previous period:
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5. WA - AR Bz (48)

EFRHBA ()
@ DEUAEH (B)

TRIITA AR E R HER BN RS A
FMIgR T ASHAE  ERBEDREAE
BHEEMERORASE :

2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARBTTT
Revenue recognised that was included F*:f\ 57]57‘/;
in contract liabilities at the beginning BA98 fEH

of the year: EREZUA -
Data Insight Solutions BERERATR 8,990 8,120
Data-driven Publications and Events YREHEMRTEY 2,191 270
Saa$S products SaaSFE 9,345 4170
20,526 12,560

Performance obligations
Information about the Group’s performance obligations is summarised
below:

Data Insight Solutions

The performance obligation for delivery of customised research
reports is generally satisfied at the point of time when the individual
research report is delivered and accepted by the customers and
payment is generally due within 90 days from the date of billing. The
performance obligation for provision of individual marketing solution is
satisfied over time as services are rendered and payment in advance
is normally required.

Data-driven Publications and Events

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services are
rendered, where payment in advance is normally required. The
services related to Data-driven Publications and Events are generally
completed within one week.

b

BHEF
ARAREROREIMERSELNT :

BEERERT R
INEFEHNRMERESNENEE R
RENNERERNLERFEAEE
Ko RR—REEZEHE0ARIIE -
REMERZEHEBRIRNBENEEREZR
RGBS REZK - B—RAERANN -

HEEDRHRED
BOELHEREBHORMER -
BERNNY - RREBDRHREDI
BEO RIS — MR R — R A -
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Cont’d)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Cont’d)
(b)  Performance obligations (Cont d)

SaaS products

The performance obligation for granting right to access the proprietary
cloud-based software is satisfied over time as services are rendered,
where payment in advance is normally required. The performance
obligation for the use of API is satisfied at the point of time when the
right to use is granted and payment is generally due immediately.
The performance obligation for application software development is
satisfied at the point of time when the application software together
with relevant licence is accepted by the customers, and payment is
generally due when the service was completed.

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31
December 2022 are as follows:

5. WA - Hittlg AR Wz ()

EEEHWA ()

b EHEEE)
SaaSE i
REZAEBERTHHABHR TR
REERBEER  ERERIT —REX
AT - FRAPIMBHNEERELER
BAERSET  BREERANEMR -
EREHRAENENETRERSER
HESRARTPEXMEREEN - M
30 & A RIS T R B o

R2022F 128318 pEERTROET (KE
e E D RER) IR FERSBNT

2022 2021
2022F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTRT ARET T
Amounts expected to be recognised as SRR

revenue: WAREE
Within one year —FR 79,811 49,442
After one year —& 6,218 3,018
86,029 52,460

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations which are expected to be recognised as
revenue after one year mainly relate to Data Insight Solutions services,
of which the performance obligations are to be satisfied within two
years. All the other amounts of transaction prices allocated to the
remaining performance obligations are expected to be recognised as
revenue within one year. The amounts disclosed above do not include
variable consideration which is constrained.

BHN— R RBARALES RER TRNE
MRS EES EEERBSRERATREH
BH - ARENETERAENER - FAL
BHREHTENEENR B ER S BRBR—
FRRBBUN - L XREHLBTBETRS
AR -
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Cont’d)

An analysis of other income and gains is as follows:

5. A - Eft AR Hizs (48)
A RMRSH AT -

2022 2021
2022F 20215
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARET T
Other income Hitlg A
Bank interest income BITRBHA 6,615 248
Government grants* BT B 12,496 16,354
Investment income from financial assets at fair &2 F{EaF AHzE4)
value through profit or loss TREENRERA 8,499 6721
Others it 8 256
21518 2579
Gains Uz
Fair value gains on financial assets at fair value 2 F{Ext ABH)
through profit or loss SREENLTELRS 38 4815
Foreign exchange gains, net BE 5 ez F 28 9,530 36
Gain on de-registration of a subsidiary FE-FIWB LR A 320 _
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (note 29) HE—ZKMBARM
Wzs (FHEE29) 201 _
Gains on lease modifications HEESKE - 1,107
37,707 29,537

BT EREE BT TR EE - AXHA
SEZE - ZERBUEMERBTREREAS
o

*

The government grants mainly represent incentives awarded by the local
governments to support the Group’s operation. There were no unfulfilled conditions
or contingencies attached to these grants.
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6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

6. FR¥LAIER

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

AEBEORBARFRAL /(GtA) AT RE
RE

2022 2021
2022F 20216
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
i3 AR®TR ARBFT
Cost of services provided RERBEHA 197,560 131,507
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment nx - BELRENE 13 2,659 2,083
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREAENE 14(a) 5,179 4,849
Amortisation of other intangible assets* Hih®y & e 15 891 420
Research and development costs HEMA 60,412 53711
Listing expenses Baileha 12,056 20,648
Lease payments not included in the T AREAGEHEN
measurement of lease liabilities REMH 14(c) 66 364
Bank interest income BRITMEBA 5 (6,615) (248)
Government grants K8 5 (12,496) (16,354)
Investment income from financial assets at TN )
fair value through profit or loss FREAENRERA 5 (8,499) (6,721)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary PE—RIB AR MKEE 5 (201) _
Fair value gaing on financial assets at BATEF ARG
fair value through profit or loss TREENLFERE 5 (38) (4,815)
Gains on lease modifications HEESME 5 (1,107)
Gain on de-registration of a subsidiary HHE-RMB AR 5 (320) =
Loss on de-registration of a subsidiary HHE-RMBLARMER 690 _
Foreign exchange gain, net B 5 o % 2R 5 (9,530) (36)
Loss on disposal of items of property, HENE  BER
plant and equipment REREZEE 3 74
Auditor's remuneration 3Gk 2,180 55
EERNAZ (TEFEEER
Employee benefit expense (excluding directors’ ITRIBAEHM
and chief executive’s remuneration (note 8)): (Fizx8)) -
Wages and salaries I&k%® 138,325 118.924
Pension scheme contributions™ BAREFEIHER 4313 8 361
Staff welfare expense BIRMAX 1,457 625
Impairment of trade receivables, net B O RAGRREFE 18 2678 2510
Impairment of other receivables, net Hi BN FIEREFE 19 - 345

The amortisation of other intangible assets is included in “Administrative expenses”
in the consolidated statements of profit or loss.

There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as the employer *
to reduce the existing level of contributions.

Hth BV EEEHT A BRRTTHAXIA -

AREIHSBRAHIKE - MRS ER A HARE
-4
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7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BAREERA
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: WBRADWAOT
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETTL
Interest on lease liabilities (note 14(b)) HEEEFS (FE140) 12 532

REMUNERATION

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

8. EERFETHASHMH

REETRA - FAREEHIZE383(1)@) ~ () (©)
ROERLR (BBEEEFEER) BHIE25ET
BEZENEERTETHAEHHMMT -

Group

rEE
2022 2021
20226 20214
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARBTT
Fees e 225 _

Other emoluments: Hinie

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e RURENEN 1,451 1,268
Performance related bonuses RIERTEA 288 91
Pension scheme contributions RIREE IR 17 17

—
©
©
—
-
w
N
o
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (Cont’d)
Mr. Wu Yushu was appointed as a director of the Company on 4 March
2019 and was re-designated as an executive director of the Company on
3 June 2021. Ms. Wang Lifang was appointed as an executive director
of the Company on 3 June 2021. Mr. Fu Haitao was appointed as
a non-executive director of the Company on 3 June 2021. Mr. Wei Bin,
Ms. Wang Danzhou and Ms. Du Yilin were appointed as independent non-
executive directors of the Company on 27 April 2022,

(a) Independent non-executive directors
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the year
were as follows:

EEREETRAREHH ()

REFRER2019F3 4R EZEAAREE
= WR2021F6 ASHATARARMITES o
FHRF L ER2021F6 A3EEZ T AADRHRT
BE o (HBELAERN202156 A3HEZEARA
AIEMITES - B4 - TR/ L RHKH
TETR2022F4 27 BER T AR RIB ISR
TEZ -

(a) BUFHTES
RERIFTFELFEDTEETNHRE N
T

2022 2021

202F 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETFT

Wang Danzhou A 45 _

Du Yilin LRI 45 _

Wei Bin EpT) 45 _
135

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent
non-executive directors during the year (2021: Nil).

FATEAMGN TEULIFRTEFOME (2021
FiE)-
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8. EERFRITHASHM (&)

BTES  FUTESERIETHAR

Executive directors, a non-executive director and the chief

executive
Salaries,
allowances Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses contributions remuneration
F6 BN RAEY Bk .
He REWEF 4 FTEIHER st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR¥ETR AR%Tn ARETR ARET T
2022 20224
Executive directors: HITES
Mr. Wu Yushu* REF KL 45 742 144 9 940
Ms. Wang Lifang IFFa: 45 709 144 8 906
Non-executive director:  FFFITES :
Mr. Fu Haitao TEREE - _ _ _ ~
90 1,451 288 17 1,846
2021 20214
Executive directors: HOIES
Mr. Wu Yushu* REF KL = 652 47 9 708
Ms. Wang Lifang TFFaL = 616 44 8 668
Non-executive director:  FFFAITES :
Mr. Fu Haitao TEBREE _ _ _ B ~
- 1,268 91 17 1,376

Mr. Wu Yushu was appointed as the chief executive of the Company.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the

year.

REFEEBZERARALRITHAR °

RER HEEERTIZTRABRER
FEMETMHMO L -
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9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. hERAHMES
The five highest paid employees during the year included no director (2021: RER AERSFNEEVERREESEN
Nil), none of whose remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the (20214 : &) - HEMEBESN LTS - 8
remuneration for the remaining five (2021: five) highest paid employees THA(R21F : ARL)WHARANEERTE
who are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as THAERZSEMESNFMEBMOT
follows:
2022 2021
202F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARETT
Salaries, bonuses, allowances and B o fEAL BB R
benefits in kind EMER 5,039 3,640
Performance related bonus FRIRHBIEA 569 714
Pension scheme contributions RIKS B 79 86
5,687 4,440
The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid employees BN T T EE  FESRFETETHARL
whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows: EE’I%%WEE BABMT :
Number of employees
EEAH
2022 2021
2002F 20214
Nil to HK$1,000,000 21,000,000/ 7T - 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7T £ 1,500,000/ 7T 5 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001/ 7T £ 2,000,000/ 7T - 1

len
(&2}




10. INCOME TAX

(@

The major components of the income tax expense of the Group during
the year are analysed as follows:
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10. FiB#

@ AEEREANFEHAIEZARED
DT

2022 2021
2022%F 20215
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AREFT

Current — Mainland China Charge for BIER — FAMERE
the year Bl A IR 1,880 21,907
Overprovision in prior years AEFERERE (3,393) _
Deferred tax (note 24) EIEDR (fistad) 1,774 1,644
Total tax charge for the year FAMBREHIBRE 261 23 551

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which members of the
Group are domiciled and operate.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and the
BVI, the Company and its subsidiary are not subject to any income tax
in the Cayman Islands and the BVI.

The statutory tax rate for the subsidiary in Hong Kong is 16.5%. No
Hong Kong profits tax on the subsidiary has been provided as there
was no assessable profit arising in Hong Kong during the year.

The provision for current income tax in Mainland China is based
on a statutory tax rate of 25% of the assessable profits of the PRC
subsidiaries of the Group as determined in accordance with the PRC
Corporate Income Tax Law.

Sinohealth Information was accredited as a high and new technology
enterprise (“HNTE”) in 2019, and the certifications were valid for
three years. Sinohealth Information did not renew the HNTE Certificate
in 2022, thus could no longer enjoy the preferential income tax
rate of 15%. For the year ended 31 December 2022, Sinohealth
Information was entitled to a PRC Corporate Income tax rate of 25%
(31 December 2021: 15%).

Guangzhou Zhongkang Digital was accredited as a high and new
technology enterprise (“HNTE”) in 2022, and the certifications
were valid for three years. For the year ended 31 December 2022,
Guangzhou Zhongkang Digital was entitled to a preferential PRC
Corporate Income tax rate of 15% (31 December 2021: 25%).

AREAGAKEKE R AR REZMERDR
BEELIRONET  REBEEZRHREG
Bio

REFMSHEREBELERENMRARER K
REREMBARBENASRE LARE LA
SHMERMREHR -

ERMBARAEERER16.5% « ARFAL
BERNERELERVGH - MU BB QA
REEMGHBE -

BRI BB ET S R BB IR iR B R B (S 2T (S
REBETNAREETENEQRNESHERZ
SEERRSNETE o

FREAR2019FHRAT A TRMEE
([HNTE]) - BZ2ERHAZF - PEENR2022
FUESEINTERE AT E2EZE15%KE
BREHER - 52022512 A3 BILEE - &
FEEMZEB25NHNRECEMESHFRE (20214
12A318 : 15%) °

BN REFR202FERARTE S i %
([HNTE]) » FEEEUMBRA=F « HE2022F12 8
NBUFE ENRRATZE15%HESTE
PERSHBZ (20215128318 : 25%) °

211



Sinohealth Holdings Limited A B2 i% B BR 2 &)
Annual Report 2022 —Z = —FFFH{E

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
MEHRRME (&)

31 December 2022

2022 12 A31 B
10. INCOME TAX (Cont’d) 10. Fr{8%i ()
(@  The major components of the income tax expense of the Group during @ AREREANFESHAZEZARTD
the year are analysed as follows: (Cont'd) ST : (F)
Certain of the subsidiaries, which operate in Mainland China, are REZE2022F1231BILEE @ RHHE
identified as Small and Micro Enterprises and were entitled to Wi 28 /)5 TH B A R E A/MIt
a preferential tax rate of 2.5% or 5% during the year ended 31 ¥ ZH25%HSNERHE o

December 2022.

(b) A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax b)) BARPEAMIEETEHESENRTR
at the statutory rate in Mainland China to the tax expense at the SARNFRER Y B ERHN KA ENFIE
effective tax rate is as follows: R HERNT

2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AREFT
Profit before tax BR L Al v ) 54,474 95,529
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 25% in ~ KTRERMEEHE
Mainland China 20%5t BRI HIE 13,618 23,882
Lower tax rates enacted by local authority & M BIRMAEIEH = (7,818) (1,718)
Adjustments in respect of current tax of ~ BLBEFEHE HHA
previous years fEHRE (3,393) _
Effect on deferred tax balance due to Fﬁé‘;@ﬁ;@;ﬁ;@%
change in income tax rate BIBEREENTE (94) _
Additional deductible allowance for ERINATHR
research and development costs HER<EE (5,523) (4,181)
Expenses not deductible for tax PRI AR 44 5,097
Tax losses utilised from previous years BEFEAPATEER (2) (90)
Losses attributable to associates B2 R R EE - 10
Tax losses not recognised REERTIAEE 1,885 551
Effect of withholding tax at 10% 10% BB A5 Bl
on the distributable profits of the H Igﬁgag;&fﬁ[?j i
Group's PRC subsidiaries (note 24) MERFE (FiE24) 1,544

Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate ~ RAEEERBRHEA

HMIER Y 261 23,551
Effective tax rate BERHX 0.5% 24.7%
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2022 12 A31 B

DIVIDEND 1. BB

2022 2021

20225 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETTT
Proposed final — HK$3.98 cents (2021: Nil) per &g A W18 — 45 3828 I
ordinary share 3.98 kAl (20214 « 4E) 15,443

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval of the
Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On 27 January 2021, Sinohealth Information declared and approved a
dividend of RMB120,086,000 to its then shareholders.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based on the
profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent, and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 410,666,838 (2021:
373,123,325) in issue during the year, as adjusted to reflect the rights
issue during the year.

The weighted average number of shares has been retrospectively adjusted
for the effect of the share subdivision (note 25) and capitalisation issue
(note 25) on the assumption that the share subdivision and capitalisation
issue had been completed on 1 January 2021.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

12.

AERRSABBS AT
BERGLILE -

RARRRERERERR

R2021F1A27H A REME R EREE
BRI BUR 2B A R #120,086,0007C °

g%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬁk%ﬁ%ﬁ
B
FRAEREABHSENRESARLEBRES
ANEEERBANERTEBRMMETSE
410,666,838 % (2021 4F : 373,123,325 ) 51 & -
A8 B [ L R R LR o

Bm e T HE RO 2R (FE25) R E
AT (HFE25) O EERBPAR - Hf
BEBOHFREREITR2021E1 A1AKE
SERK ©

HE2022F R2021F12 AN BILFE  AEET
EBEEHECBITEAR -
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12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY 12. BRRILEREXEEAELESR

EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT (Cont’d) 2 ()
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on: FREARZFREA TR E
2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARETT
Earnings bl
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of AR EEREAR
the parent, used in the basic earnings per ARMBARE
share calculation LAREA AEERT 55,758 78,813

Number of shares

RS E
2022 2021
2022F 20214
Shares 5)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares ~ MR HGRER
in issue during the year used in the basic BNRNFAD BT

earnings per share calculation EARIETIH 410,666,338 373,123,325
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31 December 2022
2022 F12 A31 B

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. W% - RERRE
Office
Electronic equipment Leasehold
equipment  and furniture  improvements  Motor vehicles Total
BORE  EENE ‘ )
ETRE RZE& 4 "E @t
RMB'000  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMB000  RMBY00O
AR¥TRT  AR¥Tn ARBTr AR¥TR AR%T:R

31 December 2022 022E12A318
Cost T 8,138 338 1777 792 11,045
Accumulated depreciation ZitihE (5,072) (230) (1,050) (222 (6,574)
Nt carying amourt REFE 3,066 _108 1 _500 441
At 1 January 2022, net of accumulated depreciation RARFIAE - MRRHAE 3,066 108 17l 570 4471
Addtions E 1,882 3 97 2,855
Disposals & (1) - (207) - (284)
Depreciation provided during the year (note 6 FRsHENITE (o) 2,022 (60) (449) (129) (2,659)
At 31 December 2022, net o accumulted depreciafon ~~ R202F 12331 B+ IR RFHE 2849 _u 1,009 _u 4383
At 31 December 2022 Ro0RE1RANE
Cost N 9,793 314 2,458 792 13417
Accumulated depreciation ZitiE (6,944) (290) (1,449) (351) (9,034)
Nt carying amourt REFE 2849 _u 1,009 _ 4383
31 December 2021 20215128318
Cost s 7,039 103 1,491 79 9,725
Accumulated depreciation ZithE 3,902 (18) 142 (113) (4.975)
Net carrying amount REFE 3137 _18 _149 _679 4750
At 1 January 2022, net of accumulated depreciation RAREIAIR  NGZFTE 3,137 185 749 679 4750
Addtons AE 1577 15 286 1478
Disposals e (59) (16) - - (74)
Depreciation provided during the year (note 6 ERERATE (Mio) (1,590) 76) (308) (109) (2,089)
At 31 December 2022, netof accumuted dpeciatin ~~~ R202F12331H - R RFE 3,066 _108 1 _n 4n
At 31 December 2022: RANEZANA
Cost A 8,138 338 1777 792 11,045
Accumulated depreciation ZHiTE (5,072) (230) (1,050) (222) (6,574)
Net carrying amount FEFE 3,066 108 1 570 447
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14. LEASES
The Group as a lessee
The Group has lease contracts for office premises and other equipment
used in its operations. Leases of office premises generally have lease
terms between 2 and 4 years. Other equipment is generally of low
value individually. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and
subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

(a) Right-of-use assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and the
movements during the year are as follows:

14. 1HE

FEBEREEA
AEECHAREEENRRAENEREMR
BIVHESHN -WAZMEEANEH K
R2EAF At REBEERBERE - —&
s AEEFERAKEI BELBHAEE
o

(@ FERAREE
RERN  AEBFERAREENREERE
E PN

Office premises

WAEME

RMB’'000

AR¥T R

As at 1 January 2021 R2021F1A1A 26,063
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE—RHB A 766
Additions NE 3,406
Lease modifications HEEH (16,368)
Depreciation charge (note 6) mEMS (fize) (4,849)
As at 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 202112 A31 B R 20251 1R 9,018
Additions AE 3,015
Depreciation charge (note 6) TERL (M36) (5,179)

As at 31 December 2022 202212 A31H 6,854




Sinohealth Holdings Limited B2 i% & BR 2 &)
Annual Report 2022 —Z — —EEFH{E

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
MEHRRME (&)

14. LEASES (Cont’d)
(b) Lease liabilities
The carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements during
the year are as follows:

14. HE (8)
b) BEAME

31 December 2022
2022 F12 A31 B

RER - HEREMRAERESMT -

2022 2021

2022F 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T AREFT

Carrying amount at 1 January M ATEREREE 9,614 27,870

Additions as a result of acquisition of a subsidiary B —KMBARMAE - 805

New leases HHE 3,015 3,406

Accretion of interest recognised (note 7) BRI S LE (M) 412 532

Reduction as a result of lease modifications R & B EE HER (17,475)

Payments OE:A (5,914) (5,524)

Carrying amount at 31 December M2 A 31 BERE(E 7,127 9,614
Analysed into: E V-

Current portion e D 3,223 4,640

Non-current portion EREDH 3,004 4974

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 34 to the
financial statements.

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are

HERBEOIRERI MNP BRERM E

UHHE -

€ REZEINRBEFHENEMT

as follows:

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%ETR ARET T
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENS 412 532
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets ~ EAEEERNTERX 5,179 4,849
Gains on lease modifications HEBR s - (1,107)

Expense relating to leases of low-value assets SR EEEEHEH B
(included in administrative expenses) Fx (GTATTBRAX) 4 216

Expense relating to short-term leases HERHERANRY

(included in administrative expenses) (GEATTHES) 62 148
Total amount recognised in profit or loss NEREZNETE 5,657 4638

(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 28(c) to the
financial statements.

@ HERSRHABRRBRMBHRRME

28(c) *
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31 December 2022
2022 F12 A31 B

15. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 15. Hitt B B E
Software
g4
RMB’000
ARBTT
31 December 2022 2022128318

Cost at 1 January 2022, net of accumulated amortisation 720221 A1 B RS » HIBR Rt #iH 1,152
Additions NE 1,329
Amortisation provided during the year (note 6) FRFHEA G (F6) (891)
At 31 December 2022 72022412 A31H 1,590

At 31 December 2022: 2022512 A318 -
Cost EN 5,036
Accumulated amortisation Rt (3,446)
Net carrying amount RESHE 1,590

31 December 2021 2021%12A 318

Cost at 1 January 2021, net of accumulated amortisation 202151 B1 BB » 40k Rt 205
Additions NE 1,376
Disposal & ©)
Amortisation provided during the year (note 6) FREtiEm s (Fxe) (420)
At 31 December 2021 R202112 318 1,152

At 31 December 2021: R2021F12A318
Cost A 3,707
Accumulated amortisation EYg 3| (2,555)
Net carrying amount REFE 11592




16. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES
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16. REFZERRINIRE

31 December 2022
2022 F12 A31 B

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥ETR AREFT
Share of net assets [EILEEFE _- 184
Particulars of the associates are as follows: E N AIMEBAT
Percentage of
Bt
Place of Principal
Company registration Paid-up capital  Ownership interest Voting power Profit sharing activities
a7 i EfER frEkEs RER B{ERR ITER
Jiangxi Yaoshunshun Medicine Company Limited (*Jiangxi Yaoshunshun’) PRC RMB200,000 49% 49% 100% Dormant
(LT EIRE LA R )y
TRERIREEERAA ([ TREEE]) mE ARE200007 fmeE
Lanyu Health Technology (Guangzhou) Company Limited PRC RMB1,000,000 40% 40% 40% Dormant
(‘Lanyu Heath Technology') (B S5 (R (B M) A A )
EHRENE (BN ARLA ((Z8ERRE]) mE AR1,000,0007 Py

*

shareholders.

The profit sharing is based on the proportion of paid-in capital contribution by

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information of the

EAEEMRBERREBE R LIS -

TRAUAHFERHEANAEER E D ANEQH

Group’s associates that are not individually material: BER -
2022 2021
2022F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AREFT
Share of the associates’ loss and FEMREBE AR FABER
total comprehensive loss for the year 2EBRAR 416
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16. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (Cont’d) 16. REVE R ANIRE (F)
2022 2021
2022 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARET T
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s AEERHERRIRER
investments in the associates FHeE _ - 184
The investment in Jiangxi Yaoshunshun was disposed of by a subsidiary of ARB—RMBARER2022F8 4298 HER
the Company to a third party on 29 August 2022. IFRERIEIRE
Lanyu Health Technology was deregistered on 2 March 2023. EFRRERREN2023F3 A2 A FURR -
41
17. INVENTORIES 17. &
2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTT
Contract fulfilment costs BRRA 2,317 680
The above costs incurred to fulfil contracts relate to provision of Data TRBEFTENMEENKAREREBRARER
Insight Solutions and are recognised to costs of sales when the related HREB TR EERGEBREEFPRERR
services are transferred to customers. The amount recognised during the HEKAR - FRERNSEAARE680,0007T

year was RMB680,000 (2021: RMB573,000). (20214 : AR¥573,0007T)
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31 December 2022

2022 12 A31 B
18. TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES 18. EZEWMRIEREWER

2022 2021

20225 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T ARET T

Trade receivables B EWTIA 92,028 78,712

Notes receivable U E 6,287 7,695
Impairment BE (6,322) (4,541)

91,993 81,866

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit. The
credit terms granted generally ranged from 7 days to 120 days, depending
on the specific payment terms in each contract. The Group seeks to
maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by senior management. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances.

Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the reporting
period, based on the transaction dates and net of loss allowance, is as

follows:

AREEERPHNEZHEFANEERE - RN
MEEH-—BRNF7RE1200 - REZNHAEH
R E SRR E © AR BB R BRI
EAEERUSE - SREEEEHRIAH
K o ARET R E 5 RYGABRI A TR
BERmIEMERERREE - BARBFATG

B o
T

REEHR - EHRMFRBERZ S B H RNk
EREBERNREATMT :

2022 2021
2022 20214

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥ET ARETTT

Within 6 months 618 A A 66,345 71,273
6 to 12 months 6= 12{E A 11,084 2,513
1 to 2 years 1225 8,162 383
2 to 3 years 2E3F 115 2
85,706 74,171
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31 December 2022
2022 F12 A31 B

18. TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade receivables
are as follows:

18. EZBURERERER (&)

BHRAGRNAEEREREDHMT :

2022 2021

2022% 20214F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

At beginning of year REA 4,541 3,270
Impairment losses, net (note 6) RERRFE (F:Z6) 2,678 2,510
Amount written off as uncollectible eEE e e (897) (1,239)
At end of year RER 6,322 4,541

The increase in the loss allowance of RMB1,781,000 (2021:
RMB1,271,000) was due to an increase of trade receivable which were
aged over 1 year and past due.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision rates are
based on the days past due for groupings of various customer segments
with similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects the probability-weighted
outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

ERREIE A REE1781,0007T (20214F : AR
#1,271,0007T) + HEAREREREB1FEEAEHN
2 5 WG MIFTER -

REREBARABBEREETREDN - W&t
ERHEEER - BBEXREARAFRUBER
TmyM%ﬁ“%@mmt%%%Fm %t 8
R R AR Mhﬁ1ﬁ&%ﬁ¢5%
ﬁ%%ﬁ@ﬂ&%ﬁ B B AR A AR
BRANAERAEEH -
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31 December 2022
2022 F12 A31 B

18. TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the
Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:

18. EZBRERBRRIE ()
TXABAEARBERHEHERAREE S
BURSBR AR LR AR

As at 31 December 2022 2022512 A31 R

Gross carrying Expected Expected

amount credit loss rate credit loss

AREE 2 FAHREESER EHEERE

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT

Current b 63,479 1.4% 913
Past due: BER

Within 1 year 15/ 24,013 8.9% 2,125

Between 1 and 2 years 122% 3,408 65.9% 2,246

Between 2 and 3 years 2E3F 728 87.6% 638

Over 3 years 3FME 400 100.0% 400

92,028 6.9% 6,322

As at 31 December 2021 R2021F12 A31H

Gross carrying Expected Expected

amount credit loss rate credit loss

BEREEE BHEEBEX HEHEEEE

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETTL ARETIL

Current BN 49,193 1.1% 553
Past due: B

Within 1 year 15/ 27,357 7.9% 2,144

Between 1 and 2 years 1225 831 62.3% 518

Between 2 and 3 years 2E3F 38 86.8% 33

Over 3 years 3FENL 1,293 100.0% 1,293

78,712 5.8% 4,541

FEBERKEENRROA—FA - BREKAH
TR

The Group’s notes receivable are all aged within one year and were neither
past due nor impaired.
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19. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER
ASSETS

19. %ﬁﬁ%ﬁlﬁ - Hit B ERE At E

2022 2021
2022F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARBFT
Prepayments BNRIE 3,842 2719
Deferred listing expenses JRIE ERS - 5912
Prepaid expenses BRHEE 856 857
Other receivables o FEMGRIA 2,772 2156
Prepayment for repurchase of shares BEROHEN A 2,410 _
Other assets Hi&E 11,433 _
21,313 11,644
Impairment loss REER (325) (325)
20,988 11,319

Analysed into: DI
Current portion nEEHH 20,988 10,451
Non-current portion SERBED - 868

An impairment analysis is performed at the end of the reporting period.
The Group has applied the general approach to provide for expected credit
losses for non-trade other receivables under HKFRS 9. The Group considers
the historical loss rate and adjusts for forward-looking macroeconomic data
in calculating the expected credit loss rate.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group estimated the expected losses for
other receivable to be RMB325,000 (31 December 2021: RMB325,000).

BEDMRBERRET - ARECREFEHR
BHRERREIREA-—RITVERFES AR
KHBRHEREEBRNRRE - AREEHE
BHEERRXRZEELBRXYREAMENL
LEBEESBENAR -

R2022F12 A31 B - REBG E bR FIER
B A A RE3250007T (202112 8318 ¢
ARH325,0007T) e



19. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER

20.

ASSETS (Cont’d)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of other receivables
were as follows:

Sinohealth Holdings Limited B2 i% & BR 2 &)
Annual Report 2022 —Z — —EEFH{E

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
MEHRRME (&)

31 December 2022
2022 F12 A31 B

19. AR RE - HttERREREME

E(8)

HipRUTBRENEERBEREDIT

2022 2021

2022F 20214

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®ETR ARBTT

At beginning of year E17 3925 _
Impairment losses, net HERRFH _ 345
Amount written off as uncollectible BRI E s & 8 - (20)
325 325

Other receivables are non-interest-bearing, unsecured and repayable on
demand.

Included in the Group's other assets, RMB10,000,000 was prepayment for
a potential acquisition (31 December 2021: Nil), which is subject to further
negotiation.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT
OR LOSS

20.

HttEUHAREE  BEAREREREE -

AEBMEMEEPBEAREE10,000,0007T
Tt —IEBEWETE A FIE (2021612 A 31

B:#&) HAGE-SEREE -

BROTEFARGNENEE

2022 2021
20225 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETTT ARETT

Unlisted investments, at fair value FLTRE  RRATERHE 2,098 373,389

The unlisted investments represented certain financial products issued by
commercial banks in Mainland China. They were classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss as their contractual cash flows are
not solely payments of principal and interest.

FLITREEFEAMARRITETNET R

Em - ARZERENANRERELIFEZ
AERMNE  HESBARAVEFARRENE

225



226

Sinohealth Holdings Limited A B2 i% B BR 2 &)
Annual Report 2022 —Z = —FFFH{E

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
MEHRRME (&)

31 December 2022
2022 F12 A31 B

21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

21. RERALFEY

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETT ARET T
Cash and bank balances B e RiRTTHES 246,798 33,955
Time deposits hEE 418,766 _
Less: e
Current portion: BIEIEE S -
Non-pledged time deposits with original RERGE R 2 HI B EE" .
maturity of over three months when acquired = A AR EIEIRE B 175,474 -
Non-Current portion: RN -
Non-pledged time deposits with original REVSERAMARR
maturity of over three months when acquired = {8 A BER T K 80,772 -
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEY 409,318 33,955
Denominated in: TSI E8ETE
RMB AR 346,680 28,618
US$ *TL 61,919 5,239
HK$ BT 719 98
409,318 33,955
The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under ARBERTEmEBRAEMEE - Am - BEF
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration B At (IMNEE R ED]) R(LEE - EERMEE

of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the
Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks

authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates. Time deposits are made for varying periods from one to nine months

and earn interest at the fixed time deposit rates.

The bank balances and

time deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history

of default.

BHRE) AEEEEERREEETINERSE

MRITHARBELASEMER -

RITRSRENERRTFERN KT FIRR
BME - ERERR—ENEANTEHEK
&+ WIREE N E RE A R RIS o RITA
BEERERFALHLBENELNEERYF

HYERTT °



Sinohealth Holdings Limited B2 i% & BR 2 &)
Annual Report 2022 —Z — —EEFH{E

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
MEHRRME (&)

31 December 2022

2022 12 A31 B
22. TRADE PAYABLES 22. EGEATIE
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARBTT
Trade payables B I ENFIR 14,665 16,859

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the reporting
period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

RBEHRR - ERERBHNE FEMNFRRER

DT

2022 2021
2022F 20214

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥ETR ARETIL

Within 3 months R3EAR 11,834 16,422
4 to0 6 months 4Z6{EA 623 67
7 to 12 months TE12fEA 1,968 250
Over 1 years 1A E 240 120
14,665 16,859

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled within
90 days.

EARNTBATE S

A

» —RIROE A ©
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23. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

23. HitEAREREF R

2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT
Payroll payables EANE 27,887 33,961
Contract liabilities (a) &HRRE 35,997 22,913
Accrued listing expense JEST BRI - 5024
Tax payables other than income tax FERTRIE (FTBRBRIN) 7,225 4512
Other payables (b) Hfth FERTFRIE (D) 3,030 1,176
74,139 67,586
(@) Details of contract liabilities are as follows: ) AHBEFBERT:

2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT

Types of services fREER
Data Insight Solutions FERRBRAFTR 17,379 10,631
Data-driven Publications and Events YEBRHEMRED 8,362 2,757
Saa$ products SaaSE i 10,256 9,525
35,997 22,913

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received before the
services are rendered. The increase in contract liabilities during the
year 2022 was mainly due to the increase in short-term advances
received from customers in relation to the provision of services at the
end of each of the year.

AHARBRREREANRMEREN
TR - RANLFEMEHABREMEER
ARNAERFERE R P R R 4R
BABNE R TUE A -

(b)  Other payables are non-interest-bearing and repayable on demand. b EtENZFEATTEMIEERER -
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24. DEFERRED TAX 24, BERE
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the reporting RIREER - BERIBEER EBENEEHOT ¢
period are as follows:
31 December 2022 2022128318
Deferred tax assets BRERIBEE
Impairment Impairment Total
of trade of other Lease deferred tax
receivables receivables liabilities assets
g5 kR Hh ek EREBIE

REHE HERE AERE  KEAR
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’'000  RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR ARMTR AR®TR

At 1 January 2022 2022118 824 49 948 1,821
Deferred tax charged to profit or loss ~ FPIMER BB & MIRITHIA
during the year (note 10) (PfrEE10) (110) (49) (344) (503)
Gross deferred tax assets at R2022F12 31 B #Y
31 December 2022 BRI EELE 714 - 604 1,318
Deferred tax liabilities ERHERE
Withholding Right-of-use Total deferred
Taxes assets tax liabilities
caak EERE
SiEilk &E EEAE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR®TR ARETR
At 1 January 2022 R2022%F1 A1 8 - 905 905
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to FRMRE /(GEA)
profit or loss during the year (note 10) BREEEHIA
(HEE10) 1,544 (273) 1,271
Gross deferred tax liabilities at R2022F 12 A 31 Ef’\]
31 December 2022 EREVEARRRE 1,544 632 2,176
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24. DEFERRED TAX (Cont’d) 24. RIEFIIE ()
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the reporting RBEHA  BEEHEEEREBENESHOT -
period are as follows: (Cont'd) (&)
31 December 2021 202112 A31H
Deferred tax assets EERBEE
Loss
available for
I[mpairment  Impairment offsetting Total
of trade of other Lease against future deferred
receivables  receivables liabilities  taxable profits tax assets
AE Y
ARER
BSmEM EfEK BoaFldy BB
FIERE FERE HEAE B BREAE

RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARBTET

At 1 January 2021 20211 A1H 350 S 778 2,146 3,274
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to FRFA/(NKRA) B
profit or loss during the year (note 10) HOIERER IR (MTFE10) 474 49 170 (2,146) (1453)
Gross deferred tax assets at 12021412 531 AAY
31 December 2021 BREMIEEERE 824 49 948 - 1,821
Deferred tax liabilities EERESE
Right-of-use Total deferred
assets tax liabilities
ELERIE
EREEE AEgsE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFT
At 1 January 2021 R202151A18 714 714
Deferred tax charged to profit or FENHB BEEN
loss during the year (note 10) EERE (H2E10) 191 191
Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 2021 R2021E12 A318

ETRAR R 905 905




24. DEFERRED TAX (Cont’d)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have
been offset in the statement of financial position. The following is an
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24. EEHE (1)
REFIME - HETECHAAERABRENNE
AR - U TAERNBRE 2 AL BB

analysis of the deferred tax balances of the Group for financial reporting A SR DT
purposes:
2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARETTT
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the RIS MR KB R
combined statements of financial position RIEHIAEEFR 686 916
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the RERE MR & HER A
combined statements of financial position ERERBEEFR (1,544) =
(858) 916
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following VESRATBERRZELEHBEEE
item:
2022 2021
20225 202145
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARETTT
Tax losses HIEEE 67,994 54.654

The above tax losses arising in Mainland China that will expire in one to
five years for offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets
have not been recognised in respect of these losses as it is not considered
probable that taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses
can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding
tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The requirement is
effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For
the Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is therefore liable for
withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established
in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

NERFBEARELORABREN —E201FA
BE - AEHEARRERBORN o i ERTURE R
o AR EERERRRE AT S ERZ
TEERRRLEHREE -

REFRBEMEMEREE - KRR BERME NG
BECEERAIIBEREES RO EHHR10%
HTET » ZART E200851 A1 BEAMN - BiE
FR2007F12 A31 B AF) o i B A aEsh
B EEMEREERITARSHE - B ER
BEMENHRTE - RAKEmE - FHAREA
10% o Rt A £ B A E R A B R AX 37 #97%
ZHBRRAIURE 200881 A1 AREENEFIFT
DIRAR B SR TEINR
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24. DEFERRED TAX (Cont’d)

At the end of reporting period, the directors of the Company, based on the
Group’s operation and expansion plan, estimated that part of the retained
earnings of the PRC subsidiaries would be retained in Mainland China for
use in future operations and investments. At 31 December 2022, deferred
tax of RMB1,544,000 (2021: Nil) has been recognised for withholding
taxes that would be payable on unremitted earnings that are subject to
withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China.
The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries in Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities have not
been recognised totalled approximately RMB214,526,000 at 31 December
2022 (31 December 2021: RMB189,905,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of
dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

24. EIEHIE (1)

RIBERR - AR RRBEREEN S E RERAT
2| - (HETR BB A KRB BRI BIRE
HENH  UARAREBRIEE - R20226F12
A31H  ERASEBEERRAMAY AR KE
A S ANFEINTH KB A B A TR R
ERERIIE AR ,544,0007T (2021 4F « &) o B
2022F12 8318 » REDELEHIBE ERERH
BAHBRARIREEHNEREZERELA
AR#214,526,0007C (2021512 A318 « AR
189,905,0007T) ©

RARAEBREN R EL EAEHRER -

25. SHARE CAPITAL AND TREASURY SHARES 25. BRAR BEFRD
2022 2021
2022F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AREFT
Authorised: EE
2,000,000,000 (2021: 5,000,000) 2,000,000,0008 (2021 % :
ordinary shares of US$0.01 5,000,0000%) BREE
gach 0.01E LA LB
US$’'000 TER 4,518 50
RMB’000 ARBTT 30,384 335
Issued and fully paid: BEITRAR
451,770,000 (2021: 5,000,000) 451,770,0008% (20214 :
ordinary shares of US$0.01 5,000,0008%) BREE
gach 0.01ETH LB
US$'000 TER 4,518 50
RMB’000 ARBTT 30,384 399




25. SHARE CAPITAL AND TREASURY SHARES (Cont’d)

A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as follows:
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25. RAREERS (])
ARARANEBEENT

Number

of shares Share Treasury

Notes in issue capital shares

iz ERTROHE TN ERZR A

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARET

At 1 January 2021 R2021%1A18 (@) 1 - -

Share subdivision R D% (b) 100 _ _

Issue of shares Bl Ul © 4,999,900 322 —
At 31 December 2021 and R2021F12A318 &

1 January 2022 2022%1A18 5,000,000 322 -
Initial public offering BRARBE (d) 75,000,000 5,047 -
Capitalisation issue B BT ) 370,000,000 24,896 -
Exercise of the over-allotment option 17{E B EC 4] 1,770,000 119 =
Shares repurchased BERH ) = - (101,121)
At 31 December 2022 12022412 A31H 451,770,000 30,384 (101,121)

Notes: BizE

(@  The Company was incorporated on 4 March 2019 with authorised share capital of @ ARAR2019F3A4BFMKYL  EERAS
US$50,000 divided into 50,000 shares with par value of US$1.00 each. Upon its 50,000% T * 5 A50,000 % SR EE1.00E A&
incorporation, one share was allotted and issued to the initial subscriber, which was fp o REFMRLE  —BREOHEEERETTN
transferred to Wellmark Link Limited on the same day. BRBA TRRAEZTFREEGRAF -

(b)  On 18 May 2021, the Company resolved to subdivide each of its existing issued b)  R2021F58188 - ARAIFREERAPFRE

and unissued shares with a par value of US$1.00 each in its share capital into 100
ordinary shares with a par value of US$0.01 each, and all the subdivided shares be
ranked pari passu in all respects with each other, such that the authorised share
capital of the Company because US$50,000 divided into 5,000,000 shares with a
par value of US$0.01 each thereafter.

On 18 May 2021, the Company allotted and issued an aggregate of 2,686,400
shares for cash of RMB174,000 to Wellmark Link Limited and WLF Investment
Holdings Limited at par value and allotted and issued an aggregate of 2,313,500
shares for cash to Rikan Industry Investment Limited Partnership, Montesy Capital
Holding Ltd., Tianyi (BVI) Limited, Jiequan Zhongwei Tengyun Limited and Hansson
Holdings Limited for a consideration of RMB184,006,000. The consideration was
credited to share capital in an amount of RMB322,000 and to share premium in an
amount of RMB183,858,000, respectively.

E10ETMERBEERITRABITRNFEAE
100REREECOIETHERR - MBEREEED
A #9725 B A850,000 % 7T E 5 £5,000,000 8 & A E
B0 ETMRY  MTERARNESFAZE
R o

R202155A188 - ARAIRABARERERD
A % WLF Investment Holdings Limitedf 3 & 3174
2,686,400 A R 13 LA ERIR © AR #5174,0007T -
I [FIRikan Industry Investment Limited Partnership *
Montesy Capital Holding Ltd ~ Tianyi (BVI) Limited * Jiequan
Zhongwei Tengyun Limited &z Hansson Holdings Limited 2
BREITAH2,313500RRAUARES  REAR
AR184,006,0007T ° %R EF ) AR K322,0007T
R AR183,858,0007T 2 2 Bt ABRA KBk (55 (B
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25. SHARE CAPITAL AND TREASURY SHARES (Cont’d)

26

Notes: (Cont’d)

(d) On 12 July 2022, 75,000,000 ordinary shares of par value US$0.01 each were
issued at a price of HK$5.36 per share in connection with the Company’s initial
public offering (“Listing Date”). The proceeds of US$750,000 (equivalent to
RMB5,047,000) representing the par value, were credited to the Company’s share
capital. The remaining proceeds of approximately US$47,466,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB319,399,000) before listing expenses were credited to the share
premium account.

(e) Pursuant to the written resolutions of the shareholders of the Company passed
on 27 April 2022 and 22 June 2022, a total of 370,000,000 shares of US$0.01
each were allotted and issued at par value to the shareholders whose names
were on the register of members of the Company as at the date of the passing of
the resolutions, on a pro rata basis, and such shares were allotted and issued by
way of capitalisation of US$3,700,000 (approximately RMB24,896,000) from the
Company’s share premium account on the Listing Date.

M On 4 August 2022, 1,770,000 over-allotment ordinary shares of par value US$0.01
each were issued at a price of HK$5.36 per share. The proceeds of US$17,700
(equivalent to approximately RMB119,000) representing the par value, were
credited to the Company’s share capital. The remaining proceeds of approximately
US$1,191,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB8,055,000) before listing expenses
were credited to the share premium account.

(9  The Company purchased 20,585,500 of its shares on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange at a total consideration of approximately HK$112,865,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB101,121,000) for a share award scheme.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the
current and prior years are presented in the consolidated statements of
changes in equity of the Group.

Share premium
The share premium represents the difference between the par value of
shares issued and the consideration received.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve of the Group represents the paid-up capital, share
premium and capital reserve of the companies comprising the Group
prior to the incorporation of the Company, the reserve arising from the
reorganisation and acquisition of non-controlling interests. Details of the
movements in the capital reserve are set out in the consolidated statements
of changes in equity.

25. gfﬁ&fﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ(%)

26.

(d)

Ul

R2022F7 128 ' ARRETEHAAREE
B(TEmBE]) ZER5.36BTHEREST
75,000,000 R TR EE0.01 E LK LB - HHE
REENFTBHRIET50,000%T (BERARE
5,047,0007T) Bt AR R BIRIIRA o 8T FT1S 08
%’\347,466,000%73(Tﬁﬁmm/\Eﬁ%NQ,SQQ,OOOE)
(R EMRX) B AR HERE -

R AR BIIRER 20224 F 27 B 2 202246 22
ARAMERAZR - £4£370,000,000 8K E
B0.01 ETMR N EIREERL HIETERBETTR
BRRZREARBIARABIBRREMMBE - M
ZERG TR LT BHRARR AR EERF
3,700,000 7T (49 AR #24,896,0007T) BREAZ
FAEERET -

R202248 A48 1,770,000 IR HE(H0.01 £ T
MBS BLERE tﬂx536z§maﬁ1 1REAT < 18
ENEENREHEITI0ET (HERHDARYE
119,0007C) BEFFAARRIRA - B TABHRELN
1,191,000 7T (FAZ R4 AR18,055,0007T) (R
B EWRY) B ARMEEE -

ARRIGR G RE) B - RBREX112,865,000%
7T (RERHARE101,121,0007T) £ E BB L FEE
[2]20,585,500 A% B 17 ©

e
AEBNRAFERBEFEORALERAL
PRARERABREDRE) -

R EE

B aEREERTROMNEEREERREZR
E8-

BXfER

AEBNE R FEEREADREMAL
Aﬂ%%i§$~h@ﬁ{&é$ﬁﬁ

$%lr

MBI R SR E A Y i o é$ﬁﬁm§%
ARENGAREEEE -



26.

27.

RESERVES (Cont’d)

Statutory surplus reserve

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC, subsidiaries of the Group
which are domestic enterprises are required to allocate 10% of their profit
after tax, as determined in accordance with the relevant PRC accounting
standards, to their statutory surplus reserve until the reserve reaches 50%
of their registered capital. Subject to certain restrictions set out in the
Company Law of the PRC, part of the statutory surplus reserve may be
converted to share capital, provided that the remaining balance after the
capitalisation is not less than 25% of the registered capital.

PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries that have material non-controlling
interests are set out below:
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26.

27.

MEHRRME (&)

31 December 2022
2022 F12 A31 B

s (8)

EERBER

REREARE  AREBREACLOHBL
AABEB BRI 10% (REAWTBEH
EREE) SRELAERBERE  EAREE
BIE AR50 AL © RiEHE DAL
WETRE - BHETERRETREBRA
fEER (MBS ER R ER2%

BEEAFZEREZNENS HAH
Bod
AEBEAEAFSRERONBADFHERT]
mr

2022 2021
20225 20214
Percentage of equity interest held FERERHE
by non-controlling interests: BEESL -
Xinkang Information DERES 6% 6%
N/A
Sinohealth Pushi BTt TEH _
Sinohealth Tong PR 20% 20%
Sinohealth Ruima PRI 40% 40%
Sinohealth Jianshu FRER 25% 25%
Sinohealth Tongrun B 20% 20%
N/A
Guangzhou Xinshun BEMUIE THER _35%
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27. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL 2. MEEXRFERESNE s BEM

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Cont’d)

BT (&)

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETR ARETTT
Profit/(loss) for the year allocated 9@5%#%%%@?%
to non-controlling interests: FREF/(E8) :
Xinkang Information DERER 14 194
N/A
Sinohealth Pushi PR TiE A (1,005)
Sinohealth Tong REB 48 262
Sinohealth Ruima RS (247) 887
Sinohealth Jianshu B (1,196) (2,687)
Sinohealth Tongrun R 394 _
Guangzhou Xinshun BN DR __(380) (2,525)
2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETF T
Accumulated balances of non-controlling IR B B IR
interests at the reporting date: ZEtiEs
Xinkang Information DEER 138 124
N/A
Sinohealth Pushi PREH FiE A _
Sinohealth Tong TEE 885 837
Sinohealth Ruima RS 640 887
Sinohealth Jianshu R E (3,883) (2,687)
Sinohealth Tongrun FEER 394 _
N/A
Guangzhou Xinshun BMLIE TER 700




237

Sinohealth Holdings Limited B2 i% & BR 2 &)
Annual Report 2022 —Z — —EEFH{E

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
MEHRRME (&)

31 December 2022
2022 F12 A31 B

27. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Cont’d)
The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information of the
above subsidiaries. The amounts disclosed are before any inter-company

21. BAEAFERESND D HAH
B2 ()
TRABLRMBL DN HERBE - FTRE
SEATMATMIHEANOLE -

eliminations:

2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETT AREFTL
Revenue LN 38,802 35,271
Other income and gains Hib A K dezs 286 111
Total expenses gt (42,706) (44,256)
Loss for the year FRER (3,618) (8,874)
Total comprehensive loss for the year ERNEEBREE (3,618) (8,874)
2022 2021
2002F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥TxR ARETTT
Current assets MBEE 28,651 19,685
Non-current assets FRBEE 5,269 6,893
Current liabilities AR (36,462) (24,584)
Non-current liabilities FRPAR (1,541) (3,091)
2022 2021
2002F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TxR ARETTT

Net cash flows from/(used in) weEBmE,/ (A
operating activities REMEFR 372 (9,503)
Net cash flows from investing activities RERDAEREREFE 2,329 781

Net cash flows (used in)/ BEED) i

from financing activities FIEREREFE (1,907) 11,531
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents ReRReSEYIEMFR 794 2,809
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28. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF
CASH FLOWS
(a) Major non-cash transaction (a)
During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities of RMB3,015,000 (2021: RMB3,406,000)
in respect of lease arrangements for office premises.

28. ERERERMEE

TEFRERS

RER  AEBRBAENENHRELH
EENFERREENFFEGANERMEESR
BEAAR30150007T (20214 : AR
3,406,0007T)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities () FMETBELNEEED
Due to a Due to a Lease
related party director liabilities

Eff—%& E—%&
B 5 ROE EsxE HESE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR%Tr AR%TxR
At 1 January 2021 R2021F1A1A 1,500 47 27,870
Addition as a result of acquisition of a subsidiary ~ BB —FKMERAIMAE - - 805
New leases HHE - - 3 406
Changes from financing cash flows HEARERES (1,500) (47) (5,524)
Reduction as a result of lease modifications RAEIEHELNEA - - (17,475)
Interest expense MBS - - 532
At 31 December 2021 R2021512A31 B - - 9,614

At 31 December 2021 and R2021 5124318 &

1 January 2022 2022%1A1H - - 9,614
New leases Mg - - 3,015
Changes from financing cash flows RERSREEH - - (5,914)
Interest expense FERE - - 42
At 31 December 2022 R202212 431 R - - 7,127




28. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF

CASH FLOWS (Cont’d)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the consolidated

statements of cash flows is as follows:
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28. AR RERME (F)

) BERSHHEE
HABABSRERNARRL R LE
0 :

2022 2021

2022 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR AREFT

Within operating activities N 66 364
Within financing activities RELEEEA 5,914 5524
5,980 5,888

29. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

Sinohealth Information disposed of Jiangxi Xinshu’s entire entity interest to
a third party at a consideration of RMB250,000, Ms. Jiang Qingping, on 13

29. HEWB LT
REEANN202259 A13HRAB AR 250,000
TEE=ZFISTHELTHETIRLIEN 2 BR

September 2022. HE o

RMB’'000
ARET T

Net assets disposed of: HEMNEEFE :
Cash and bank balances Be RFITHER 49
49
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RHBARM K 201
250
Satisfied by Cash MR E XM 250

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the

HEMRBLRRANRERREZENRAFELN

disposal of a subsidiary is as follows: mr
RMB’000
ARETFT
Cash consideration BeRE 250
Cash received from disposal of a subsidiary HERBLRKTRMES 250
Cash and bank balances disposed of HERR S RIRITEH (49)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of ﬁ%@j%@ﬂﬁgiﬁ%&
the disposal of a subsidiary ReZEBMRANFHE 201
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30. COMMITMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have any significant

commitments (31 December 2021: Nil).

31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the Group’s related parties are as follows:

Company

Relationship with the Company

Wellmark Link Limited

WLF Investment Holdings

Limited
Ms. Wu Meirong
Mr. Wu Yushu
Ms. Wang Lifang
Mr. Fu Haitao

Ms. Yi Xuhui

Mr. Tang Keke
Mr. Su Caihua
Mr. Li Junguo
Mr. Qin Jianzeng

Jiangxi Yaoshunshun
Guangzhou Zhonghui

Medical Technology

Company Limited

Shareholder
Shareholder

Shareholder

Director and key management personnel
Director and key management personnel

Non-executive director and key

management personnel
Key management personnel
Key management personnel
Key management personnel
Key management personnel

Non-controlling shareholder of a

subsidiary

An associate

An entity influenced significantly by a

director, Mr Wu Yushu

30. i

RBESR  AREY EEMEAKE (20215

128318 : &) o

3. BBERS

REBBB BN

ARA] Lzl /N 0fHES
BEARAT RER
WLF Investment L

Holdings Limited

RERLL R

REFEE EERFEEBEAR
FRALT EERTEEBAR
FEEEE FRTESRFEETEAR
SREZ T TEZEEEAE
EIE & TEZEEBAE

BAELYE TEEEAE

FEBEE TEEERAE

TRELE —XMBARMIERBRR
Al —KBE QA

BN ERE REZREFELE

R BR AR BEAYENER




31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(@)

(b)

The Group had the following transactions with related parties
during the year:
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31 December 2022
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31. BB AR5 (1)
@) FAREMERETZMENTRS

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARETT
Repayment from a director: —REEEN:
Mr. Wu Yushu* REFRE” - Ny
Advance from a related party: — R B
Mr. Qin Jianzeng* %@if‘ﬁi* - 1,500
Sales to a related party**: m—EEH L E:
Jiangxi Yaoshunshun L% )RIE 60 73
Purchases of services from a related party**: [l — & B8 77 8 B AR A% -
Guangzhou Zhonghui Medical
Technology Company Limited BMNFEBEREARA 1,180 B
Depreciation of right-of-use assets***; ~ ERBEERTE"
Ms. Wu Meirong REALL 269 _
Interest expense on lease liabilities™*:  HEBENF LR
Ms. Wu Meirong REBLL 35

The advances from Mr. Wu Yushu and Mr. Qin Jianzeng were unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand. The balances with the related party
and the director were settled as at 31 December 2021.

The sales to the related party were made according to the prices and terms
mutually agreed between the parties.

The purchases from the related party were made according to the prices and
terms mutually agreed between the parties.

The depreciation of right-of-use assets and interest expense on lease
liabilities related to the leases of the offices from related party pursuant
to the terms of the agreements signed between the Group and the related
party. The Group’s lease liabilities due to the related parties are included in
note 14(b) to the financial statements.

Other transactions with related parties:

Sinohealth Information acquired 30% equity interests in Guangzhou
Sinohealth Pushi Technology Development Company Limited in March
2021 from Mr. Qin Jianzeng at a consideration of RMB1,500,000.

Sinohealth Information acquired the entire equity interests
in Guangzhou Jiasi from Mr. Wu Yushu at a consideration of
RMB1,000,000 on 29 April 2021.

REREFEERZRELENDRAER
B Tt B RIREREE - BREH S KX
EENAEHTN021F12831BES -

A—AEB T HEDIREET KRBENE
R GRS -

MK SNBELREET KRBENER
R -

FRREAENELAERAENTEHI A
mﬁﬁiﬁlﬁﬁif«ﬂﬂmma’ﬁ AN
A HENAE Aiﬁlr‘éﬁmiﬁmﬁé
BEGATBRRMTE14()

() HBEBEINHMRS:
R2021F3 7 - FREMAREELEWR
BEMNTELHRBRERARDA0%R
- REAARE1500,0007T °

R2021E4 7298 + FREMAREF T
WEENEZENZTRE  KEAARE
1,000,0007T
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31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(c) The Group had the following outstanding balances with related

31. BB G R % ()

€ FEEEBBAIBUATREESR:

parties:
2022 2021
2022F 20215
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARETTT
Due from Jiangxi Yaoshunshun FEMOT P B 2

Medicine Company Limited* BRARFE - 73

Due to Guangzhou Zhonghui Medical FELT M EP%%%TW&
Technology Company Limited * BRARMFIE 35 _

*

The above amounts due from/to the related party were trade in nature,
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(d) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:

Ll /B TEBE S MY &
HR - RS RIREREE -

) FEEFEEBAESNETH

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARETR ARETTT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥ & * ZE R EWEN 4,221 4,065

Performance related bonuses FRRHBIEA 706 311

Pension scheme contributions RIREEEIER 42 53
Total compensation paid to key EE‘I?&?@/\EE’\J

management personnel ez 4,969 4.429
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 32. RERZISNERMTIA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as RFERR  SELRITANEEENT :
at the end of reporting period are as follows:
31 December 2022 2022128 31H
Financial assets PREE
Financial Financial
assets at fair assets at
value through amortised
profit or loss cost Total
BAFEFA BEHRE .
BRENEREE JIRNEREE #@st
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETR ARETR ARETR
Trade and notes receivables BHRBFIEREREE - 91,993 91,993
Financial assets included in prepayments, ‘EH\EN%KIE - EfE
other receivables and other assets Y8 R Y
cREE - 12,772 12,772
Financial assets at fair value ?ﬁgfﬂgﬁ/\ﬁéﬁ’q
through profit or loss cREE 2,098 - 2,098
Time deposits EHER - 256,246 256,246
Cash and cash equivalents e kRS SEY - 409,318 409,318
2,098 770,329 772,427

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

R AT ERAY

tRIBME

RMB’000

AR®TR

Trade payables B HEMNFIR 14,665
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals T AEMENFEREABROSRER 3,030
Due to a related party &~ — % BB 7 3UR 355
Lease liabilities MEEE 7,127
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (Cont’d) 32. BERIESHEMIA (8)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as RIERR  SESBITANKEENT : (&)

at the end of reporting period are as follows: (Cont'd)

31 December 2021 202112 A31H
Financial assets SREE
Financial Financial
assets at fair assets at
value through amortised
profit or loss cost Total
BRPEA TE R A ‘
BanepiE JENEREE Ry
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
AREFT ARBTT AREFT
Trade and notes receivables EHRBFIAERERRE = 81,866 81,866
Financial assets included in prepayments, & ATEIFUE » KA IR
other receivables and other assets REMEENEREE S 1,831 1,831
Financial assets at fair value through BV ER ABR
profit or loss SREE 373,389 - 373,389
Due from a related party FE L — % B 7y SR - 73 73
Cash and cash equivalents ReREeEFEY = 33,955 33,955
373,389 117,725 491,114
Financial liabilities SHEE
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
35 S DNl )
SRBE
RMB’000
ARBFT
Trade payables B HRMNTIE 16,859
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals st ARMERFELEH ERNERAE 6,200
Lease liabilities MERRE 9,614

32,673




33. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, trade and notes receivables, trade payables, financial assets
included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets, financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals, the current portion of
lease liabilities and amounts due from/to a related party approximate to
their carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at
the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation
sale.

The fair values of the non-current portion of lease liabilities has been
calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates
currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and
remaining maturities. The changes in fair value as a result of the Group’s
own non-performance risk for lease liabilities as at the end of each of the
reporting period were assessed to be insignificant.

The Group invests in unlisted investments, which represent certain financial
products issued by commercial banks in Mainland China. The Group has
estimated the fair value of these unlisted investments by using a discounted
cash flow valuation model based on the market interest rates of instruments
with similar terms and risks.
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33. EMIARFERDAFEER

BEEENE  REXRESEY  BEHEUER
BRENER - BHRNFA - st ABRNFR
HiRUGAREMEENSREE st ARM
ERFEREFBRANSRAR HEARR
BOREYR,/ - BB A A TFEEL
FREERE  DEIRARNZETANNABREM
o

ERMEERABNATENBRR 57 GRER
BERHERIN BRRFPZIAZARGER
N

BEREHIDESNAT HEREBEEEY
3 ERARRS TR TARBAALE
R EERRRLREHE - REBENR
AEEASHEEAEOTROARELHAT
ERBEHEATEA -

ARERENFLTRE  ZFERERETEAL
AERRTROTVETERER - AEEREAS
BOUET KRR TANTISNE - ERIRE
EREBERREHZSFLTRENATE
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33. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 33. 2R IEBEQAFERAFHEELE(E)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the
Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:
As at 31 December 2022

AVEER
TRITAEECRTANRTEFEER

BRAFEGTENEE -
2022512831 H

Fair value measurement using
ERUTAANATEHNE

Quoted prices

Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
WEBMS EATHER EAXAFTEE
HEE BAE BARE
(1) (828) (%38) #st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARBTRT AR®TR AR¥TR AR%Tx
Financial assets at fair value BATEH AB@M
through profit or loss TREE - 2,098 - 2,098
As at 31 December 2021 202112 A31 8
Fair value measurement using
FRUNTARMAEETE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
REETS  EAUER EATIEE
F3RE EPN 6 AR
(140 (FB2fR) (%B38]) waEt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARBTRT AR%TR
Financial assets at fair value BV ER ABR
through profit or loss TREE = 373,389 - 373,389

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair value as at
31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: Nil).

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 for both
financial assets and financial liabilities.

R2022F12 A31 B » AEE W EETAIR A FELT
ENLRABE (20215128318 : &) -

RER ReBEEREREREMS @ S14HE
FoREVERNTEFEED  NEEARE
HEIMR -



34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss and cash and cash equivalents. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group'’s
operations. The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities
such as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are foreign
currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews
and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk of loss resulting from changes in foreign
currency exchange rates. Fluctuations in exchange rates between the RMB
and other currencies in which the Group conducts business may affect
the Group’s financial condition and results of operations. The Group seeks
to limit its exposure to foreign currency risk by minimising its net foreign
currency position.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the reporting
period to a reasonably possible change in the foreign currency exchange
rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Group's profit before tax
(arising from foreign currency denominated financial instruments).
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34. BIBEMEE B EREE

AKENEIRSRTABRERFEFAREN
SREERRESIRSEEY - ZFERTAN
IRANARAREEEERES - ARERES
ETEMERMEERGE PIWEASERRES
WEFRYFARE SRMNTE

ASESRIAEANTIRARAIMNERR - 5
ERBERDECRR EFSEHLHBTERE
ZERERBOEE - ZFRREEWT -

SMER R

HME LR 2 RIMNEE R 28 5| BB BRI ER &
SEREXBGAMERANARBLAMEEMES
LEERKENPBRRREERE - AEEE
EREFNEBTHERE  BRREFIMNER

g o

¥

TRETREE AREMBEEERFTEN
ERT - REERERBAEHN (EANEEHER
SRTAMY) HINBEXQETLEHNGT
o

Increase/
Change (decrease)
in rate of in profit
foreign currency before tax
BRBLADE R
SEEZRSH #gm,/ (HD)
% RMB’000
% N
31 December 2022 202212310
If the RMB weakens against the US$ MARERETRE 5 11,773
If the RMB strengthens against the US$ ~ ARBHETHE 5 (11,773)
If the RMB weakens against the HK$ MARBHBTRE 5 156
If the RMB strengthens against the HK$ ~ WARBHBTLHE 5 (156)
31 December 2021 2021%12 8318
If the RMB weakens against the US$ HARBHETRE 5 270
If the RMB strengthens against the US$ ~ WARBH XA 5 (270)
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is
the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are
subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances

are monitored on an ongoing basis.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging
The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum exposure to
credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based on
past due information unless other information is available without undue
cost or effort, and year-end staging classification at 31 December. The
amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

34. MERER B RREK ()

ERER
AEEERERTREERFNES TR
5 - AEBOBEAFARREERRETRS
N AEEEETEREERR - 15 - BUHK
B R AR -

REEBERFREER
TREBREAKECEHR (FRENAHE
- BRFEBANETNBENRALE N TG

JEMFERERIR - MEFINERREMEE
HAERRmE(E -

As at 31 December 2022 R2022512A31H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A 7858 2 HEE
FEER FEES
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3  approach Total
£l E-BR 0 E=RBR A% @t
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000
ARBTRT ARETR ARETR AR®TR AR¥Tx
Trade receivables* B R - - - 92,028 92,028
Notes receivable** FEMER 6,287 - - - 6,287
Financial assets included in FTATERFIE
prepayments, other receivables A fEMFIAL
and other assets EnEENSREE
— Normal** —IE&™ 12,447 - - - 12,447
— Doubtful* — AR - - 325 - 325
Time deposits EHER
— Not yet past due — HABH 256,246 - - - 256,246
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY
— Not yet past due — HABH 409,318 - - - 409,318
684,298 - 325 92,028 776,651




34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Cont’d)
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34. BIBEMER B ERBE (8)

Credit risk (Cont’d) ﬁﬁﬂl‘ﬁ (#)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Cont’d) REERRELER (E)
As at 31 December 2021 5@2021 #£128318
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 AT 2 47
EEER EEEE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
—FEER —[EE =& S P MEt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
AREFT ARETRT ARETT ARBTT AREFL
Trade receivables* B 5 UG IR - - - 78,712 78,712
Notes receivable** L ES 7,695 = = = 7,695
Financial assets included in BUNEERE
prepayments, other receivables Hit s f;ﬁ
and other assets H\tﬂﬁéﬁ"]ﬁﬁﬂﬁé
— Normal** J—_E'“"** 1 ,831 o e - 1 ,831
— Doubtful* — Al = = 325 = 325
Due from a related party i M — % BB 7 BUR 73 _ _ _ 73
Cash and cash equivalents Re kAo EEY
— Not yet past due — HAEH 33,955 - - S 33,955
43,554 — 325 78,712 122,591

For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach for
impairment, further information is disclosed in note 18 to the financial statement.

= The credit quality of notes receivable and the financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets are considered to be “normal”
when they are not past due and there is no information indicating that the financial
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise,
the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties, there is no requirement for collateral. There are no significant
concentrations of credit risk.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk
arising from trade receivables and other receivables are disclosed in notes
18 and 19 to the financial statements, respectively.

RREAREGAERAGLENE S ERHA
& E—FERRMBRERMES

BUWZE R ABAHA - Kt EEHARAME
ENSRAECREREZSSREAEL AGH
AYEENBRERAENEERR QSRR
RARENBHERAIER] - B SREENE
BERBRAIA5R]

ARAREERERTREERFNE =TT
X5 HHEARLERL - FERRTIFHEE
AETHER °

ABRREEFERE 5 RN T0E & iR
EENEERRNE - T ESEED NI HH
RUTFF18 19K E -
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 34. BIEREEBERBE (8)
POLICIES (Cont’d)
Liquidity risk REBEERE
The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents AEEBERREEAEEEEER AR ENES
deemed adequate by the management of the Group to finance the RREEEMKTE  UAZEREE S REER
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. SRENDNER o
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of RBEEKR  REASORUEBRNT  AEES R
reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted payments, is as BEMNIHERDT
follows:
31 December 2022
2022%12A31H
On Less than 3to12 1103 Over
demand 3 months  months years 3 years Total
REX PRIER 3E12188 123 3§Ht st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTR ARBTR ARE T AR®TR ARBTR
Trade payables BHREMNFIA 2831 11,834 - _ — 14665
Lease liabilities MERE - 1,522 1,984 3,997 - 7,503
Due to a related party JE— % R 5 5R1E 355 - _ _ _ 355
Financial liabilities included in ST AR MEBHEFEAL
other payables and accruals EtERNTMAR 3,030 - - - - 3,030
6,216 13,356 1,984 3,997 - 25,553
31 December 2021
2021412 A31H
On Less than 3t012 1t03 Over
demand 3 months months years 3 years Total
BER PRIEA 3Z=12MEA 183F  3ENLE @t
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTT ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARBTT ARETT
Trade payables B RNTR 437 16,422 = = - 16,859
Lease liabilities HEBE - 1,256 3,575 3,845 1,416 10,092

Financial liabilities included in &t AZMERFRR
other payables and accruals B ERNERALS 6,200 - - = = 6,200

6,637 17,678 3,575 3,845 1,416 33,151




34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Cont’d)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholders’
value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in
light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of
the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to any
externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is calculated by
dividing total liabilities by total equity, was 14.9% as at 31 December 2022
(31 December 2021: approximately 24.3%). The gearing ratios as at the
end of reporting period were as follows:

Sinohealth Holdings Limited B2 i% & BR 2 &)
Annual Report 2022 —Z — —EEFH{E

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

MEHRRME (&)

31 December 2022
2022 F12 A31 B

34. IEREEEERBER (F)

BXER
AEEEAERNIERRARBASEREL
ERENLABRBOEALE - UXHARH
KRR EE -

AEERBCEEHNE L RBBEE BB
HEBHEEARETHEETAE « Bl
BEAREE AEETHERESN FREMBK
B REBE TREXBITHRNG - XAEEAR
RSN ANE A AT KR T o FRE E2022F
R201F12ANBLEFE  EREANEE - K
RoRFHETMEL -

AEBNEABBLRERER  BERGELE
DB e ERABERTESBEL - 120225128
1B A14.9% (2021512 A318 : 4924.3%) « B
WEHR  BARBLERNT

2022 2021
2022 20214F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETR ARETFTT

Total liability AL 103,237 101,112
Total equity AR 25 693,236 415,911
Gearing ratio BEARAFELER 14.9% 24.3%
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35. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

No significant events that require additional disclosure or adjustments

36.

occurred after the reporting period.

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY

Information about the statements of financial position of the company at the

end of the reporting period is as follows:

35. MEHERER

REEHE - REZERIEHEINEELARN

EAFE -
36. A EEMBHEAMIRF

ARARARRERROMBEHRRNEH

T

2022 2021
2022F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AREFT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—RIBRAIRNZE - _
Total non-current assets ERBEELE — _
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Prepayments, other receivables BRE0R - B RNEUR
and other assets REMEE 2,812 _
Due from subsidiaries 3 NG 203,701 176,559
Cash and cash equivalents ReMReZSEY 62,443 5,048
Time deposits THER 175,474 _
Total current assets mBEERE 444,430 181,607
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Other payables and accruals Hth FE T FRIE R BT RIR 89) _
Due to a subsidiary BN —K B R RIFIA (9,077) _
Total current liabilities MEBEBHE 9,166 _
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 435,264 181,607
TOTAL ASSETS LESS HEREARBAR
CURRENT LIABILITIES 435,264 -
Net assets BEEFE 435,264 181,607
EQUITY g
Share capital B 30,384 399
Treasury shares EFRR (101,121) _
Reserves (note) R (BIsE) 506,001 181,285
Total equity BER 435,264 181,607
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36. STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 36. A DTN F ()
COMPANY (Cont'd) \\
Note: B ek -
A summary of the company reserves is as follows: AARRBENHZNT
Share premium Retained earnings Total
B aE RERF wit
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR AR¥TR AR¥FR
At 1 January 2021 #2021F1 B1H - - -
Total comprehensive income for the year FRZEUALE - (2,573) 2,573
Issue of shares BITRRHD 183,858 - 183,858
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 12021F12 B31 B 20221 A1H 183,858 (2,573) 181,285
Total comprehensive income for the year FREAEMALEE - 31,235 31,235
Issue of shares from initial public offering AERAHBEEMETRR 319,399 - 319,399
Capitalisation issue BT (24,896) - (24,896)
Exercise of the over-allotment option IR R A 8,055 - 8,055
Share issue expense BHBITHE (9,077) - 9,077)
At 31 December 2022 72022812 318 477,339 28,662 506,001
37. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 37. MBHRORE
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the BIISRERER2023F3B20HHEFTSAEREK

hoard of directors on 29 March 2023. BET|E o
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Definitions
B

“ap”
[AIE#e]

“Al-MDT”
[A-MDT]

“Ali Health”

[P 22 2 5

“aPaaS’

[aPaaS ]

“Audit Committee”

[&EZZEg]

“Board”
[E5g]

“CG Code”
[EER<FA

“China” or “PRC”

(B

“China Digital Marketing

Landscape (Version2022)”

[ I%@Mﬁ%
A BE B 2022 % |

“CHIS”

(73]

artificial intelligence
ALE&E

artificial intelligence multi-disciplinary treatment
AIBHZERGE

Alibaba Health Information Technology Limited, a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, which is engaged in, among others, pharmaceutical e-commerce and new retail,
Internet medical and consumer medical business, which is one of the companies invested
and controlled by Alibaba Group

Wi@%ﬁﬂ&ﬁﬁ@ T EHEEERHEN  EBEAEHEARTE
EMREER  EER %#iﬁ M EEEREREZERNARZ—

application platform as a service,a category of cloud service that offers development and
deployment environments for application services

ERTIRE 2 RRERRGRAME LBFRANERS

the audit committee of the Board

EXQBTENZEY

the board of Directors

s

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
LR RB ST P e B R <F A

the People’s Republic of China, but for the purpose of this annual report only and except
where the context requires otherwise, references in this annual report to “China” or “PRC”
do not include Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative Region and Taiwan

hE ARLME 1@%$¢Wﬁ§&%%EY%%%'ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂ?ﬁ%ﬁ$
BEEE  RPIBITRERSE

An important industry standard award in the digital marketing industry jointly granted
by the Digital Marketing Professional Committee of the China Advertising Association of
Commerce, Tiger Roar Award Committee and Miaozhen Academy of Marketing Science

HTEREESHERTEHEXZE S  REREZTS RV HEHMNER
AR BT B T S BT TR

one of the SaaS products in our Smart Decision Cloud business segment, which is an
intelligent intelligence system for the healthcare industry that provides customers with
functions such as industry consulting enquiries, retail data enquiries and drug databases

BMAEBARREXHRABET —HKSeaSEm - ERFFRFETXANER  TERIEE
ﬁ‘ﬁﬁﬁﬂ%%%%%@@@%%%%ﬁ%ﬁ



“CPEQ”

[mEe)

“CMH”
[CMHJ

“CMH Cooperation
Agreement(s)”

[CMHE tE i3 |

“Companies Ordinance”
G

“Company”

(AR

“‘CovIp-19”

[COVD-19]

“Director(s)”

E=3

“General Practice Nursing”

[2FEE |

“Global Offering”
[2IREE ]
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Pharmaceutical Enterprises Co-operation and Development Organisation, our event held for
healthcare industry players

EXASAE  AMARREX2EERBNED

the cooperation under the CMH Cooperation Agreements
CMHA R # TR A 1E

the agreements with retall pharmacies in the PRC in respect of data cooperation
arrangements. Under the agreements, retall pharmacies provide, on a monthly basis retail
data, while the Group provides data insights and reports to the retail pharmacies in return

REBARELHETRTELETUNGE - REZXSHE  TELEFARKTER
& MAREARTELEERUBBARLERS

the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
BB EGIE622F N EED

Sinohealth Holdings Limited, an exempted company with limited liability incorporated in the
Cayman Islands on 4 March 2019 and registered as a non-Hong Kong company under Part
16 of the Companies Ordinance on 7 July 2021

HREERERAT  —RR2019F3A4RERSHEAMRUNEREER AR WiRE
NAMERIE 168720217 A7 B M AFEE B A A

the coronavirus disease 2019, a disease caused by a novel coronavirus designated as
severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2, and including its mutations and variants
discovered from time to time

NIOTHBRER © —EHRARERIPRAGEAEERFS2LOFLTRFE R
WRR - LOETHEROERRERRE

the director(s) of the Company
AREES

an academic journal of general practice nursing which was formally approved to start
publication on 14 August 2008 and sponsored by the First Hospital of Shanxi Medical
University and Shanxi Provincial Nursing Association, which was the first academic journal
of general practice nursing publicly issued at home and abroad

20088 H14RIERBERIT) - AILFAERIABE —E - LAEEEES
T o REBFE—ABRINAFREITHZRIEE 2T H T

the Hong Kong public offering and international offering of the Shares
BRONBEBEAREEREREE
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“Group” or “we”

[RKE ] 3AM)

“Healthcare Industry
Ecological Platform”

[EREXLETFE]

“High and New
Technology Enterprise”

[SHiMRE]

“HK$”
[
“HKFRS”

[ BB mEER

“Hong Kong”
(&%)

“1S0”
[so

“Linghe”

“Lingtong”

[

the Company and its subsidiaries
AREREMBAA

our platform for the events established for healthcare industry players, including CPEO,
PHCF, MASC and other small-scale events we organize throughout the year

AARRREXS2EERUNED TR BRALE ARE XTeREMANZFAR
HEM ) RIEES

high and new technology enterprise recognised by the Ministry of Science of Guangdong
Province, the Ministry of Finance and the State Administration of Taxation in accordance
with the Administrative Measures for the Determination of High and New Tech Enterprises

Ei%%ﬂﬁ%‘Mﬁ%&ﬂ%ﬁ%%@%(%%&ﬁﬁ% AEERIE) BE B IEM
~o

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
ERETERET

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants

BRGHM NG RMNOE BN BIREER

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
FEEBREATEE

International Organisation for Standardisation

B RECAS

one of the SaaS products in our Smart Decision Cloud business segment, which is an
intelligent and efficient marketing decision-making system focusing on the marketing
decision-making scenarios of the corporate strategy department, marketing department
and sales department

AMEZRAREZBRALT —5CaaSER - RERERBEE - M5H - HEDLHR
REROER  RUEHREAR

one of the products in our Smart Decision Cloud business segment, which is a digital
marketing empowerment system that helps customers efficiently formulate deployment
strategies, improve deployment efficiency, track marketing effects in real time and collect
feed-back on decision-making

EAESRREXHRIRE T — %Eﬁ'%%%Xﬁﬁﬁﬂi&mﬁﬁ‘ﬁﬂ&mﬂﬁ‘
I RME S MR - RBARRNBAE HRERR



“LinkedSee”

[ )

“Listing Date”

[ B

“Listing Rules”
[ Em#RAl]

“MASC’
E358

“MedTech World Summit 2022”

[2022 B8 /F Rl R g

“Model Code”

Eet=sll

“non-standard market”

[R5 )

“PasS layer”

[PasSfE |

“partnering pharmacies”

£ ]
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one of the SaaS products in our Smart Decision Cloud business segment, which is a
consumer insight system that provides customers with functions such as industry insight
analysis, category analysis, brand analysis and collection of data report

ﬁfﬁ*”%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ*%i‘%#&ﬁﬁﬁlﬂ—%SaaSEuu ' Eﬁgﬁ%ﬁ?i%ilﬂ,ﬂ?’ﬂﬁ - B M
BAMMEBBERRRESDRENEEERRZSR

12 July 2022, on which the Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange and from which
dealings in the Shares were permitted to commence on the Stock Exchange

2022F7A128 - BRI ER A EH RO EEBZBERGERIAEEN A

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
RS EmRA

Marketing and Sales Conference, our event held for healthcare industry players

TEHERS  IMAREEXZ2EERRNED

an international academic and product event hosted by VB100 of VBDATA.CN, Eggshell
Research Institute and the Management Committee of Suzhou High-tech Zone

MEBIARAVBI00 - EFRMTEL - HMEHEEZ ST ROBEREMMNERES

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules

EHRAIMETAELHETAESETESRBNRETE

the terminal market for pharmaceuticals and comprehensive health products with retail
pharmacies (including pharmaceutical e-commerce) and private medical institutions as the
main players, which are not subject to government bidding and procurement restrictions
and not dependent on the payment methods supported by national medical insurance

TEBRAGRBRHIEMBERBRINA TN WTERE (ZBEER) NREBR
BEST RN ER M ARERRERTS

carrying out secondary development on the PaaS framework, realising the standardisation,
software as service, modularisation and servicing of professional analysis capabilities
and knowledge graphs in the massive healthcare industry through big data management,
algorithm models, artificial intelligence and application development, as well as providing
process engines and general services such as authorisation setting

FPaaSIRIE LT —RFH - BBAMEERE - REXEL - A\TES EARRERXA
REEXZEXS *ﬁ ENMABEENREL - AL - BRECAMRBIE - ARRHRRES
% BERREFERRS

retail pharmacies with whom we enter into CMH Cooperation Agreements or SIC Services
Agreements

REEEZFT7 OMHA (R SICR T T E 25
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B

“Pharmacy Connect”

[Be/ER)

“PHCF”

[fARe]

“Prospectus”

[l ER]

“real-world study”

[EBtRHA%]

“Reporting Period”
[

“RMB”
[ARH]

“SaaS’

[SaaS ]

“Share Award Scheme”

[ R tn 82 Ehst &) )

“Share Option Scheme”
[ ARt 2l

“Shareholder(s)”
[ ]

“Share(s)”
[R5 ]

one of the SaaS products in our Smart Decision Cloud business segment, which is a retail
terminal insight system providing analysis based on multi-dimensional data of pharmacies

%ﬁ;:&%i%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ¢ RSaaSER - RRHEEAREELHEHBEITNTERE
NGk

Pharma & Healthcare Conference and Fair, our event held for healthcare industry players

BARRHAE  BMAREEXZRESRNEDY

The prospectus of the Company dated 28 June 2022 in connection with the Global Offering
ARFBER02F6 A28ABARREENBRER

collecting patient-related data in a real-world environment, and through analysis, obtaining
clinical evidence of the use value and potential benefits or risks of medical products. The
main type of research is observational research, which can also be clinical trials

Eﬁa@?%%TwmA%%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁ B BREBRERNERAEENRELE
sFERNORREES TERTRLR %ﬁ%ﬁﬁ‘mﬂum%Fﬁ%

the year ended 31 December 2022
HE20RFNANAILEE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of China

REETERARK

software as a service, a cloud-based software licensing and delivery model in which
software and associated data are centrally hosted

BHERY - —REREARERINEA  BHRABMEIEEPEREF

the share award scheme adopted by the Company on 5 December 2022
AR EIR2022612 A5 B ERAEI R 17 2R 51 2

the share option scheme adopted by the Company on 27 April 2022
ARRIR20226F4 527 BIR B2

holder(s) of the Share(s)
BHEHEA

ordinary share(s) of nominal value of US$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company
ARERAFEREENIETHE AR



“g|C”

[sicl

“SIC Services Agreement(s)”

[ SICARH tHhis

“Sinohealth-Al open platform”

[ Sinohealth-AlBI R & |

“Sinohealth Information”

[ERER

“standard market”

[MEATS ]

“Stock Exchange”
[ B 22 P |

“tertiary hospitals”

[ =& |
“Think Cloud”
’— %\%J
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one of the SaaS products in our Smart Retail Cloud business segment for chain
pharmacies, empowering chain pharmacy customers, pharmacy staff, categories and store
operations through intelligent systems, professional operations and insights into the entire
industry chain and market

AAEETETEBMA—NSaaSEm > MREHEE - BBTERN  EXEL  2E
¥BIHERAR > REHEERET B8 B PIEEEERE

the agreement(s) with the Group’s SIC user(s) governing (i) the provision of SIC, and (i)
data cooperation arrangement

BARE (AN RBERALSIC, K (i) BB A 1 B M AR B AOSICH P RT ALK Hhide

a platform for medical information automation and intelligent processing independently
developed by the Group

BAAEEEITRBEHAREREEABL - BRICEENTE

Guangzhou Sinohealth Information Co., Ltd (BN & LA 1D B R 7)), a joint stock
company with limited liability established in the PRC on 20 December 2007 and deemed to
be a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements

BMPREARNDERAA - —KR2007F12 208 EFBEKIORHERAE - RIEA
BB EAARENZERBRA

all the medical supplies markets available for targeted hospitals and all levels of public
medical institutions focusing on outpatient and inpatient services, which are subject to
government bidding and procurement restrictions

B BERBERINAPZAERREAZONEEERRERALEEREBHRETHA
HNEERmTS

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERBMARHMARNE

tertiary-grade A class hospitals, which belong to the highest level in the classification of
hospitals pursuant to the classification of medical institutions in accordance with China’s
existing Hospital Classification Management Measures and other regulations

2R _MFEE  RERERIT(ERDMEEIE) FHHRTES DA EE
HWERR > RERERIDFHHZSHRA

one of the SaaS products in our Smart Decision Cloud business segment, which focuses
on the system for decision-making in channel management, sales forecast and other
scenarios

%%§§£ﬁ*¥%Wﬁ$ MSaaSEm  FINEEERE HERUFHRERRKE



260

Sinohealth Holdings Limited QJF??HQEBE/RT
Annual Report 2022 =% =~ —F FF i

Definitions
B

“Top List of the Most
Promising Artificial
Intelligence Enterprises
in Guangzhou”

(Tmﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ
TEREREE]

“Us$”
E

“Viatris”

[EEEy

“VIE Shareholders”

(AN B EAR

“Yilingtong”

[ESE]

“Zhongkang Technology”

[ B

oy
(%)

the top list of the most promising artificial intelligence enterprises in Guangzhou under
the guidance of Guangzhou Science and Technology Bureau and selected by Guangzhou
Technology Financial Group

ERMNTRELMBREERaEN MR eRRETENRNFARRENATERERE
B

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States of America

XBAEERET

Viatris Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd., a pharmaceutical, medical and healthcare multinational
listed company operating in Shanghai and other cities in China, which is engaged in the
investment and operation of pharmaceutical, biological and other related projects, and
the research and development of innovative pharmaceutical products and related high
technology

W B B8 @ﬁ@ﬂj —RELBEFRZEANTHEESHRNERE T@K
Flﬁm HEBE . FYNEMEEERNRERES « B EE
m e Bjifhﬁﬁ?%

Mr. Wu Yushu and Ms. Wang Lifang, being the registered shareholders of Sinohealth
Information

REFEEREFFLL - IPREANETLKRR

one of the SaaS products in our Smart Retail Cloud business segment, which focuses on
real-time remote monitoring of data such as inventory, supply and distribution of goods
ﬁﬁ%??%ii%ﬁﬁ*ﬁ%ﬁ@&*iﬁﬁwﬁLﬁ%ﬂ%&@ﬁ\ﬁ%ﬁ BEY
BE RS

Guangzhou Zhongkang Digital Technology Co Ltd (BN EHFRIFARAT), a
limited liability company established in the PRC on 8 April 2019, which is directly held as
to 100% by Sinohealth Technology Limited (9P FEfZFEEHE AR /A 7)) and an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group

%M¢%%?ﬂ&ﬁ@ﬁﬂ'—%WNWEM%EE¢IW4WEEQE'E*E@Eﬂ
REBRLRIEERFA100%ES - AAEENRREEMER

per cent
BA
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